

SCUOLA NORMALE SUPERIORE

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Ph.D. thesis in Mathematics

Author

Roberto Pagaria

Supervisor

Prof. Filippo Callegaro

October 21, 2019

A tutti i morti nel Mediterraneo. To all the dead in the Mediterranean.

Contents

Contents 3					
In	trodu	iction 5			
	Mair	1 results			
	Over	view			
1	Arit	hmetic Matroids 11			
	1.1	Definitions			
	1.2	Basic constructions			
	1.3	GP-functions			
	1.4	Uniqueness of the orientation			
	1.5	The strong GCD property			
	1.6	Existence of a representation			
	1.7	Uniqueness of representations			
	1.8	Reduction of quasi-arithmetic matroids			
	1.9	Classification of representations			
2	Coh	omology 39			
	2.1	Introduction			
	2.2	Basic definitions and notations			
	2.3	The Leray spectral sequence			
	2.4	Graded cohomology with integer coefficients			
	2.5	Graded cohomology with rational coefficients			
	2.6	Some formal identities			
	2.7	Coverings of arrangements			
	2.8	Separation			
	2.9	Rational cohomology			
	2.10	Integral cohomology			
	2.11	Cohomology generated in degree one			
3	Poset, Topology and Combinatorics 8				
	3.1	Introduction			
	3.2	Modular matroids and their posets			
	3.3	Discriminantal toric arrangements			

	3.4	A first example	96			
	3.5	A second example	101			
4	Coh	Cohomology of Configurations Spaces 19				
	4.1	Introduction	107			
	4.2	Representation theory on the Križ model	110			
	4.3	Genus one: ordered configurations	116			
	4.4	Genus one: unordered configurations	124			
	4.5	Models for $H(\mathcal{C}_n(X))$	132			
	4.6	Some facts of representation theory	137			
	4.7	The cohomology of configuration spaces $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	140			
Bibliography						
A	Acknowledgements					

Introduction

This Ph.D. thesis presents my results obtained in the last three years. These results have appeared in the following preprints and articles: [Pag19b, Pag19d, CDD⁺18, Pag18a, Pag18c, Pag19c, Pag18b, Pag19a, PP19b]. Initially, I investigated toric arrangements, a type of arrangements inspired by the hyperplane ones. Toric arrangements have been studied intensively in the last fifteen years both from topological and from combinatorial point of view. My results describe the cohomology ring of toric arrangements and their dependency from the combinatorial data. Later I have worked on another type of arrangements, i.e. elliptic arrangements, which are tougher than the toric case. I focused on the most regular case, i.e. the braid arrangements, that coincides with the configuration spaces of points in an elliptic curve. I have obtained some results on the unordered configuration space of points in an elliptic curve, and I have generalized some of them to configurations on closed orientable surfaces. Only very recently I have made some conjectures about the cohomology of braid elliptic arrangements.

Main results

An arithmetic matroid is a generalization of a matroid encoding a multiplicity function. It is used to encode the combinatorics of toric arrangements, but the theory is different from the classic setting. One main difference is the lack of a criptomorphism between arithmetic matroids and posets of layers, as shown by Theorem C. Another difference involves the representability problem: in the classical case is very hard to determine if a matroid is representable. While, in the arithmetic setting we have the following theorem.

Theorem A. A surjective, torsion-free arithmetic matroid is representable if and only if it is strong GCD and orientable. In this case there exists a unique representation.

Moreover, a torsion-free arithmetic matroid has a finite number of representations, explicitly classified.

Theorem A is proven by developing a theory of "orientable arithmetic matroids" that combines arithmetic matroids with orientable matroids. The proof involves both combinatorics and linear algebra, such as the Smith normal form.

In a joint work with Filippo Callegaro, Michele D'Adderio, Emanuele Delucchi and Luca Migliorini, we provide a description of the cohomology algebra of the complement of a toric arrangement. Our presentation is given by generators and relations, following the analogous Orlik-Solomon presentation for hyperplane arrangements.

Theorem B. The rational cohomology algebra of a toric arrangement \mathcal{A} is the algebra generated by $e_{W,A;B}$ for $W \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ with relations:

$$\begin{split} e_{W,A;B} e_{W',A';B'} &= \pm \sum_{L \in \pi_0(W \cap W')} e_{L,A \cup A';B \cup B'}, \\ \sum_{i \in E} n_i e_{T,\emptyset;\{i\}} &= 0, \\ \sum_{\substack{A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} = C \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ W \supset L}} (-1)^{|A \leq j|} c_B \frac{m(A)}{m(A \cup B)} e_{W,A;B} = 0. \end{split}$$

An analogous but more complicate presentation holds for the cohomology ring with integer coefficients.

As a consequence of Theorem A, the rational cohomology of the complement algebra depends only on the poset of connected components of the tori in the arrangement (poset of layers).

We prove Theorem B by refining a previous theorem of De Concini and Procesi, based on the computation of the algebraic De Rham complex. We manipulate some polynomial identities and we study special coverings of toric arrangement; this two facts lead to the proof of Theorem B. Weaker results have been obtained studying the Leray spectral sequence for the inclusion of the complement in the ambient torus.

Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' be the two toric arrangements described by the following integer matrices:

$$N = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 3 \\ 0 & 5 & 0 & 5 \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & 5 \end{pmatrix}, \quad N' = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 & 1 & 6 \\ 0 & 5 & 0 & 5 \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & 5 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Theorem C shows that the rational cohomology ring is not determined by the arithmetic matroid and by the matroid over \mathbb{Z} , two structures encoding the combinatorics of toric arrangements. Nevertheless, the poset of layers cannot describe the cohomology ring with integer coefficients.

Theorem C. The poset of layers $S(\mathcal{A})$ and $S(\mathcal{A}')$ are non-isomorphic and the algebras $H(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$ and $H(M(\mathcal{A}'); \mathbb{Q})$ are non-isomorphic. However, N and N' describe the same arithmetic matroid and the same matroid over \mathbb{Z} . Moreover, there exist two toric arrangements with isomorphic posets of layers and non-isomorphic cohomology algebras with integer coefficients.

This example was found by making the following observations. Consider an arithmetic matroid whose underlying matroid is modular, then there exist at most one representation of the arithmetic matroid. An analogous result holds for arithmetic matroids whose associated group is cyclic.

Let $\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g)$ be the unordered configuration spaces of n points on the closed orientable surface Σ_g of genus g. For g = 1, we present the rational cohomology ring of $\mathcal{C}_n(E)$ by using the representation theory of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ as follows.

Theorem D. The rational cohomology ring of $C_n(E)$ is isomorphic to

$$\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}_1 \otimes \overset{\mathbf{S}^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}_1[b]}{(a^{\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \rfloor}, a^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}b)_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})}},$$

where a is a non-zero degree-one element of $S^1 \mathbb{V}_1$ and b is an $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ -invariant variable of degree 3.

This theorem is obtained computing the \mathfrak{S}_n -invariant elements of the Križ model for the configuration space on the torus. The multiplicative structure is determine by finding a small set of generators and then we explicitly compute some non-vanishing of products in the Križ model.

In higher genus, we cannot determine the ring structure of the cohomology $H(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g))$. However, we used the richer representation theory of $\operatorname{Sp}(2g)$ to obtain the following results on the cohomology module. Consider the weight filtration W on $H(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g); \mathbb{Q})$ given by the mixed Hodge structure, the graded cohomology is $\operatorname{gr}^W H(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g); \mathbb{Q})$. We describe $\operatorname{gr}^W H(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g); \mathbb{Q})$ as a bigraded symplectic representation of the mapping class group of Σ_g . Let V_ω be the irreducible representation of the symplectic Lie algebra of highest weight ω . Since we are working on finite dimensional representations of the group $\operatorname{Sp}(2g)$, it is useful to consider the Grothendieck ring R_g , i.e. the free \mathbb{Z} -module having as a basis the set of irreducible representations of $\operatorname{Sp}(2g)$ up to isomorphisms. Let $[V_{\omega}] \in R_g$ be the element corresponding to the representation V_{ω} for any dominant weight ω . The cohomological stability was proven for unordered configurations spaces, therefore we describe all the spaces $\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g)$, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, simultaneously. We do it by considering the formal power series in 3 variable over the ring R_g .

Theorem E. For g > 0, we have the following equality in $R_g[[t, s, u]]$:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i,j,n} [\operatorname{gr}_{i+2j}^{W} H^{i+j}(\mathcal{C}_{n}(\Sigma_{g}))]t^{i}s^{j}u^{n} = \\ &\frac{1}{1-u} \Big((1+t^{2}su^{3})(1+t^{2}u) + (1+t^{2}su^{2})t^{2g}su^{2(g+1)} + \\ &+ (1+t^{2}su^{2})(1+t^{2}su^{3}) \sum_{\substack{1 \leq j \leq g \\ i \geq 0}} [V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j}}]t^{j+i}s^{i}u^{j+2i}(1+t^{2(g-j)}su^{2(g-j+1)}) \Big). \end{split}$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

In the previous formula, only the representations associated to weights of the form $i\omega_1 + \omega_j$ appear. Notice that the coefficient of u^n is a polynomial in the ring $R_g[t, s]$ and it coincides with the mixed Hodge polynomial of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$. By setting t = s, we obtain the Poincaré polynomial of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$ with coefficients in R_g .

In order to obtain the analogous results with the ring \mathbb{Z} instead of R_g , we need to compute their image under the map dim: $R_g \to \mathbb{Z}$. By using the Weyl dimension formula we calculate the dimension of the representations of the symplectic group $\operatorname{Sp}(2g)$ appearing in our formula.

Lemma F. We have

$$\dim V_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} = \binom{2g+i+1}{i,j} \frac{2g+2-2j}{2g+2+i-j} \frac{j}{i+j}.$$

Therefore we obtain a closed formula for the mixed Hodge numbers and the Betti numbers of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$; those formulas does not have any cancellations, indeed these numbers are sum of dimensions of the previous representations.

Overview

The chapters are meant to be self-contained. To achieve this, each chapter begins with the recalling of the needed results and notations from the previous ones.

In Chapter 1, we define and study orientable arithmetic matroids and we apply this new theory to realizable arithmetic matroids. We recover for orientable arithmetic matroids the basic constructions of matroids: deletion, contraction and duality. By studying GP-functions, we obtain the uniqueness of the orientation. Strengthening the condition "greatest common divisor", we obtain a necessary condition for the realizability of torsion-free surjective arithmetic matroids. Orientability and the "strong GCD" property are equivalent to the representability of torsion-free surjective arithmetic matroids. Finally, by using a new operation between quasi-arithmetic matroids – called "reduction" – we classify all the representations of torsion-free arithmetic matroids.

In Chapter 2, the cohomology of the complement of toric arrangements is investigated. We start from the graded cohomology ring both with integer and rational coefficients. The main technique used is the Leray spectral sequence. We provide a presentation for the cohomology ring by covering in a non-trivial way a toric arrangement with unimodular toric arrangements. This result is presented firstly for the rational cohomology and then for the integer one. The last result concerns the generation in degree one of the cohomology ring.

In Chapter 3, we discuss the relation between the combinatorics of a toric arrangement (arithmetic matroid, poset of layers) and the cohomology ring of its complement. We also study discriminantal toric arrangements and the special case of toric arrangements whose associated matroid is modular. The main results of this chapter are the examples in the last two sections. The first one shows that the integral cohomology of toric arrangements is not determined by the poset of layers. The second example provides two toric arrangements describing isomorphic arithmetic matroids, but having different posets of layers and different rational cohomology algebras of the complements.

In Chapter 4, we focus on configuration spaces of closed orientable surfaces. We expose the representation theory of the Križ model for the cohomology. In genus one the Križ model is huge and complicate, and its cohomology is unknown, however we conjecture a closed formula for the mixed Hodge numbers in the ordered case. In the unordered case we provide a presentation of the cohomology ring keeping track of the mixed Hodge structure and of the action of the mapping class group. Finally, we obtain analogous statements for unordered configuration spaces in arbitrary genus, but only as a module.

Chapter 1

Arithmetic Matroids

The aim of this chapter is to relate two different generalizations of matroids: the oriented matroids and the arithmetic matroids. We want to give a definition of "oriented arithmetic matroid" and prove properties like the "uniqueness of orientation". This leads to a complete classification of all representation of a torsion-free arithmetic matroid.

Oriented matroids have a large use in mathematics and science (for general reference see [BLVS⁺99, Oxl11]); they are related to the simplex method for linear programming, to the chirality of molecules in theoretical chemistry, and to knot theory. For instance, the Jones polynomial of a link is a specialization of the signed Tutte polynomial (see [Kau89]) of an oriented graphic matroid [Thi87, Jae88]. Another interesting fact is the correspondence between oriented matroids and arrangements of pseudospheres [FL78] that generalizes the correspondence between representable matroids and central hyperplane arrangements.

Arithmetic matroids – introduced in [DM13, BM14] – appear as a combinatorial object related to the cohomology of the complement of a toric arrangement [DP05, Moc12a, CDD⁺18]. The study of toric arrangements is related to zonotopes, partition functions, box splines, and Dahmen-Micchelli spaces (see [DPV10, DP11, Moc12a]). All standard operations with matroids, e.g. deletion, contraction, duality, are generalized to arithmetic matroids in a consistently way. Recently, a new operation between two arithmetic matroids over the same matroid is discovered by Delucchi e Moci [DM18].

The correspondence between representable arithmetic matroids and central toric arrangements has not been generalized to the non-representable cases, so far. With the aim of filling this gap, we define a class of arithmetic matroids which we call *orientable arithmetic matroids* (see Definition 1.1.10) hoping that these correspond to "arrangements of pseudo-tori".

An $r \times n$ matrix with integer coefficients describes at the same time a central toric arrangement, an oriented matroid, and an arithmetic matroid. It comes natural to say that two matrices are equivalent if they describe two

toric arrangements that differ by an automorphism of the ambient torus. Geometrically, the group $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}_2)^n$ acts on the space $\operatorname{M}(r, n; \mathbb{Z})$ by left multiplication and sign reverse of the columns. Two representation (i.e. matrices) of the arithmetic matroid are equivalent if and only if they belong to the same $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{Z}) \times (\mathbb{Z}_2)^n$ -orbit.

The space $M(r, n; \mathbb{Z})$ is included in $M(r, n; \mathbb{Q})$ and the action of $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{Z}) \times \mathbb{Z}_2^n$ extends naturally to the one of $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{Q}) \times \mathbb{Z}_2^n$. Lemma 1.7.6 shows that all representations of an arithmetic matroid belong to the same $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{Q}) \times (\mathbb{Z}_2)^n$ -orbit. By this fact, it can be easily deduced that representable arithmetic matroids have a unique orientation. We extend this result to the non-representable case, showing (Theorem 1.4.1) that orientable arithmetic matroids have a unique orientation (up to re-orientation).

Sections 1.1 to 1.4 and 1.6 are published in [Pag18a] and Sections 1.5 and 1.8 will appear in the preprint [PP19b] written with Giovanni Paolini. Sections 1.7 and 1.9 are part of the paper [Pag19b], the version below is quite different from the published version. [Pag19b, Theorem 5.6] contains a mistake, a corrected version of it is stated and proved below, see Theorem 1.9.9.

Plan

In Section 1.1 we start by recalling some standard definitions and by describing the basic construction in Section 1.2. We introduce a compatibility condition, eq. (GP), between the orientation and the multiplicity function of an oriented arithmetic matroid. The condition (GP) coincides with the Plücker relation for the Grassmannian and we prove that oriented arithmetic matroids are closed under deletion, contraction, and duality. Next, in Section 1.3, we show that the condition (GP) implies a generalization of the Leibniz rule for the determinant. We state and prove a result about the uniqueness of orientation (Section 1.4) so that it makes sense to talk of orientable arithmetic matroids instead of oriented arithmetic matroids. We state, in Section 1.5, the condition "strong GCD" that implies the representability of orientable arithmetic matroids, as proven in Section 1.6. Moreover, we show that orientable arithmetic matroids, upon forgetting the multiplicity function, are representable matroids (see Proposition 1.6.1). A torsion-free surjective arithmetic matroid has a unique representation up to equivalence; this fact is proven in Section 1.7. Later, in Section 1.8, we introduce a new operation on quasi-arithmetic matroids, called "reduction", in order to classify all representations of an arithmetic matroid (Section 1.9).

The entire discussion can be generalized to quasi-arithmetic matroids and so to matroids over \mathbb{Z} (see [FM16]). It is not clear to the author how arithmetic matroids and orientable arithmetic matroids are related to matroids over hyperfields (see [BB16]).

1.1 Definitions

Let *E* be a ground set, i.e. a finite totally ordered set. We will frequently make use of *r*-tuples of elements of *E*, so with an abuse of notation for any set $A = \{a_1, \ldots, a_r\} \subset E$ we will write *A* for the increasing tuple (a_1, \ldots, a_r) .

1.1.1 Matroids

Let v_e for $e \in E$ be some elements in a finite generated abelian group H. As elements of the vector space $\mathbb{Q} \otimes H$, the elements v_e determine linear dependency relations. The family

 $\mathcal{C} := \min_{\subseteq} \{ C \subseteq E \mid \{v_e\}_{i \in C} \text{ is a linearly dependent set } \}$

of index sets of minimal linear dependencies among this elements in H is the set of *circuits* of a *matroid* \mathcal{M} on the set E We point to [Ox111] for an introduction to this theory.

We give the definition of a matroid in terms of its basis, since [Ox111, Theorem 1.2.3] shows that it is equivalent to the one given in terms of circuits.

Definition 1.1.1. A *matroid* over a the ground set E is a non-empty set $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{P}(E)$ satisfying the following exchange property:

 $\forall B_1, B_2 \in \mathcal{B} \forall x \in B_1 \setminus B_2 \exists y \in B_2 \setminus B_1 \text{ such that } B_1 \setminus \{x\} \cup \{y\} \in \mathcal{B}.$ (1.1)

Since this definition of matroids is cryptomorphic to the one involving the rank function (see [Oxl11, Theorem 1.3.2]), we denote a matroid with the pair (E, rk) .

Throughout this paper we will denote the *r*-tuples (y_i, x_2, \ldots, x_r) by \underline{x}_i and $(y_0, \ldots, y_{i-1}, y_{i+1}, \ldots, y_r)$ by \underline{y}^i , for $i = 0, \ldots, r$, where $\underline{x} = (x_2, \ldots, x_r)$ and $y = (y_0, \ldots, y_r)$.

Definition 1.1.2 ([BLVS⁺99, Definition 3.5.3]). A chirotope χ is a function $\chi: E^r \to \{-1, 0, 1\}$ such that:

- (B0) it is not identically zero, i.e. $\chi \neq 0$,
- (B1) it is alternating, i.e. $\chi(\sigma \underline{x}) = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma)\chi(\underline{x})$ for all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_r$,
- (B2) for all x_2, \ldots, x_r and all $y_0, \ldots, y_r \in E$ such that

$$\chi(\underline{x}_i)\chi(\underline{y}^i) \ge 0,$$

for all i > 0, then we have

$$\chi(\underline{x}_0)\chi(\underline{y}^0) \ge 0$$

We say that two chirotopes χ and χ' are the same chirotope if $\chi = \chi'$ or if $\chi = -\chi'$. This choice is not standard but useful for the notation.

Definition 1.1.3 ([BLVS⁺99, p. 134]). The *re-orientation* with respect to $A \subseteq E$ of a chirotope χ is the chirotope χ' defined by

$$\chi'(\underline{x}) = (-1)^{|A \cap \{x_1, \dots, x_r\}|} \chi(\underline{x}).$$

Two chirotopes are equivalent if one is a re-orientation of the other one.

The set $\{\{b_1, \ldots, b_r\} \subset E \mid \chi(b_1, \ldots, b_r) \neq 0\}$ is the matroid over Eassociated with the chirotope χ . A signed circuit in E is a function $c: C \rightarrow$ $\{\pm 1\}$ where $C \subset E$. An oriented matroid is a collection of signed circuit that satisfies some properties listed in [BLVS⁺99, Definition 3.2.1]. A wellknown cryptomorphism of Lawrence [Law82] between oriented matroids and chirotopes is stated in [BLVS⁺99, Theorem 3.5.5].

We can define the set of signed circuit associated with the chirotope χ as follow. Each circuit $C \subseteq E$ of the matroid associated with χ can be considered as an ordered set with the total order induced by E. Choose an ordered set $\underline{a} = (a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_{r-s})$ such that $\operatorname{rk}(C \cup \underline{a}) = r$. Let c be the function defined by

$$c(i) = c_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-1)^i \chi(x_0, \dots, \hat{x}_i, \dots, x_s, a_1, \dots, a_{r-s}),$$

it does not depend on the choice of the total order and, up to a global negation, the function c does not depend on the choice of \underline{a} .

Definition 1.1.4. The set of signed circuit associated with χ is the set of function $\{c, -c: C \to \{\pm 1\} \mid C \text{ circuit}\}$ defined above.

For every matroid $\mathcal{M} = (E, \mathrm{rk})$ and every subset $A \subseteq E$ we denote by \mathcal{M}/A the *contraction* of A and with $\mathcal{M} \setminus A$ the *deletion* of A.

Let us recall the definition of arithmetic matroid introduced in [DM13, BM14].

Definition 1.1.5. A molecule (A, F, T) of the matroid (E, rk) is a triple of sets $A \sqcup F \sqcup T \subseteq E$ such that $\text{rk}(F \sqcup A) = |F| + \text{rk}(A)$ and $\text{rk}(A \sqcup T) = \text{rk}(A)$.

Definition 1.1.6. An arithmetic matroid is (E, rk, m) such that (E, rk) is a matroid and $m : \mathcal{P}(E) \to \mathbb{N}_+ = \{1, 2, ...\}$ a function satisfying:

- 1. if $A \subseteq E$ and $x \in E$ is dependent on A, then $m(A \cup \{x\})|m(A);$
- 2. if $A \subseteq E$ and $x \in E$ is independent from A, then $m(A)|m(A \cup \{v\});$
- 3. if (A, F, T) is a molecule then

 $m(A)m(A \sqcup F \sqcup T) = m(A \sqcup F)m(A \sqcup T);$

4. if (A, F, T) is a molecule then

$$\rho(A,A\sqcup F\sqcup T) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \sum_{A\subseteq S\subseteq A\sqcup F\sqcup T} (-1)^{|A|+|T|-|S|} m(S) \geq 0.$$

We call m the multiplicity function.

A pseudo-arithmetic matroid is a matroid with a multiplicity function that satisfies only 4. A quasi-arithmetic matroid is a matroid with a multiplicity function that satisfies 1-3.

Definition 1.1.7. An arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is *representable* if there exists a finite generated abelian group H and a list of elements $(h_e)_{e \in E}$ of H such that

$$\operatorname{rk}(A) = \operatorname{rank}(\langle h_e \rangle_{e \in A}) \quad \text{and} \quad m(A) = \left| \operatorname{Tor} \left(\underbrace{H_{\langle h_e \rangle_{e \in A}}} \right) \right|$$

for all $A \subseteq E$. We call a such collection $(h_e)_{e \in E}$ in H a representation of the arithmetic matroid. The representation is essential if $\operatorname{rk} H = \operatorname{rk}(E)$.

For sake of notation we define for each representation $\Gamma_A = \langle h_e \rangle_{e \in A} < H$ and for each subgroup K < H we set [H:K] = |Tor(H/K)|.

Definition 1.1.8. An arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is said to be *torsion-free* if $m(\emptyset) = 1$ and *surjective* if m(E) = 1.

A polynomial invariant for arithmetic matroids was introduced by Moci [Moc12a]:

Definition 1.1.9. The arithmetic Tutte polynomial of an arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is the following polynomial

$$T(x,y) = \sum_{A \subseteq E} m(A)(x-1)^{\mathrm{rk}(E) - \mathrm{rk}(A)} (y-1)^{|A| - \mathrm{rk}(A)}.$$

The arithmetic Tutte polynomial has good properties: it has positive coefficients, satisfies the deletion-restriction property and can be defined in terms of *internal and external activities* of the arithmetic matroid. It specializes to the Poincaré polynomial of a toric arrangement, to the characteristic polynomial of the poset of layers, to the Hilbert series of the associated Dahmen-Micchelli space. Moreover, it counts the number of integer points of the associated zenotope and the connected components of arrangements in the compact torus $(S^1)^r$ ([Law11]). This polynomial is further generalized to the *G*-Tutte polynomial, see [LTY17, Tra18, TY19] and to the universal Tutte character, see [DFM17]. The arithmetic Tutte polynomial associated with a root system is computed in [ACH15] and for type A_n in [Ber19]. **Definition 1.1.10.** An oriented arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m, \chi)$ is a matroid (E, rk) of rank r together with two structures: a chirotope $\chi: E^r \to \{-1, 0, 1\}$ and a multiplicity function $m: \mathcal{P}(E) \to \mathbb{N}_+$ such that:

- 1. The unoriented matroid associated with the chirotope χ is the matroid (E, rk) .
- 2. The triple $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is an arithmetic matroid.
- 3. For all x_2, \ldots, x_r and all $y_0, \ldots, y_r \in E$ the following equality holds

$$\sum_{i=0}^{r} (-1)^{i} \chi(\underline{x}_{i}) m(\underline{x}_{i}) \chi(\underline{y}^{i}) m(\underline{y}^{i}) = 0, \qquad (GP)$$

where
$$\underline{x}_i = (y_i, x_2..., x_r)$$
 and $\underline{y}^i = (y_0, ..., y_{i-1}, y_{i+1}..., y_r)$.

An arithmetic matroid is *orientable* if there exists a chirotope that makes the arithmetic matroid oriented.

Remark 1.1.11. Our property (GP), related to the Grassmannian-Plücker relations, implies the properties (GP_r) , for all r, defined in [Len17b, Definition 10.3].

Notice that the compatibility condition (GP) involves only the values of the multiplicity function on the basis of (E, rk) .

Remark 1.1.12. The condition (GP) implies (B2) of Definition 1.1.2.

Let H be a finite generated abelian group, and \mathcal{B} be a basis of $H_{\mathbb{Q}} := H \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$.

Definition 1.1.13. A representation $(h_e)_{e \in E}$ in H of an oriented arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m, \chi)$ is a collection of elements in the finite generated abelian group H such that:

- 1. they are a representation of the arithmetic matroid (E, rk, m) ,
- 2. for each $A \in E^r$ we have

$$\chi(A) = \operatorname{sgn}(\det M_{\mathcal{B}}(\{h_a \otimes 1\}_{a \in A})),$$

where $M_{\mathcal{B}}(\{h_a \otimes 1\}_{a \in A})$ is the matrix that represent the vectors $h_a \otimes 1$ in the basis \mathcal{B} .

Remark 1.1.14. The above definition does not depend on the choice of the basis since we consider χ and $-\chi$ the same chirotope.

1.2 Basic constructions

Deletion

The deletion of $A \subseteq E$ is an operation defined for matroids [Oxl11, p. 22], for oriented matroids [BLVS⁺99, p. 133], and for arithmetic matroids [DM13, section 4.3] [BM14, section 3]. We now define a deletion operation for oriented arithmetic matroids.

Define $s = \operatorname{rk}(E \setminus A)$ and choose $\underline{a} = (a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_{r-s})$ be such that $\operatorname{rk}((E \setminus A) \cup \underline{a}) = r$. Let $\chi \setminus A : (E \setminus A)^s \to \{-1, 0, 1\}$ be the function defined by $\chi \setminus A(\underline{z}) = \chi(\underline{z} \cup \underline{a})$. The collection $(E \setminus A, \operatorname{rk} \setminus A, m \setminus A, \chi \setminus A)$ satisfies the first two conditions of Definition 1.1.10.

Proposition 1.2.1. The collection $(E \setminus A, \operatorname{rk} \setminus A, m \setminus A, \chi \setminus A)$ is an oriented arithmetic matroid.

Proof. Consider the elements x_2, \ldots, x_s and y_0, \ldots, y_s in $E \setminus A$. For all $0 \le i \le s$ such that $\chi(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) \ne 0$ and $\chi(\underline{y}_i \cup \underline{a}) \ne 0$, the triples $(\underline{x}_i, \underline{a}, \underline{y}^i)$ and $(y^i, \underline{a}, \underline{x}_i)$ are molecules. The equality

$$m(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{y}^i)^2 m(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{y}^i \cup \underline{a}) = m(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{y}^i \cup \underline{a})^2 m(\underline{x}_i) m(\underline{y}^i)$$

follows from condition (3) applies to the two molecules. Notice that $\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{y}^i$ does not depend on i so we can denote it by $\underline{x} \cup y$. We have

$$\begin{split} m(\underline{x} \cup \underline{y} \cup \underline{a})^2 \sum_{i=0}^{s} (-1)^i \chi(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{x}_i) \chi(\underline{y}^i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{y}^i) = \\ &= m(\underline{x} \cup \underline{y})^2 \sum_{i=0}^{s} (-1)^i \chi(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) \chi(\underline{y}^i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{y}^i \cup \underline{a}). \end{split}$$

The right side is, up to a non-zero scalar, the equation (GP) applied to $x_2, \ldots, x_s, a_1, \ldots, a_{r-s}$ and $y_0, \ldots, y_s, a_1, \ldots, a_{r-s}$ for the oriented arithmetic matroid (E, χ, m) . Therefore, we have proven the claimed equality

$$\sum_{i=0}^{s} \chi(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{x}_i) \chi(\underline{y}^i \cup \underline{a}) m(\underline{y}^i) = 0.$$

Contraction

The contraction of $A \subseteq E$ is an operation defined for matroids [Oxl11, p. 22], for oriented matroids [BLVS⁺99, p. 134], and for arithmetic matroids [DM13, section 4.3] [BM14, section 3]. We now define a contraction operation for oriented arithmetic matroids.

Let A be a subset of E and call r-s its rank. We choose an independent list $\underline{a} = (a_1, \ldots, a_{r-s})$ of elements in A. Define $\chi/A : (E \setminus A)^s \to \{-1, 0, 1\}$ as $\chi/A(\underline{z}) = \chi(\underline{z} \cup \underline{a}), \operatorname{rk}/A(S) = \operatorname{rk}(A \cup S) - \operatorname{rk}(A)$ and $m/A(S) = m(A \cup S).$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Proposition 1.2.2. The collection $(E/A, \operatorname{rk}/A, m/A, \chi/A)$ is an oriented arithmetic matroid.

Proof. We call $T = A \setminus \underline{a}$ and fix the elements x_2, \ldots, x_s and y_0, \ldots, y_s of $E \setminus A$. For all *i* such that $\chi(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) \neq 0$ and $\chi(\underline{y}_i \cup \underline{a}) \neq 0$, the triples $(\underline{a}, \underline{x}_i, T)$ and (\underline{a}, y^i, T) are molecules of (E, rk) . Thus

$$m(A)^2 m(\underline{x}_i \cup \underline{a}) m(y^i \cup \underline{a}) = m(\underline{a})^2 m(\underline{x}_i \cup A) m(y^i \cup A).$$

Since m(A) and $m(\underline{a})$ are nonzero, then condition (GP) for \underline{x} and \underline{y} in the contracted matroid is equivalent to condition (GP) for $\underline{x} \cup \underline{a}$ and $\underline{y} \cup \underline{a}$ in the original matroid.

Duality

The duality is an operation defined for matroids [Oxl11, chapter 2], for oriented matroids [BLVS⁺99, p. 135], and for arithmetic matroids [DM13, p. 339] [BM14, p. 5526]. We now define duality for oriented arithmetic matroids.

Recall that the set E is ordered. For every $\underline{z} = (z_1, \ldots, z_k) \subseteq E$ we call \underline{z}' the complement of \underline{z} in E with some arbitrary order and let $\sigma(\underline{z}, \underline{z}')$ be the sign of the permutation that reorders the list $(\underline{z}, \underline{z}')$ as they appear in E. We define $\chi^* : E^{n-r} \to \{-1, 0, 1\}$ as

$$\chi^*(\underline{z}) = \chi(\underline{z}')\sigma(\underline{z},\underline{z}')$$

and the multiplicity function $m^* : \mathcal{P}(E) \to \mathbb{N}_+$ as $m^*(\underline{z}) = m(\underline{z}')$.

Proposition 1.2.3. The triple (E, χ^*, m^*) is an oriented arithmetic matroid.

Proof. Let $\underline{x} = (x_2, \ldots, x_{n-r})$ and $\underline{y} = (y_0, \ldots, y_{n-r})$ be two sublists of E. Coherently with the notation above, let $\underline{x}' = (x'_0, \ldots, x'_r)$ and $\underline{y}' = (y'_2, \ldots, y'_r)$ be their complements. For every $0 \le i \le n-r$ the element y_i is equal to x_k or x'_i . In the first case $\chi^*(\underline{x}_i) = 0$ and in the second case

$$\chi^*(\underline{x}_i) = \chi(\underline{x}'^j)\sigma(\underline{x}_i, \underline{x}'^j) = (-1)^{n-r+1+j}\chi(\underline{x}'^j)\sigma(\underline{x}, \underline{x}').$$

Analogously, if $y_i = x'_i$ then

$$\chi^*(\underline{y}^i) = \chi(\underline{y}'_j) \sigma(\underline{y}^i, \underline{y}'_j) = (-1)^{n-r+i} \chi(\underline{y}'_j) \sigma(\underline{y}, \underline{y}')$$

where $\underline{y}'_j = (x'_j, y'_2, \dots, y'_r)$. If $y_i = x'_j$, then $m^*(\underline{x}_i) = m(\underline{x}'^j)$ and $m^*(\underline{y}^i) = m(\underline{y}'_j)$. Thus, up to a sign, the condition (GP) for \underline{y}' and \underline{x}' in the original matroid implies condition (GP) for \underline{x} and y in the dual matroid.

1.3 GP-functions

We now study functions satisfying a relation that looks like the Plücker relation for the Grassmannian. A posteriori all these functions are nothing else that the determinant det: $V^r \to \mathbb{Q}$ restricted to a finite (multi-)set $E \subset V$.

Definition 1.3.1. A map $f: E^r \to \mathbb{Q}$ is a *GP*-function if it is alternating and for all $\underline{x} \in E^{r-1}$ and all $y \in E^{r+1}$ the following equality holds

$$\sum_{i=0}^{r} (-1)^{i} f(y_i, x_2, \dots, x_r) f(y_0, \dots, y_{i-1}, y_{i+1}, \dots, y_r) = 0$$

The main examples of GP-function are the function χm for every oriented arithmetic matroid. Another example is constructed as follow: given a map $i: E \to \mathbb{Q}^r$, the function $\underline{x} \mapsto \det(i(x_1), \ldots, i(x_r))$ is a GP-function. The following theorem is a generalization of the Leibniz formula.

Theorem 1.3.2. Let $f: E^r \to \mathbb{Q}$ be a GP-function. Then for all (a_1, \ldots, a_r) in E^r and $(b_1, \ldots, b_r) \in E^r$ the following formula holds:

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_r} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}\sigma} \prod_{i=1}^r f(a_1, \dots, b_{\sigma(i)}, \dots, a_r) = f(a_1, \dots, a_r)^{r-1} f(b_1, \dots, b_r),$$
(1.2)

where $b_{\sigma(i)}$ substitutes a_i .

Proof. We prove lemma by induction, the base case r = 2 is trivial. We fix $(a_1, \ldots, a_r) \in E^r$ and $(b_1, \ldots, b_r) \in E^r$. Let $g: E^{r-1} \to \mathbb{Q}$ be the GP-function defined by

$$g(x_2,\ldots,x_r)=f(a_1,x_2,\ldots,x_r).$$

By inductive step we have

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{r-1}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}\sigma} \prod_{i=2}^r g(a_2, \dots, c_{\sigma(i)}, \dots, a_r) = g(a_2, \dots, a_r)^{r-2} g(c_2, \dots, c_r).$$
(1.3)

The left hand side of the eq. (1.2) can be rewritten as:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{r} f(b_j, a_2, \dots, a_r) \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{r-1}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn} \sigma + \operatorname{sgn} \tau_j} \prod_{i=2}^{r} f(a_1, \dots, b_{\sigma(\tau_j(i))}, \dots, a_r),$$
(1.4)

where $\tau_j = (1, j)$ and \mathfrak{S}_{r-1} is the subgroup of \mathfrak{S}_r of permutations that fix the element 1. Now, for every j, we use eq. (1.3) with $c_i = b_{\tau_j(i)}$ to manipulate expression (1.4):

$$f(a_1, \dots, a_r)^{n-2} \Big[f(b_1, a_2, \dots, a_r) f(a_1, b_2, \dots, b_r) - \sum_{j=1}^r f(b_j, a_2, \dots, a_r) \cdot f(a_1, b_2, \dots, b_1, \dots, b_r) \Big]$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

19

that it is equal to left hand side of (1.2) since f is a GP-function.

Lemma 1.3.3. Let f and g be two GP-functions and $B \in E^r$. Suppose that $f(B) = g(B) \neq 0$ and f(C) = g(C) for all $C \in E^r$ such that $|\{i \mid c_i \neq b_i\}| = 1$, then f = g.

Proof. We use Theorem 1.3.2 for the function f and g. We set $\{a_1, \ldots, a_r\} = B$ in eq. (1.2), the left hand side for f and g are equal, so

$$f(a_1,\ldots,a_r)^{r-1}f(b_1,\ldots,b_r) = g(a_1,\ldots,a_r)^{r-1}g(b_1,\ldots,b_r).$$

By hypothesis $f(a_1, \ldots, a_r) = g(a_1, \ldots, a_r) \neq 0$, thus we have $f(b_1, \ldots, b_r) = g(b_1, \ldots, b_r)$ for all b_i , $i = 1, \ldots, r$.

1.4 Uniqueness of the orientation

Theorem 1.4.1. Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \chi, m)$ and $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \chi', m)$ be two oriented arithmetic matroids. Then χ' is a re-orientation of χ .

We fix a total order on $E \simeq [n]$ such that [r], the first r elements, are a basis of the matroid.

The basis graph of a matroid is first studied in [Mau73a] and [Mau73b].

Definition 1.4.2. The basis graph \mathcal{BG} of a matroid (E, \mathcal{B}) is the graph on the set \mathcal{B} of vertices with an edge between two vertices B_1 and B_2 if $|B_1 \setminus B_2| = 1$.

Once chosen a basis B_0 of a matroid, we define \mathcal{BG}_1 to be the induced subgraph of \mathcal{BG} whose vertices are all vertices adjacent to B_0 . Define $\mathcal{BG}_{\leq 1}$ the induced subgraph whose vertices are the ones adjacent to B_0 and B_0 itself.

Suppose that two GP-functions $\chi([r]) = \chi'([r])$, Lemma 1.4.6 proves that, up to reorientation, χ and χ' coincides on all vertices of distance one from [r]. Lemma 1.4.7 proves that $\chi(B) = \chi'(B)$ using Theorem 1.3.2.

Definition 1.4.3. Let \mathcal{G} be the bipartite graph on vertices E and an edge between $i \in B_0$ and $j \in E \setminus B_0$ if $B_0 \setminus \{i\} \cup \{j\}$ is a basis. We call this graph the B_0 -fundamental circuit graph.

Definition 1.4.4. The Line graph $L(\mathcal{G})$ of a graph $\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ is the graph whose set of vertices is the set \mathcal{E} of edges in \mathcal{G} . The graph $L(\mathcal{G})$ has an edge between e_1 and $e_2 \in \mathcal{E}$ if and only if the edges e_1 and e_2 are incident in \mathcal{G} .

The Line graph of \mathcal{G} is the graph \mathcal{BG}_1 . A coordinatizing path in \mathcal{G} is a spanning forest of the graph \mathcal{G} . We choose a coordinatizing path P of the graph \mathcal{G} and its Line graph L(P) is an induced subgraph of \mathcal{BG}_1 .

The following lemma is essentially proven in [Len19, Lemma 6].

Lemma 1.4.5. Let (E, χ, m) be an oriented arithmetic matroid with basis graph \mathcal{BG} , B_0 be a vertex of \mathcal{BG} and P be a coordinatizing path in \mathcal{G} , such that $L(\mathcal{G}) = \mathcal{BG}_1$. Then there exists a re-orientation χ' of χ such that $\chi'(B) = \chi'(B_0)$ for all vertices $B \in L(P)$.

We denote the point-wise product of two function χ and m with

$$\chi m(\underline{b}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \chi(\underline{b}) \cdot m(\underline{b}).$$

We prove in our setting the equivalent of [Len19, Lemma 9].

Lemma 1.4.6. Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be an arithmetic matroid with basis graph \mathcal{BG} , B_0 be a vertex of \mathcal{BG} and P be a coordinatizing path in the graph \mathcal{G} , such that $L(\mathcal{G}) = \mathcal{BG}_1$. Let χ and χ' be two orientations of the arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ such that $\chi(B) = \chi(B_0)$ and $\chi'(B) = \chi'(B_0)$ for all vertices $B \in$ L(P). If $\chi(B_0) = \chi'(B_0)$, then $\chi(B') = \chi'(B')$ for all $B' \in \mathcal{BG}_{\leq 1}$.

Proof. Consider the subgraph \mathcal{H} of \mathcal{G} with the same set of vertices and with an edge between $i \in B_0$ and $j \in E \setminus B_0$ if and only if $\chi(B_0 \setminus \{i\} \cup \{j\}) = \chi'(B_0 \setminus \{i\} \cup \{j\}) \neq 0$. The graph \mathcal{H} contains the chosen coordinatizing path P by hypothesis. Suppose that $\mathcal{H} \neq \mathcal{G}$ and let T $(T \neq \emptyset)$ be the set of edges of \mathcal{G} not contained in \mathcal{H} . For each $(i, j) \in T$ we can consider l(i, j) the length of the minimal path in \mathcal{H} connecting the vertices i and j. Obviously, l(i, j) is a odd number greater than 2. Let us fix $(h, k) \in T$ with l(h, k) minimal among all l(i, j) for $(i, j) \in T$ and a minimal path $Q = (h = i_0, j_0, i_1, \ldots, i_t, j_t = k)$ in \mathcal{H} between (h, k) (the equality 2t + 1 = l(h, k) holds). By minimality of (h, k), two vertices i_a and j_b are connected in \mathcal{G} if and only if a = b, a = b + 1or b = t and a = 0.

Without loss of generality, we suppose $i_v = v + 1$ for $0 \le v \le t$, $B_0 = [r]$, and $j_v = r + v + 1$ for $0 \le v \le t$. Apply Theorem 1.3.2 with $a_i = i$ and $b_j = t + j + 2$ to the GP-functions χm and $\chi'm$. The product

$$\prod_{i=1}^r \chi m(a_1,\ldots,b_{\sigma(i)},\ldots,a_r)$$

is non zero if and only if $(a_i, b_{\sigma(i)}) \in Q \cup \{(h, k)\}$ for all $i \leq t+1$ and $b_{\sigma(i)} = a_i$ for all $t+1 < i \leq r$. The same implication holds for the function $\chi'm$. This happens only for two different permutations τ and η , say that $\tau(h) = k$ and $\tau(h) = j_0$. We define

$$x \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \chi m(a_1, \dots, a_{h-1}, b_k, a_{h+1}, \dots, a_r),$$

$$a \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i \neq h} \chi m(a_1, \dots, b_{\tau(i)}, \dots, a_r),$$

$$b \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i=1}^r \chi m(a_1, \dots, b_{\mu(i)}, \dots, a_r),$$

$$c \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \chi m(a_1, \dots, a_r)^{r-1} \chi m(b_1, \dots, b_r).$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Thus, eq. (1.2) can be reduced to ax + b = c. The equivalent relation for χ' is ax' + b = c' with $x' = \pm x$ and $c' = \pm c$. Since a, b, c and x are non-zero, then x = x' and so

 $\chi(a_1,\ldots,a_{h-1},b_k,a_{h+1},\ldots,a_r) = \chi'(a_1,\ldots,a_{h-1},b_k,a_{h+1},\ldots,a_r).$

This equality contradicts the supposition $\mathcal{H} \neq \mathcal{G}$.

Lemma 1.4.7. Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be an arithmetic matroid and χ and χ' two orientations of the arithmetic matroid that coincide on the elements of $\mathcal{BG}_{\leq 1}$. Then $\chi = \chi'$.

Proof. By hypothesis both χm and $\chi' m$ are GP-functions, so by Lemma 1.3.3 they are equal.

Theorem 1.4.1 follows from Lemmas 1.4.5 to 1.4.7.

1.5 The strong GCD property

Definition 1.5.1. An arithmetic matroid $M = (E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ satisfies the *strong GCD property* if, for every subset $A \subseteq E$,

 $m(A) = \gcd \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ basis and } |B \cap A| = \operatorname{rk} A \}.$

Strong GCD arithmetic matroids are uniquely determined by the rank function and the multiplicity function restricted to the bases of the underlying matroid. The strong GCD property is equivalent to both (E, rk, m) and (E, rk^*, m^*) are GCD arithmetic matroids.

Lemma 1.5.2. Let M be an arithmetic matroid. If M satisfies the strong GCD property, then it also satisfies the GCD property.

Proof. For every independent set $I \subseteq E$, we have that

$$m(I) = \gcd \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ basis and } I \subseteq B \}.$$

Then, for a generic subset $A \subseteq E$,

$$\begin{split} m(A) &= \gcd \left\{ \left. m(B) \mid B \text{ basis and } \left| B \cap A \right| = \operatorname{rk}(A) \right\} \right. \\ &= \gcd \left\{ \left. \gcd \left\{ \left. m(B) \mid B \text{ basis and } B \cap A = I \right\} \right| I \subseteq A \text{ and} \\ &\left. |I| = \operatorname{rk}(I) = \operatorname{rk}(A) \right\} \\ &\stackrel{(*)}{=} \gcd \left\{ \left. \gcd \left\{ \left. m(B) \mid B \text{ basis and } I \subseteq B \right\} \right| I \subseteq A \text{ and} \\ &\left. |I| = \operatorname{rk}(I) = \operatorname{rk}(A) \right\} \\ &= \gcd \left\{ \left. m(I) \mid I \subseteq A \text{ and } \left| I \right| = \operatorname{rk}(I) = \operatorname{rk}(A) \right\}. \end{split}$$

The equality (*) follows by $|I| = \operatorname{rk}(I) = \operatorname{rk}(A) \ge \operatorname{rk}(B \cap A) = |B \cap A|$. \Box

Lemma 1.5.3. Let M be an arithmetic matroid. If M satisfies the strong GCD property, then its dual M^* also satisfies the strong GCD property.

Proof. For every subset $A \subseteq E$, we have

$$m^*(A^c) = m(A) = \gcd \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ basis of } M \text{ and } |B \cap A| = \operatorname{rk}(A) \}$$
$$\stackrel{(*)}{=} \gcd \{ m^*(B^c) \mid B^c \text{ is a basis of } M^* \text{ and } |B^c \cap A^c| = \operatorname{rk}^*(A^c) \}.$$

The equality (*) follows by $|B^c \cap A^c| = |(B \cup A)^c| = |E| - (|B| + |A| - |B \cap A|) = |A^c| - |B| + |B \cap A| = |A^c| - \operatorname{rk}(E) + \operatorname{rk}(A) = \operatorname{rk}^*(A^c).$

Theorem 1.5.4. Let M be an arithmetic matroid. Then M satisfies the strong GCD property if and only if both M and M^* satisfy the GCD property.

Proof. If M satisfies the strong GCD property, then the same is true for M^* by Lemma 1.5.3, and therefore both M and M^* satisfy the GCD property by Lemma 1.5.2.

Conversely, suppose that M and M^* both satisfy the GCD property. By the GCD property of M, for every $A \subseteq E$, we have

$$m(A) = \gcd \left\{ m(I) \mid I \subseteq A \text{ and } |I| = \operatorname{rk}(I) = \operatorname{rk}(A) \right\}.$$
(1.5)

By the GCD property for M^* , for every independent set $I \subseteq E$ we have

$$m(I) = m^*(I^c) = \gcd \{ m^*(B^c) \mid B^c \subseteq I^c \text{ and } |B^c| = \operatorname{rk}^*(B^c) = \operatorname{rk}^*(I^c) \}$$

= gcd { m(B) | I \subseteq B and |B^c| = \operatorname{rk}^*(B^c) = \operatorname{rk}^*(I^c) }.

The condition $|B^c| = \operatorname{rk}^*(B^c) = \operatorname{rk}^*(I^c)$ can be rewritten as $|B^c| = |B^c| - \operatorname{rk}(E) + \operatorname{rk}(B) = |I^c| - \operatorname{rk}(E) + \operatorname{rk}(I)$. The first equality implies that $\operatorname{rk}(B) = \operatorname{rk}(E)$. By the second equality, we obtain $|B^c| = |I^c| - \operatorname{rk}(E) + |I| = |E| - \operatorname{rk}(E)$, thus $|B| = \operatorname{rk}(E)$. Altogether, B is a basis. Then

$$m(I) = \gcd\{m(B) \mid I \subseteq B \text{ and } B \text{ is a basis}\}.$$
(1.6)

In particular, if $I \subseteq A \subseteq E$ and $|I| = \operatorname{rk}(I) = \operatorname{rk}(A)$, then $\operatorname{rk}(I) \leq \operatorname{rk}(B \cap A) \leq \operatorname{rk}(A)$ and therefore $|B \cap A| = \operatorname{rk}(B \cap A) = \operatorname{rk}(A)$. Putting together Equations (1.5) and (1.6), we finally obtain

$$m(A) = \gcd \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ basis and } |B \cap A| = \operatorname{rk}(A) \}.$$

This proves the strong GCD property for M.

Corollary 1.5.5. Let M be a surjective, torsion-free, and representable arithmetic matroid. Then M satisfies the strong GCD property.

Proof. By [DM13, Remark 3.1], a torsion-free representable arithmetic matroid has the GCD property. In particular, this applies to M. Since M is surjective and representable, its dual $M^* = (E, \mathrm{rk}^*, m^*)$ is torsion-free and representable, and thus it also satisfies the GCD property. By Theorem 1.5.4, we deduce that M satisfies the strong GCD property.



Figure 1.1: An arrangement of hypersurfaces in the compact torus.

As a final remark, notice that the strong GCD property is not preserved under deletion or contraction.

We show an example of orientable arithmetic matroid that is not representable.

Example 1.5.6. Let $([3], \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be the orientable arithmetic matroid associated with the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & n & n \end{pmatrix}$. Let m' be the multiplicity function defined by m'([3]) = 1 and m'(A) = m(A) for all $A \subsetneq [3]$. The triple $([3], \operatorname{rk}, m')$ is a non-representable arithmetic matroid, since the multiplicity function does not have the GCD property. This matroid is orientable, indeed any orientation χ of $([3], \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is an orientation of $([3], \operatorname{rk}, m')$. Figure 1.1 represents an arrangement of hypersurfaces of T^2 , the compact two dimensional torus, whose pattern of intersections coincides with the arithmetic matroid $([3], \operatorname{rk}, m')$ for n = 3.

1.6 Existence of a representation

Proposition 1.6.1. Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be an orientable arithmetic matroid. Then the underlying matroid (E, rk) is representable over \mathbb{Q} .

Proof. We choose an orientation χ of the arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ and a basis $B_0 = (b_1, \ldots, b_r)$ of the matroid. For each $e \in E$, consider in \mathbb{Q}^r the vector

 $v_e \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\chi m(b_1, \dots, b_{i-1}, e, b_{i+1}, \dots, b_r))_{1 \le i \le r}.$

We choose a total order on E = [n] such that $B_0 = [r]$. Let N be the matrix that represent the vectors v_i , for i = 1, ..., n, in the canonical basis of \mathbb{Q}^r . We claim that, for each $A \subseteq [n]$ of cardinality r, the functions det N[A] and $\chi m(B_0)^{r-1}\chi m(A)$ coincide. The claimed equality holds if $A = B_0$. If $A = \{1, ..., i-1, i+1, ..., r, j\}$, then

$$\det N[A] = (-1)^{r-i} \frac{\chi m(1, \dots, i-1, j, i+1, \dots, r)}{\chi m([r])} \det N[[r]]$$

$$= \frac{\chi m(A)}{\chi m(B_0)} \chi m(B_0)^r = \chi m(B_0)^{r-1} \chi m(A)$$
(1.7)

Roberto Pagaria

The GP-function $\chi m(B_0)^{r-1}\chi m(\cdot)$ and det $N[\cdot]$ coincide on $\mathcal{BG}_{\leq 1}$, thus by Lemma 1.3.3 $\chi m(B_0)^{r-1}\chi m(B) = \det N[B]$ for all $B \subset E$, |B| = r. The matroid defined by N is (E, rk) since they have the same set of basis. \Box

Theorem 1.6.2. Let (E, rk, m) be an orientable arithmetic matroid with the strong GCD property. Then (E, rk, m) is representable.

Proof. Consider a orientation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$, the vectors $v_e \in \mathbb{Q}^r$ for $e \in E$ defined in the proof of Proposition 1.6.1, and let Λ the lattice generated by $\{v_e\}_{e \in E}$. Let G be a finite abelian group of cardinality $m(\emptyset) = m(E)$. We claim that the elements $(v_e, 0)$ in $\Lambda \times G$ are a representation of the arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$.

Let (E, rk', m') be the arithmetic matroid described by the elements $(v_e, 0)$ in $\Lambda \times G$. Let Γ_B be the lattice generated by v_e for $e \in B$. By eq. (1.7) we have $\mathrm{rk}' = \mathrm{rk}$ and $|\det N[B]| = m(B_0)^{r-1}m(B)$ for all basis B. Therefore,

 $[\mathbb{Z}^r : \Lambda] = \gcd\{ |\det N[B]| \mid B \text{ basis of } E \} = m(B_0)^{r-1} m(E)$

and

$$m'(B) = |G| \frac{[\mathbb{Z}^r : \Gamma_B]}{[\mathbb{Z}^r : \Lambda]} = m(E) \frac{m(B_0)^{r-1} m(B)}{m(B_0)^{r-1} m(E)} = m(B).$$

The multiplicity functions m and m' coincides on all basis of the matroid (E, rk) , hence by the strong GCD property m = m'.

1.7 Uniqueness of representations

We consider the representation up to an equivalence relation.

Definition 1.7.1. Two representations $(h_e)_{e \in E} \subset H$ and $(h'_e)_{e \in E} \subset H'$ of the same arithmetic matroid are *equivalent* if there exist a isomorphisms of groups $f: H \to H'$ such that $f(h_e) = \pm h'_e$ for all $e \in E$.

In general an arithmetic matroid has a lot of non-equivalent representations.

Example 1.7.2. Fix $m \in \mathbb{N}_+$ and consider the arithmetic matroid on the empty set $E = \emptyset$, $\operatorname{rk}(\emptyset) = 0$ and $m(\emptyset) = m$. All the representations are of the form $\mathbb{Z}^k \times H$ where H is finite abelian groups with |H| = m. Moreover, two representations H and H' are equivalent if and only if k = k' and $H \cong H'$.

Example 1.7.3. Fix $m \in \mathbb{N}_+$ and, for all $a \in \mathbb{Z}$ relative prime with m, consider the pair of vectors $\left(\begin{pmatrix} 1\\0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} a\\m \end{pmatrix}\right)$ of \mathbb{Z}^2 . These are representations of an arithmetic matroid over $E = \{1, 2\}$ with m(E) = m, two of them are equivalent if and only if $a \equiv \pm a' \mod m$.

Consider an arithmetic matroid (E, rk, m) and choose a orientation χ of the arithmetic matroid. Recall from Definition 1.1.4 the definition of a signed circuit. For each circuit C of (E, rk) define the vector

$$v_C = \sum_{x \in C} c(x) m(C \setminus \{x\}) e_x \in \mathbb{Q}^E$$

depending on χ , where e_x is the canonical basis of \mathbb{Q}^E . Let V_{χ} be the subspace of \mathbb{Q}^E generated by the v_C for all circuit C.

Let H be an essential representation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$, we choose a basis of \mathcal{B} of $H_{\mathbb{Q}} = H \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ and define $\chi(x_1, \ldots, x_r) = \operatorname{sgn}(\det M_{\mathcal{B}}(h_{x_1}, \ldots, h_{x_r}))$ where $M_{\mathcal{B}}(h_{x_1}, \ldots, h_{x_r})$ is the matrix that represents the vectors $h_{x_i} \otimes 1$ in the basis \mathcal{B} . By an abuse of notation we denote $h_{x_i} \otimes 1$ with $h_{x_i} \in H_{\mathbb{Q}}$.

Lemma 1.7.4. Let H be an essential representation and V_{χ} as above. We have the following exact sequence

$$0 \to V_{\chi} \to \mathbb{Q}^E \to H_{\mathbb{Q}} \to 0$$

where the surjective map is defined by $e_x \mapsto h_x$.

1

Proof. Since H is essential, then $H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ has dimension $r = \operatorname{rk}(E)$ and h_i , for $i \in E$, generate $H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ as vector space. For each circuit $C = (x_0, \ldots, x_s)$ the vector space $W_C \subset H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ generated by $\{h_{x_i}\}_{i=0,\ldots,s}$ has dimension s. The function $w: W_C^{s+1} \to W_C$ defined by

$$(w_0,\ldots,w_s)\mapsto \sum_{i=0}^s (-1)^i \det(w_0,\ldots,\hat{w}_i,\ldots,w_s)w_i$$

is multilinear and alternating, thus is identically zero. For $(w_0, \ldots, w_s) = (h_{x_0}, \ldots, h_{x_s})$ we obtain $\sum_{i=0}^{s} c(x_i)m(C \setminus \{x_i\})h_{x_i} = 0$. Therefore, V_{χ} is contained in ker $(\mathbb{Q}^E \to H_{\mathbb{Q}})$.

Let $\sum_{x \in E} a_x e_x$ an element of $\ker(\mathbb{Q}^n \to H_{\mathbb{Q}})$. We prove by induction on $|\{x \in E \mid a_x \neq 0\}|$ that $\sum_{i \in E} a_x e_x \in V_{\chi}$. Since $\sum_{x \in E} a_x h_x = 0$, we have that $|\{x \mid a_x \neq 0\}|$ contains a circuit $C = (x_0, \ldots, x_s)$. The element

$$\sum_{x \in E} a_x e_x - \frac{a_{x_0}}{c(x_0)m(C \setminus \{x_0\})} \sum_{i=0}^{s} c(x_i)m(C \setminus \{x_i\})e_{x_i}$$

belongs to V_{χ} by inductive hypothesis and so $\sum_{i \in E} a_x e_x \in V_{\chi}$. We have proven that $\ker(\mathbb{Q}^n \to H_{\mathbb{Q}})$ is contained in V_{χ} .

The following corollary is an immediate consequence of Lemma 1.7.4

Corollary 1.7.5. Let H be a representation of an arithmetic matroid. Then all linear relations in $H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ between the vectors $\{h_e\}_{e \in E}$ are combination of the following ones

$$\sum_{i \in C} c(i)m(C \setminus \{i\})h_i = 0$$

Lemma 1.7.6. Let H and H' two essential representation of the same arithmetic matroid, then there exist a linear isomorphism $\varphi_{\mathbb{Q}}: H_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H'_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $\varphi_{\mathbb{Q}}(h_e) = \pm h'_e$ for all $e \in E$.

Proof. Let χ and χ' be the two orientation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ given by H and H'. By Theorem 1.4.1 there exists $A \subseteq E$ such that χ is the reorientation of χ' by A. Define the representation H'', equivalent to H', given by H'' = H', $h''_a = -h'_a$ for $a \in A$ and $h''_e = h'_e$ for $e \in E \setminus A$. We prove that the assignment $h_e \mapsto h''_e$ for all $e \in E$ defines an isomorphism $\varphi_{\mathbb{Q}} \colon H_{\mathbb{Q}} \to H''_{\mathbb{Q}} = H'_{\mathbb{Q}}$. This follows from the diagram



since $\chi = \chi''$, both $H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $H''_{\mathbb{Q}}$ are the cokernel of $V_{\chi} \mapsto \mathbb{Q}^n$. From the above diagram also follows that $e_x \mapsto h_x$ and $e_x \mapsto h''_x$, thus by commutativity $h_x \mapsto h''_x$ for all $x \in E$.

Recall that an arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is torsion-free if $m(\emptyset) = 1$ and surjective if m(E) = 1.

Theorem 1.7.7. A representable, surjective, torsion-free arithmetic matroid has a unique representation up to equivalence.

Proof. Let H and H' be two essential representation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$, we show that H and H' are equivalent. We apply Lemma 1.7.6 and obtain $\varphi_{\mathbb{Q}}: H_{\mathbb{Q}} \to$ $H'_{\mathbb{Q}}$ such that $\varphi_{\mathbb{Q}}(h_e) = \pm h'_e$. Since $m(\emptyset) = 1$ then $H \hookrightarrow H_{\mathbb{Q}}$ and $H' \hookrightarrow H'_{\mathbb{Q}}$. Thus is well defined the restricted map $\varphi = \varphi_{\mathbb{Q}|_{\Gamma_E}}: \Gamma_E \to \Gamma'_E$. Since m(E) = 1, we have $H = \Gamma_E$ and $H' = \Gamma'_E$.

Corollary 1.7.8. Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m, \chi)$ be a representable, torsion-free, oriented arithmetic matroid. Let $\{h_e\}_{e \in E} \subset H$ be an essential representation. Then the linear relations among these vectors $\{h_e\}_{e \in E}$ are uniquely determined by the oriented arithmetic matroid.

Example 1.7.9. Let $(\{1,2,3\}, \mathbf{rk})$ be the matroid of three distinct lines in the real plane. The function m defined by:

$$m(\emptyset) = 1$$

 $m(e) = 1$ for $e = 1, 2, 3$
 $m(1, 2) = 10$
 $m(1, 3) = 15$
 $m(2, 3) = 25$
 $m(1, 2, 3) = 5$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

defines an arithmetic matroid ([3], rk, m). This arithmetic matroid is representable, indeed a possible representation is given by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} -2 & -32 & -43 \\ 1 & 21 & 29 \end{pmatrix}$.

We choose a basis of the matroid, e.g. $\mathcal{B} = \{1, 2\}$ and we consider the matrix $A \in M(2, 1; \mathbb{Q})$ representing the coordinates in the basis \mathcal{B} of the third vector $\begin{pmatrix} -43\\ 29 \end{pmatrix}$. The absolute value of the entries of A is easy to determine:

$$|a_{1,1}| = \frac{m(2,3)}{m(1,2)} = \frac{5}{2}$$
$$|a_{2,1}| = \frac{m(1,3)}{m(1,2)} = \frac{3}{2}$$

The associated matrix C is then $\begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$, and the associated bipartite graph is:



This graph has a unique maximal tree, that we call \mathcal{A} , hence the normal form of the matrix A (in normal form) is $\begin{pmatrix} \frac{5}{2} \\ \frac{3}{2} \end{pmatrix}$. A representation of the arithmetic matroid in normal form is given by $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & -32 & -43 \\ -1 & 21 & 29 \end{pmatrix}$ which is obtained from the one we had before by changing the sign of the first column.

1.8 Reduction of quasi-arithmetic matroids

In this section we introduce a new operation on quasi-arithmetic matroids, which we call *reduction*. We will use this construction in the algorithm that computes the representations of a torsion-free arithmetic matroid.

Definition 1.8.1 (Reduction). Let $M = (E, \mathrm{rk}, m)$ be a quasi-arithmetic matroid. Its reduction is the quasi-arithmetic matroid $\overline{M} = (E, \mathrm{rk}, \overline{m})$ on the same groundset, with the same rank function, and with multiplicity function \overline{m} is given by

$$\overline{m}(X) = \frac{\gcd\{m(B) \mid B \text{ is a basis, and } \operatorname{rk}(X) = |X \cap B|\}}{\gcd\{m(B) \mid B \text{ is a basis}\}}$$

Given a matroid $\mathcal{M} = (E, \mathrm{rk})$ and two subsets $X, Y \subseteq E$, define

$$\mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)} = \{ (B_1, B_2) \mid B_1 \text{ and } B_2 \text{ are bases of } \mathcal{M}, \ \mathrm{rk}(X) = |X \cap B_1|, \\ \text{and } \mathrm{rk}(Y) = |Y \cap B_2| \}.$$

Lemma 1.8.2. Let $\mathcal{M} = (E, \mathrm{rk})$ be a matroid, let (X, F, T) be a molecule and set $Y = X \sqcup T \sqcup F$ as in Definition 1.1.5. Then there is a bijection $\varphi \colon \mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)} \to \mathcal{B}_{(X \sqcup T, X \sqcup F)}$ given by

$$\varphi(B_1, B_2) = \big((B_1 \setminus X) \cup (B_2 \cap (X \cup T)), (B_2 \setminus (X \cup T)) \cup (B_1 \cap X) \big).$$

Proof. Notice that $F \subseteq B_2$, because $\operatorname{rk}(Y) = \operatorname{rk}(Y \cap B_2) = \operatorname{rk}(X) + |B_2 \cap F|$ (the first equality is by definition of $\mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)}$, and the second equality is by definition of molecule).

We want to prove that $B_3 = (B_1 \setminus X) \cup (B_2 \cap (X \cup T))$ is a basis. The set $B_1 \setminus X$ is independent, and its rank (or cardinality) is equal to $|B_1| - |X \cap B_1| = \operatorname{rk}(E) - \operatorname{rk}(X)$ by definition of $\mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)}$. The set $B_2 \cap (X \cup T)$ is also independent, and (since $F \subseteq B_2$) its rank (or cardinality) is equal to $|B_2 \cap Y| - |F| = \operatorname{rk}(X) + |F| - |F| = \operatorname{rk}(X)$. Therefore $|B_3| \leq \operatorname{rk}(E)$. Applying property (2) of the rank function to the pair $(B_3, X \cup T)$, we obtain

$$\operatorname{rk}(B_3) + \operatorname{rk}(X \cup T) \ge \operatorname{rk}(B_3 \cup X \cup T) + \operatorname{rk}(B_3 \cap (X \cup T)).$$

Notice that $\operatorname{rk}(X \cup T) = \operatorname{rk}(X)$ (by definition of molecule), $B_1 \subseteq B_3 \cup X \cup T$, and $B_2 \cap (X \cup T) \subseteq B_3 \cap (X \cup T)$. Then

$$\operatorname{rk}(B_3) + \operatorname{rk}(X) \ge \operatorname{rk}(B_1) + \operatorname{rk}(B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) = \operatorname{rk}(E) + \operatorname{rk}(X).$$

Therefore $\operatorname{rk}(B_3) \ge \operatorname{rk}(E)$, and B_3 is a basis.

We want now to check that $|B_3 \cap (X \cup T)| = \operatorname{rk}(X \cup T)$. We have $B_1 \cap T = \emptyset$, because

$$rk(X) + |T \cap B_1| = |X \cap B_1| + |T \cap B_1| = |(X \cap B_1) \sqcup (T \cap B_1)|$$
$$= |(X \cup T) \cap B_1| = rk((X \cup T) \cap B_1)$$
$$\leq rk(X \cup T) = rk(X).$$

Thus $B_3 \cap (X \cup T) = B_2 \cap (X \cup T)$, and this set has cardinality $\operatorname{rk}(X) = \operatorname{rk}(X \cup T)$.

Similarly, $B_4 = (B_2 \setminus (X \cup T)) \cup (B_1 \cap X)$ is a basis, and $B_4 \cap (X \cup F)| = \operatorname{rk}(X \cup F)$. Therefore the map φ is well-defined.

The map $\psi \colon \mathcal{B}_{(X \sqcup T, X \sqcup F)} \to \mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)}$ defined by

$$\psi(B_3, B_4) = \left((B_3 \setminus (X \cup T)) \cup (B_4 \cap X), (B_4 \setminus X) \cup (B_3 \cap (X \cup T)) \right)$$

can be verified to be the inverse of φ . Therefore φ is a bijection.

Lemma 1.8.3. Let $M = (E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be a quasi-arithmetic matroid, consider a molecule (X, F, T) and set $Y = X \sqcup T \sqcup F$ as in Definition 1.1.5. If $\varphi \colon \mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)} \to \mathcal{B}_{(X \sqcup T, X \sqcup F)}$ is the bijection of Lemma 1.8.2, and $(B_3, B_4) = \varphi(B_1, B_2)$, then

$$m(B_1) m(B_2) = m(B_3) m(B_4).$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Proof. Consider the following four molecules:

 $(B_1 \cap X, (B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) \cup B_1);$ $(B_2 \cap (X \cup T), (B_1 \cap X) \cup B_2);$ $(B_2 \cap (X \cup T), (B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) \cup B_1);$ $(B_1 \cap X, (B_1 \cap X) \cup B_2).$

Applying axiom (A2) to these molecules, we get the following relations (we use the fact that $B_1 \cap T = \emptyset$, shown in the proof of Lemma 1.8.2):

$$m(B_1 \cap X) m((B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) \cup B_1) = m((B_1 \cup B_2) \cap (X \cup T)) m(B_1);$$

$$(1.8)$$

$$m(B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) m((B_1 \cap X) \cup B_2) = m((B_1 \cup B_2) \cap (X \cup T)) m(B_2);$$

$$(D = C(X \cup T)) = ((D = C(X \cup T)) \cup D) = ((D = C(X \cup T)) \cup (D))$$

$$(1.9)$$

$$m(B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) m((B_2 \cap (X \cup T)) \cup B_1) = m((B_1 \cup B_2) \cap (X \cup T)) m(B_3);$$
(1.10)

$$m(B_1 \cap X) m((B_1 \cap X) \cup B_2) = m((B_1 \cup B_2) \cap (X \cup T)) m(B_4).$$
(1.11)

Let $k = m((B_1 \cup B_2) \cap (X \cup T))$. Multiplying the previous equations in pairs, we obtain $k^2 m(B_1) m(B_2) = k^2 m(B_3) m(B_4)$, hence $m(B_1) m(B_2) = m(B_3) m(B_4)$.

Theorem 1.8.4. The reduction \overline{M} of a quasi-arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is a torsion-free surjective quasi-arithmetic matroid, and satisfies the strong GCD property.

Proof. Let $d = \text{gcd} \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ is a basis} \}$. We start by checking axiom (A1) of Definition 1.1.6. Consider a subset $X \subseteq E$ and an element $e \in E$.

- If $\operatorname{rk}(X \cup \{e\}) = \operatorname{rk}(X)$, then a basis *B* such that $\operatorname{rk}(X) = \operatorname{rk}(X \cap B)$ also satisfies $\operatorname{rk}(X \cup \{e\}) = \operatorname{rk}((X \cup \{e\}) \cap B)$. Therefore $d \cdot \overline{m}(X \cup \{e\}) \mid d \cdot \overline{m}(X)$.
- Similarly, if $\operatorname{rk}(X \cup \{e\}) = \operatorname{rk}(X) + 1$, then a basis *B* such that $\operatorname{rk}(X \cup \{e\}) = \operatorname{rk}((X \cup \{e\}) \cap B)$ also satisfies $\operatorname{rk}(X) = \operatorname{rk}(X \cap B)$. Therefore $d \cdot \overline{m}(X) \mid d \cdot \overline{m}(X \cup \{e\})$.

We now check axiom (A2). Let (X, Y) be a molecule, with $Y = X \sqcup T \sqcup F$ as in Definition 1.1.5. By definition of \overline{m} , we have that

$$d^{2}\overline{m}(X)\overline{m}(Y) = \gcd\left\{m(B_{1})m(B_{2}) \mid (B_{1}, B_{2}) \in \mathcal{B}_{(X,Y)}\right\}.$$

Similarly,

$$d^2 \overline{m}(X \cup T) \overline{m}(X \cup F) = \gcd \{ m(B_3) m(B_4) \mid (B_3, B_4) \in \mathcal{B}_{(X \cup T, X \cup F)} \}.$$

By Lemmas 1.8.2 and 1.8.3, we obtain $d^2 \overline{m}(X) \overline{m}(Y) = d^2 \overline{m}(X \cup T) \overline{m}(X \cup F)$, hence $\overline{m}(X) \overline{m}(Y) = \overline{m}(X \cup T) \overline{m}(X \cup F)$.

Therefore \overline{M} is a quasi-arithmetic matroid. By definition of \overline{m} , we also have that $\overline{m}(\emptyset) = \overline{m}(E) = 1$, i.e. M is torsion-free and surjective. It is also immediate to check that \overline{M} satisfies the strong GCD property.

It is not true in general that the reduction of an arithmetic matroid is an arithmetic matroid. We see this in the following example.

Example 1.8.5. Let $\mathcal{M} = (E, \mathrm{rk})$ be the uniform matroid of rank 2 on the groundset $E = \{1, 2, \ldots, 6\}$. Consider the multiplicity function $m: \mathcal{P}(E) \to \mathbb{N}_+$ defined as

$m(\emptyset) = 1,$	
$m(\{1\})=m(\{2\})=2,$	
$m(\{j\}) = 1$	if $j > 2$,
$m(\{X\}) = 1$	if $ X \cap \{3, \dots, 6\} \ge 2$,
$m(\{i,j\})=2$	if $i = 1, 2$ and $j > 2$,
$m(\{1,2\}) = 4,$	
$m(\{1,2,3\}) = 1,$	
$m(\{1,2,j\}) = 2$	if $j > 3$.

Then $M = (E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is an arithmetic matroid (this can be checked using the software library [PP19a]). We have that $\overline{m}(X) = m(X)$ for every $X \subseteq E$, except that $\overline{m}(1, 2, 3) = 2$. The quasi-matroid $\overline{M} = (E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$ does not satisfy axiom (P) for the molecule ($\{1, 2\}, E$).

However, the reduction of a representable arithmetic matroid turns out to be a representable arithmetic matroid.

Theorem 1.8.6. If $M = (E, \mathrm{rk}, m)$ is a representable arithmetic matroid, then its reduction \overline{M} is also a representable arithmetic matroid.

Proof. Let $(v_e)_{e \in E} \subseteq G$ be a representation of M. Denote by K the quotient of G by its torsion subgroup T. Let \overline{G} be the sublattice of K generated by $\{ \overline{v}_e \mid e \in E \}$, where \overline{v}_e is the class of v_e in K. We are going to show that $(\overline{v}_e)_{e \in E} \subseteq \overline{G}$ is a representation of \overline{M} .

Let $M' = (E, \operatorname{rk}, m')$ be the arithmetic matroid associated with the representation $(\bar{v}_e)_{e \in E} \subseteq \overline{G}$. By construction, M' is representable, torsion-free (because \overline{G} is torsion-free), and surjective (because the vectors \bar{v}_e generate \overline{G}). Therefore, by Corollary 1.5.5, it satisfies the strong GCD property. As a consequence,

$$gcd \{ m'(B) \mid B \text{ basis} \} = m(E) = 1.$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Let B be a basis of M. Since B is independent, we have that $T \cap \langle v_b \rangle_{b \in B} = \{0\}$. Then,

$$m(B) = \left| \frac{G}{\langle v_b \rangle_{b \in B}} \right| = |T| \cdot \left| \frac{K}{\langle \bar{v}_b \rangle_{b \in B}} \right| = |T| \cdot \left| \frac{K}{G} \right| \cdot \left| \frac{\overline{G}}{\langle \bar{v}_b \rangle_{b \in B}} \right|$$
$$= |T| \cdot \left| \frac{K}{G} \right| \cdot m'(B).$$

If B varies among all bases of M, taking the gcd of both sides we get

$$\operatorname{gcd} \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ basis} \} = |T| \cdot \left| \stackrel{K}{\swarrow}_{\overline{G}} \right|$$

Therefore

$$m'(B) = \frac{m(B)}{\gcd \{ m(B) \mid B \text{ basis} \}} = \overline{m}(B).$$

Since both M' and \overline{M} satisfy the strong GCD property, $m'(X) = \overline{m}(X)$ for every subset $X \subseteq E$. This means that $\overline{M} = M'$ is representable.

Finally, notice that the reduction does not commute with deletion and contraction. However, it commutes with taking the dual.

1.9 Classification of representations

The aim of this section is to classify all representations up to equivalence of a representable torsion-free arithmetic matroid (typically non-surjective).

Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be a realizable torsion-free arithmetic matroid and $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$ be its reduction. The triple $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$ is a representable arithmetic matroid by Theorem 1.8.6 and let $\{h_e\}_{e \in E}$ in Γ be a representation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$. By Theorem 1.7.7, this representation is unique.

Each representation $\{h'_e\}_{e \in E}$ in Λ of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ induces the representation $\{h'_e\}_{e \in E}$ in $\Gamma_E \subset \Lambda$ of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$. By uniqueness we identify Γ_E with Γ and h'_e with $s_e h_e$ for some $s_e \in \{1, -1\}$. The representation $\{s_e h'_e\}_{e \in E}$ in Λ is equivalent to $\{h'_e\}_{e \in E}$ in Λ and it identifies the elements $s_e h'_e$ with the given one h_e . Therefore, each representation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ is determined, up to equivalence, by a suitable extension of lattices $\Gamma \supset \Lambda$.

Let $f: \Lambda \to \Lambda'$ be an equivalence of representation, it restricts to a map $f: \Gamma \to \Gamma$. Is not true that $f(h_e) = h_e$, as shown in the following example.

Example 1.9.1. For a, m coprime integers consider, as in Example 1.7.3, the arithmetic matroid ([2], rk, m), where rk(A) = |A|, m([2]) = m and m(A) = 1 for all $A \subsetneq E$. The representation described by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & m \end{pmatrix}$ is equivalent to the one described by the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & -a \\ 0 & m \end{pmatrix}$. However, since the associated matroid ([2], rk, m) has no circuits, the two orientations are the same. The morphism $f: \mathbb{Z}^2 \to \mathbb{Z}^2$ defined by $\begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ sends $h_1 \mapsto -h'_1$ and $h_2 \mapsto h'_2$.

Lemma 1.9.2. Let $f: \Lambda \to \Lambda'$ be an equivalence of representation as above. If $i, j \in E$ are contained in a circuit, then there exists $s \in \{1, -1\}$ such that $f(h_i) = sh'_i$ and $f(h_j) = sh'_j$.

Proof. There exists $I \subset E$ such that $I \sqcup \{i\}$ and $I \sqcup \{j\}$ are basis of the matroid. Let $s_i, s_j \in \{1, -1\}$ such that $f(h_i) = s_i h'_i$ and $f(h_j) = s_j h'_j$ and \mathcal{B} be a basis of $\Lambda \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. Notice that $f(\mathcal{B})$ is a basis of $\Lambda' \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ and therefore $M_{\mathcal{B}}(\{h_a \otimes 1\}_{a \in A}) = M_{f(\mathcal{B})}(\{f(h_a) \otimes 1\}_{a \in A})$ for any $A \in E^r$. We have

$$\chi(I \cup \{i\})\chi(I \cup \{j\}) = s_i s_j \chi(I \cup \{i\})\chi(I \cup \{j\}),$$

hence $s_i = s_j$ as claimed.

Definition 1.9.3. Let (E, rk) be a matroid, we define $S = S(E, \mathrm{rk})$ as the subgroup of \mathbb{Z}_2^E of elements s such that s(i) = s(j) if there exists a circuit containing both i and j.

We regard S as the subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}(n;\mathbb{Z})$ of diagonal matrices with entries equal to ± 1 . The representation $\{h_e\}_{e\in E}$ of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$ induces a surjective morphism $p: \mathbb{Z}^E \to \Gamma$. By Lemma 1.7.4, the kernel of p is contained in V_{χ} where χ is the orientation induced by $\{h_e\}_{e\in E}$. Since, by definition, the elements $s \in S$ preserves ker p, we regard S as a subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma) \simeq$ $\operatorname{GL}(r;\mathbb{Z})$.

Remark 1.9.4. The cardinality of S is equal to the number of irreducible component of the matroid (E, \mathbf{rk}) .

Remark 1.9.5. The matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ determines the isomorphism class of the group $G = \Lambda/\Gamma$. In fact G is the cokernel of the matrix $N(\mathcal{A})$ whose columns are the coordinate of χ_e in some basis. Then by the Smith normal form, its isomorphism class depends only on the greatest common divisor of the determinants of the minors of $N(\mathcal{A})$. The group G can be presented as the cokernel of D, where D is the $r \times r$ diagonal matrix with entries $d_i = \frac{e_i}{e_{i-1}}$, where $e_i = \gcd\{m(E) \mid |E| = i\}$.

A standard fact from commutative algebra is the correspondence between the group $\operatorname{Ext}^1(G, F)$ and the extension of the two \mathbb{Z} -modules F and G:

$$0 \to F \to X \to G \to 0 \tag{1.12}$$

up to equivalence, i.e. two extensions X and X' are equivalent if there exists the following commutative diagram:



Moreover every subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$ or of $\operatorname{Aut}(F)^{\operatorname{op}}$ acts on $\operatorname{Ext}^1(G; F)$ by functoriality.

We are interested mainly in the case of the extension

$$0\to\Gamma\to\Lambda\to G\to 0$$

that corresponds to an element $x \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$. We will show that an equivalent representation Γ' will give another element x' that differs form x by the action of $S \times \operatorname{Aut}(G)$. Moreover, we will characterize all elements in $\operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)/(S \times \operatorname{Aut}(G))$ that arise from representations of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$. Now we want to characterize the cardinality of the torsion subgroup $|\operatorname{Tor} X|$ for X as in Equation (1.12). Suppose that F is free, then the torsion subgroup Tor X is isomorphic to its image in G.

Lemma 1.9.6. Let F be a free \mathbb{Z} -module. Then the contravariant functor $\operatorname{Ext}^1(\cdot, F)$ from finite abelian groups to \mathbb{Z} -modules is an exact functor.

Proof. A short exact sequence of finite abelian groups $0 \to H \xrightarrow{i} G \xrightarrow{p} K \to 0$ produces a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(K, F) \xrightarrow{p^{*}} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(G, F) \xrightarrow{i^{*}} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(H, F) \to 0$$

since $\operatorname{Hom}(H, F) = 0$ and $\operatorname{Ext}^2(K, F) = 0$ for all free \mathbb{Z} -module F and all finite group H.

Lemma 1.9.7. Let F be a free \mathbb{Z} -module, G a finite abelian group and x an element of $\text{Ext}^1(G, F)$. Then:

- 1. There exists a unique subgroup $H \hookrightarrow G$, maximal among all subgroups H' such that $i^*_{H'}(x) = 0$.
- 2. There exists a unique quotient $G \to K$, minimal among all quotients K' such that $x \in \text{Im } p^*_{K'}$.

Moreover, such groups form an exact sequence $0 \to H \to G \to K \to 0$.

Proof. Suppose that, for two subgroups H and H' of G, $i_H^*(x) = 0$ and $i_{H'}^*(x) = 0$. There is a surjection $H \times H' \twoheadrightarrow HH' < G$ that gives an inclusion $\operatorname{Ext}^1(HH', F) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^1(H, F) \times \operatorname{Ext}^1(H', F)$. The element $i_{HH'}^*(x)$ maps to (0,0) so it must be zero $(i_{HH'}^*(x) = 0$ in $\operatorname{Ext}^1(HH', F))$. The arbitrariness of H and H' gives the first result.

The second point follows from the first making use of the following fact: for every exact sequence $0 \to H' \to G \to K' \to 0$ the element $i_{H'}^*(x)$ is zero if and only if $x \in \operatorname{Im} p_{K'}^*$. We make the following construction: for $A \subseteq E$, define Γ_A to be the subgroup of Γ generated by $\{h_e\}_{e \in A}$ and $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}(\Gamma_A)$ its radical in the lattice Γ . Let F_A be the quotient of Γ by $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}(\Gamma_A)$ and notice that F_A is a free \mathbb{Z} module. The exact sequence $0 \to \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}(\Gamma_A) \to \Gamma \to F_A \to 0$ of free modules gives, for any finite abelian group G the exact sequence:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(G, \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}(\Gamma_{A})) \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(G, \Gamma) \xrightarrow{\pi_{A}} \operatorname{Ext}^{1}(G, F_{A}) \to 0.$$
(1.13)

Definition 1.9.8. Consider $x \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$ and call $H_A(x)$ the maximal subgroup H of G given by Lemma 1.9.7 for the elements $\pi_A(x) \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(G, F_A)$. An element $x \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$ is said *coherent with* $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ if for all $A \subseteq E$ we have $\overline{m}(A)|H_A(x)| = m(A)$. Call \mathcal{C} the subset of $\operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$ made by all coherent elements quotient by the action of $S \times \operatorname{Aut}(G)$.

Theorem 1.9.9. Let $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ be a representable torsion-free arithmetic matroid. The set C parametrizes all the representation up to equivalence.

Proof. Let $[x] \in \mathcal{C}$ be a element such that x is coherent with $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$; x gives an extension $0 \to \Gamma \to \Lambda_x \to G \to 0$. If $S \subseteq E$ then there is a commutative diagram:



Call Λ_A the quotient $\Lambda_x/\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_A$; we will show that the group $H_A(x)$ is the torsion subgroup of Λ_A . The exact sequence $0 \to F_A \to \Lambda_A \to G \to 0$ is represented by the element $\pi_A(x)$ (see eq. (1.13)). Therefore for all G'subgroup of G, $i_{G'}(\pi_A(x))$ is zero if and only if the upper short exact sequence of the following diagram splits.



The upper short exact sequence splits if and only if X is included in the subgroup $F_A \times \text{Tor } \Lambda_A$ of Λ_A . Indeed, if the upper sequence splits then $F_A \times G' \simeq X \subseteq \Lambda_A$ and G' is a torsion group, hence included in $\text{Tor } \Lambda_A$. Viceversa, if $X \subseteq F_A \times \text{Tor } \Lambda_A$ then the projection onto the first factor gives a retraction of $F_A \hookrightarrow X$ and so the sequence splits.

Hence, the maximal subgroup $H_A(x)$ is isomorphic to the torsion subgroup of Λ_A , that is, $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda_x} \Gamma_A / \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma} \Gamma_A$. The obvious equality:

$$\left|\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda_{x}}\Gamma_{A}/\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{A}\right| \cdot \left|\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{A}/\Gamma_{A}\right| = \left|\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda_{x}}\Gamma_{A}/\Gamma_{A}\right|$$
(1.14)

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

35

implies the equality $|H_A(x)|\overline{m}(A) = m_x(A)$, where m_x is the multiplicity induced by the inclusion $\Gamma \hookrightarrow \Lambda_x$. Since x is a coherent element, we obtain the equality $m_x = m$. A different choice of x, say fxs, gives an equivalent representation since the five lemma applied to the following diagram



proves that $\psi: \Lambda_x \to \Lambda_{fxs}$ is an isomorphism. Moreover, for each $e \in E$ we have that $\psi(h_e) = s(e)h_e$, thus the two representations are equivalent.

The surjectivity of the correspondence follows by taking a representation Λ of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$. Indeed, the inclusion $\Gamma = \Gamma_E \to \Lambda$ has cokernel isomorphic to G by Remark 1.9.5. Thus Λ is represented by a element $x(\Lambda)$ of $\operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$. This element is coherent by eq. (1.14).

Let $x, y \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(G, F)$ be two coherent element and suppose that Λ_x and Λ_y are equivalent. Then by Lemma 1.9.2 we can find $s' \in S$ such that the equivalence $\psi' \colon \Lambda_{xs'} \to \Lambda_y$ induces the identity map on Γ . So, ψ' induces an automorphism f' of G and therefore the extensions $\Lambda_{f'xs'}$ and Λ_y are equivalent and then y = f'xs'. This completes the proof.

Corollary 1.9.10. For any centred toric arrangement, the data of the arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}, m)$ together with $[x] \in C$ are a complete invariant system for the arrangement up to automorphisms of the torus.

Example 1.9.11. We continue Example 1.7.9 of the arithmetic matroid ([3], rk, m). The group G is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_5 . The multiplicity function \overline{m} is defined by:

$$\overline{m}(\emptyset) = 1$$

$$\overline{m}(e) = 1 \quad \text{for } e = 1, 2, 3$$

$$\overline{m}(1, 2) = 2$$

$$\overline{m}(1, 3) = 3$$

$$\overline{m}(2, 3) = 5$$

$$\overline{m}(1, 2, 3) = 1$$

The unique representation of $([3], \mathrm{rk}, \overline{m})$ is described by $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^2$ and by the elements:

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_1 & h_2 & h_3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 4 \\ 0 & 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The relation $5h_1 + 3h_2 - 2h_3 = 0$ holds and the group $\text{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_5^2 . We look for the elements $x \in \text{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$ which are coherent with the
arithmetic matroid. Notice that the subgroups of G are only 0 and G (this is not true in general) and imposing the coherence conditions for x yields:

$$|H_{\emptyset}(x)| = \frac{m(\emptyset)}{m_U(\emptyset)} = 1 \Leftrightarrow H_{\emptyset}(x) = 0 \Leftrightarrow x \neq 0 \in \operatorname{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma)$$
$$|H_i(x)| = \frac{m(i)}{m_U(i)} = 1 \Leftrightarrow H_i(x) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \pi_i(x) \neq 0$$

The last implication holds for i = 1, 2, 3. By choosing the basis v_1, v_2 of Γ , we identify $x \in \text{Ext}^1(G, \Gamma) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_5^2$ with pairs (a, b) such that $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_5$. By standard commutative algebra $\Lambda_x = \text{coker}((a, b, 5): \mathbb{Z} \to \Gamma \oplus \mathbb{Z}).$

The conditions become, respectively:

$$\pi_1(x) = b \neq 0$$
 $\pi_2(x) = 2a - b \neq 0$ $\pi_3(x) = 3a - 4b \neq 0$

For the remaining subsets $A \subset [3]$, which are all of rank two, we have that $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{A}$ coincides with the whole lattice Γ . In particular $\pi_{A}(x) = 0$ and $H_{A}(x) = G$, therefore these coherence conditions are always satisfied.

The group $S \simeq \mathbb{Z}_2$ acts by changing sign of a and b and the group $\operatorname{Aut}(G) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_5^*$ acts by multiplication. Summing all up, the coherent elements are

$$\mathcal{C} = \{ (a,b) \mid b, 2a-b \neq 0 \} / S \times \mathbb{Z}_{5}^{*},$$

notice that the conditions $2a - b \neq 0$ and $3a - 4b \neq 0$ are equivalent and the set C coincides with $\{a \in \mathbb{Z}_5 \mid a \neq 3\}$ (take a representative with b = 1).

We are going to built a representation of the arithmetic matroid for each element of C, such that any two of them are non-isomorphic. The group Λ_x is identified with the lattice in \mathbb{Q}^2 generated by $e_1, e_2, w = \frac{1}{5}(ae_1 + e_2)$ (recall that x = (a, 1)). A basis for Λ_x is given by $\{e_1, w\}$ and the three elements h_1, h_2, h_3 have the following coordinates:

$$C_a = \left(\begin{array}{rrr} 1 & 1 - 2a & 4 - 3a \\ 0 & 10 & 15 \end{array}\right)$$

These are all the representations of the initial arithmetic matroid, up to equivalence.

Indeed, the initial representation is equivalent to C_1 :

$$\begin{pmatrix} -2 & -32 & -43 \\ 1 & 21 & 29 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -3 \\ -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 10 & 15 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & & \\ & 1 & \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Example 1.9.12. We continue with Example 1.7.3 of the arithmetic matroid ([2], rk, m). Let $e_1, e_2 \in \mathbb{Z}^2 = \Gamma$ be the unique representation of the arithmetic matroid ([2], rk, \overline{m}). All representations of (E, rk, m) are parametrize by the coherent elements in $\text{Ext}^1(\mathbb{Z}_m, \Gamma) \simeq \mathbb{Z}_m^2$. We denote its elements by pairs

(a,b) and they are coherent if and only if gcd(a,m) = gcd(b,m) = 1. The group S is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2^2 and acts on $Ext^1(\mathbb{Z}_m,\Gamma)$ by changing the sign of the corresponding coordinates.

Therefore, the set C is $\{(a, b) \mid \gcd(a, m) = \gcd(b, m) = 1\} / \mathbb{Z}_2^2 \times \mathbb{Z}_m^*$ and it can be identify with

$$C = \{ a \in [1, \frac{m}{2}] \mid \gcd(a, m) = 1 \},\$$

by taking the representative with b = 1. The representations are given by the classes e_1, e_2 in $\Lambda_x = \operatorname{coker}((a, 1, m) : \mathbb{Z} \to \Gamma \times \mathbb{Z})$, i.e. by the matrices

$$C_a = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & a \\ 0 & m \end{array}\right).$$

Chapter 2

Cohomology

Sections 2.4, 2.5 and 2.11 are revised version of the corresponding section of [Pag19b], the rest of this Chapter is the article [CDD⁺18], a joint work with Callegaro, D'Adderio, Delucchi and Migliorini.

2.1 Introduction

The topology of the complement of an arrangement of hyperplanes in a complex vector space is a classical subject, whose study received considerable momentum form early work of Arnold and Brieskorn (e.g., [Arn69, Bri73]) motivated by applications to the theory of braid groups and of configuration spaces. A distinguishing trait of this research field is the deep interplay between the topological and geometric data and the arrangement's combinatorial data, here usually understood to be the arrangement's *matroid*, a combinatorial abstraction of the linear dependencies among the hyperplanes' defining forms. A milestone in this direction is the presentation of the complement's integral cohomology algebra given by Orlik and Solomon [OS80], building on work of Arnold and Brieskorn. As we will explain below, this presentation is fully determined by the combinatorial (matroid) data and thus such an algebra can be associated with any matroid. Over the years, Orlik-Solomon algebras of general matroids have attracted interest in their own right [Yuz01].

In the wake of De Concini, Procesi and Vergne's work on the connection between partition functions and splines [DPV10] came a renewed interest in the study of complements of arrangements of subtori in the complex torus – a class of spaces which had already been considered by Looijenga in the context of moduli spaces [Loo93]. Following [DP05] we call such objects *toric arrangements*. Below we will briefly outline the state of the art on the topology of toric arrangements. This research direction was spurred particularly by the seminal work of De Concini and Procesi [DP05] which foreshadowed as rich an interplay between topology and combinatorics as is the case for hyperplane arrangements. A crucial aspect that emerged in [DP05] and was confirmed by subsequent research in the topology of toric arrangements is that the matroid data naturally associated with every toric arrangement is not fine enough to encode meaningful geometric and topological invariants of the arrangement's complement. The quest for a suitable enrichment of matroid theory has been pursued from different points of view, i.e., by modeling the algebraic-arithmetic structure of the set of characters defining the arrangement [DM13, BM14, FM16] or by studying the properties of the pattern of intersections [DR18].

In this chapter we provide an Orlik-Solomon type presentation for the cohomology algebra of an arbitrary toric arrangement, generalizing De Concini and Procesi's work on the unimodular case. Our presentation with rational coefficients is fully determined by the intersection pattern. This presentation holds also for the integral cohomology algebra, but, in this case, it is not determined by the intersection pattern. In order to be able to state our results we provide some background.

Arrangements of hyperplanes and Orlik-Solomon Algebras

A (central) hyperplane arrangement is a finite set $\mathcal{A} = \{H_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in E}$ of codimension one linear subspaces in a complex vector space $V \simeq \mathbb{C}^n$. The space $M(\mathcal{A}) := V \setminus \cup \mathcal{A}$ is in a natural way an affine complex variety, hence its cohomology (over \mathbb{C}) is computed by the *algebraic* de Rham complex, as the quotient of the group of closed algebraic forms modulo that of exact algebraic ones (by Grothendieck's algebraic de Rham theorem [Gro66]).

We choose vectors $\{a_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in E} \subset V^*$ such that $H_{\lambda} = \ker a_{\lambda}$ and consider the free exterior algebra $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ over \mathbb{Z} generated by the symbols $\{e_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in E}$. In $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}$ we define an ideal as follows: for every subset $A := \{a_{\lambda_1}, \cdots, a_{\lambda_r}\} \subset \{a_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in E}$ of linearly *dependent* vectors, we set

$$\partial e_A := \sum_{i=1}^r (-1)^{i-1} e_{\lambda_1} \cdots \widehat{e_{\lambda_i}} \cdots e_{\lambda_r}$$
(2.1)

and let $J_{\mathcal{A}}$ be the ideal generated by the ∂e_A 's, where A runs over all linearly dependent subsets of E.

The quotient algebra $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}}/J_{\mathcal{A}}$ is called the *Orlik-Solomon algebra* of the arrangement. The theorem of Orlik and Solomon states that the map $\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}} \to H^*(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}),\mathbb{Z})$ sending e_{λ} to the differential form $\frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog} a_{\lambda}$ factors to an algebra isomorphism

$$\Lambda_{\mathcal{A}/J_{\mathcal{A}}} \xrightarrow{\simeq} H^*(M(\mathcal{A}),\mathbb{Z}).$$

Two consequences of this fact are:

- 1. $H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z})$ is generated in degree one;
- 2. the integral ring structure depends only on the structure of the family of linearly dependent subsets of $\{a_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in E}$.

Definition 2.1.1. Recall the fixed total ordering of E. A broken circuit of E is any subset of the form $C \setminus \{\min C\}$ where C is a circuit, i.e. a minimal dependent set.

A no-broken-circuit set (or nbc-set) is any subset of E that does not contain any broken circuit. The collection of all nbc sets is denoted $nbc(\mathcal{A})$ (or $nbc(\mathcal{M})$ if we want to stress the dependency from the matroid).

Remark 2.1.2. Every nbc-set is necessarily independent.

Theorem 2.1.3 (Orlik-Solomon [OS80]). Let \mathcal{A} be a central hyperplane arrangement, there is a an isomorphism:

$$\Lambda_{E/J_E} \xrightarrow{\simeq} H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z})$$

Moreover a basis of Λ_E/J_E as \mathbb{Z} -module is given by the elements $e_S := \prod_{\lambda \in S} e_{\lambda}$ where S is a no broken circuit.

As we have explained more precisely in Section 1.1.1, the combinatorial data of the family of linearly dependent subsets of E is encoded in the arrangement's *matroid*. Thus, item (2) above can be rephrased by saying that the integral ring structure depends only on the matroid or equivalently, using a basic fact in matroid theory, that it depends only on the partially ordered set

$$\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}) := \{ \cap \mathcal{B} \mid \mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{A} \}$$
(2.2)

of all intersections of hyperplanes, ordered by reverse inclusion [OT92, 2.1].

The construction of Λ_E/J_E can be formally carried out for every abstract matroid, hence with every matroid is associated an *Orlik-Solomon algebra*, and this class of algebras enjoys a rich structure theory (see [Yuz01] for a survey). For instance, the matroid's Whitney numbers of the first kind count the dimensions of the algebra's graded pieces (hence, in the case of arrangements, the Betti numbers of the complement), and generating functions for these numbers can be obtained from classical polynomial invariants of matroids (e.g. the Tutte polynomial).

Toric arrangements

A toric arrangement is a finite set \mathcal{A} of codimension one subtori in a complex torus $T \simeq (\mathbb{C}^*)^n$. The topological object of interest is, again, the complement $M(\mathcal{A}) := T \setminus \cup \mathcal{A}$. Each such subtorus can be defined as a coset of the kernel of some character of T. The arrangement is called *central* if every subtorus is the kernel of a certain character. If we fix one such defining character for every subtorus in \mathcal{A} we can consider the matroid of linear dependencies among the resulting set of characters (e.g., viewed as a family of elements of the vector space obtained by tensoring the lattice of characters by \mathbb{Q}). This matroid does not depend on the choice of the characters. Even to encode basic topological data such as the Betti numbers of the arrangement's complement, this "algebraic" matroid data must be refined, for instance by some "arithmetic" data given by the multiplicity function which keeps track of the index of sublattices spanned by subsets of the characters. This approach goes back to Lawrence [Law11]. An axiomatization of some crucial properties of this function is the foundation of the theory of *arithmetic matroids* [DM13, BM14]. By [DP05] and via Moci's arithmetic Tutte polynomial [Moc12a], the Betti numbers of the complement of a central toric arrangement can be computed from the associated arithmetic matroid.

Since intersections of subtori can be topologically disconnected, the "geometric" intersection data of a toric arrangement is customarily taken to be the poset of *layers*, i.e., connected components of intersections (see Definition 2.2.5). The significance of this poset was already pointed out by Zaslavsky [Zas77]. The paper [DR18] introduces group actions on semimatroids as an attempt for a unified axiomatization of posets of layers and multiplicity functions.

The line of research leading to the present work starts with [DP05] where a general result about the Betti numbers of the complement was obtained (see Theorem 2.2.16). Combinatorial models for the homotopy type of complements of toric arrangements were studied in [MS11, dD12], and minimality of such spaces was proved in [dD15]. Inspired by the seminal paper [DP95, MP98], De Concini and Gaiffi recently computed the cohomology of certain compactifications of $M(\mathcal{A})$ [DG18b, DG18a], see also [Moc12b] for related earlier work.

Associated graded of the rational cohomology of $M(\mathcal{A})$ were developed by Bibby [Bib16a] and Dupont [Dup16a], and the minimality result of [dD15] implies torsion-freeness of the integral cohomology. Dupont also proved rational formality of $M(\mathcal{A})$ in [Dup16b]. Further related work includes results about representation stability [Bib16b] and local system cohomology [DSY17].

Presentations of the graded rational algebra were discussed in [Bib16a].

The integral cohomology algebra was considered in [CD17] using purely combinatorial methods, but we point out that the formulas for the multiplication given there contain a mistake (see [CD19]). Here we take a different point of view. In particular, we obtain a presentation for the cohomology ring $H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{C})$ that can be seen as generalizing the one obtained for hyperplanes by Orlik-Solomon. In the *unimodular* case, i.e. when all the intersections of hypertori are connected, we recover the presentation that had been obtained in [DP05].

Results

In this chapter we provide Orlik-Solomon type presentations for the integral cohomology algebra of a general toric arrangement and we study its properties. More precisely,

- We present the graded integral cohomology as the second page of the Leray spectral sequence for the inclusion of the complement in the ambient torus, see Theorem 2.4.3. This result generalize [Bib16a] and recovers the one of [CD17] by using different methods.
- We give a more combinatorial presentation of the cohomology algebra with rational coefficients (Corollary 2.5.4). This algebra depends only on the poset of layers, see Remark 2.5.2.
- We generalize De Concini and Procesi's presentation beyond the unimodular case, to all toric arrangements (Theorem 2.9.13). In the general case this algebra is not necessarily generated in degree one, and every minimal linear dependency among characters induces a number of relations equal to the number of connected components of the intersection of the involved characters (the case where every such dependency induces one relation is precisely the unimodular one studied by De Concini and Procesi).

The data needed for the presentation of the rational cohomology is fully encoded in the poset of layers (Remark 2.9.15). Moreover, Theorem 3.5.2 shows that the cohomology ring structure cannot be recovered from the associated arithmetic matroid.

- We prove that the forms we choose as generators of the cohomology are integral. The relations involved in our presentation hold as relation of forms, not only of cohomology classes. Thereby we extend Dupont's result of rational formality to integral formality, and we obtain an Orlik-Solomon type presentation for the integral cohomology algebra as well (Theorem 2.10.4). Moreover, Theorem 3.4.2 shows that the integral cohomology algebra of the complement of a toric arrangement is not determined by the poset of layers.
- We give combinatorial criteria that determines whether the cohomology algebra is generated in degree one: see Theorem 2.11.5 for the case of rational coefficients and Theorem 2.11.6 for the case of integer coefficients. These criteria depend only on the poset of layers, see Remark 2.11.3.

Plan

The plan of the chapter is as follows: first, in Section 2.2 we recall a few definitions related to the topology and combinatorics of toric arrangements, and we reduce the study of all toric arrangements to the one of primitive arrangements in a connected torus. We study in Section 2.3 the Leray spectral sequence of the inclusion of the complement in the ambient torus. The spectral sequence for the constant sheaf with integer values collapses at the

second page and converges to a gradation of the cohomology ring of the toric arrangement. In Section 2.4 we construct a bigraded algebra $A(\mathcal{A})$ isomorphic to the graded cohomology with integer coefficients. In Section 2.5 we give a completely combinatorial presentation of an algebra $B(\mathcal{A})$ isomorphic to the graded cohomology ring with rational coefficients. In Section 2.6 we introduce our choice of logarithmic forms associated with the arrangement's elements. Starting from De Concini and Procesi's work, we deduce some formal identities associated with minimal dependencies among the arrangement's defining characters. The technical tool towards treating the non-unimodular case are certain coverings of toric arrangements introduced in Section 2.7. Then, in Section 2.8 we put this tool to work and single out a special class of coverings (which we call "separating covers"). These coverings allow us to define some fundamental forms accounting for the single contributions in cohomology associated with different components of the same intersection. In Section 2.9 we prove that these forms generate the cohomology algebra and the relations generate the whole relation ideal. In Section 2.10 we extend our results to integral homology. Finally in Section 2.11, we give a purely combinatorial criteria to determine whether the cohomology ring (with rational or integer coefficients) is generated in degree one.

2.2 Basic definitions and notations

Generalities

Throughout, E will denote a finite set. For indexing purposes, we will fix an arbitrary total ordering < of E (e.g., by identifying it with a subset of \mathbb{N}). We will also follow these conventions: we will consider every subset of E to be ordered with the induced ordering. For $A, B \subseteq E$, we will write (A, B) for the concatenation of the two totally ordered sets, i.e. if $A = \{a_i < \cdots < a_l\}$ and $B = \{b_i < \cdots < b_h\}$, then $(A, B) = (a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_l, b_1, \ldots, b_h)$, which is typically different from $A \cup B$.

Definition 2.2.1. Given $A, B \subseteq E$ such that $A \cap B = \emptyset$, let $\ell(A, B)$ denote the length of the permutation that takes (A, B) into $A \cup B$.

Definition 2.2.2. An element χ in an abelian group Λ is *primitive* if $\chi \notin n\Lambda$ for all integer n > 1.

Notice that the neutral element is never primitive.

Toric arrangements

Let $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times K$ be a complex torus (where K is a finite abelian group), and let $\Lambda = \text{Hom}(T, \mathbb{C}^*)$ be the group of characters of T. Consider a list $\chi \in \Lambda^E$ of elements of $\Lambda \simeq H^1(T, \mathbb{Z})$ and a tuple $\underline{b} \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^E$. The toric arrangement defined by χ and \underline{b} is

$$\mathcal{A} = \{ H_i \mid i \in E \},\$$

where $H_i = \chi_i^{-1}(b_i)$ is the level set of χ_i at level b_i , for all $i \in E$.

The toric arrangement is called *central* if $\underline{b} = (1, \ldots, 1)$, i.e., if H_i is the kernel of χ_i for all $i \in E$.

Definition 2.2.3. We define $M(\mathcal{A}) \subset T$ to be the *complement* of the toric arrangement \mathcal{A} , i.e.

$$M(\mathcal{A}) := T \setminus \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{A}} H.$$

Definition 2.2.4. The toric arrangement \mathcal{A} is called *unimodular* if $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ is either connected or empty for all $A \subseteq E$.

Definition 2.2.5. For a given arrangement \mathcal{A} in a torus T we define the *poset of layers* $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ as the set of all connected components of nonempty intersections of elements of \mathcal{A} ordered by reverse inclusion. The elements of $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ are called *layers* of the arrangement \mathcal{A} .

Notice that the torus T is an element of $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ since it is the intersection of the empty family of hypertori.

Definition 2.2.6. The toric arrangement \mathcal{A} is called *essential* if the maximal elements in $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ are points.

Reduction to connected tori

Since the study of a nice topological space can be reduced to the study of each connected component, we can assume the torus T to be connected in the following way.

Notice that each connected component is of the type $(\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times \{k\}$ for some $k \in K$ and that the decomposition $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times K$ is canonical. Therefore, each character χ can be written as $(\chi_1, \chi_2) \in \text{Hom}((\mathbb{C}^*)^d, \mathbb{C}^*) \times \text{Hom}(K, \mathbb{C}^*)$. Thus the hypertorus $H = \chi^{-1}(b)$, with $b \in \mathbb{C}^*$, intersected with the connected component $(\mathbb{C}^*)^r \times \{k\}$ is the set $H(k) = \{t_1 \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^d \mid \chi_1(t_1) = b\chi_2(k)^{-1}\}$. It is an hypertorus in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times \{k\}$ if $\chi_1 \neq 0$, is empty if $\chi_1 = 0$ and $\chi_2(k) \neq b$, and $H(k) = (\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times \{k\}$ otherwise. Given a toric arrangement $\mathcal{A} = (\underline{\chi}, \underline{b})$ in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times K$, we consider only the connected component $(\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times \{k\}$ such that all $H_i(K)$ are different from the torus $(\mathbb{C}^*)^d \times \{k\}$ and, for such k, we define the arrangement $\mathcal{A}_k = (\underline{\chi}_1, \underline{b}\underline{\chi}_2(k)^{-1})$. The complement $M(\mathcal{A}) = \bigsqcup_k M(\mathcal{A}_k)$ is a disjoint union of complement of toric arrangements in connected tori and we have $H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z}) = \prod_k H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}_k); \mathbb{Z})$.

Example 2.2.7. Consider the torus $\mathbb{C}^* \times (\mathbb{Z}_2)^2$, a generic element is (t, k, h) for $t \in \mathbb{C}^*$ and $k, h \in \{0, 1\}$. Let \mathcal{A} be the arrangement described by the following two equations

$$t^{-2}(-1)^k = \zeta_5, \qquad (-1)^k (-1)^h = -1,$$

where ζ_5 is a primitive 5th root of unity. The first describing character is primitive. The sets $H_2(0,0)$ and $H_2(1,1)$ are empty, $H_2(0,1) = \mathbb{C}^* \times \{0\} \times \{1\}$, and $H_2(1,0) = \mathbb{C}^* \times \{1\} \times \{0\}$. The arrangement $\mathcal{A}_{0,1}$ consists of one non-connected hypertorus $\{t \mid t^{-2} = \zeta_5\}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{1,0}$ has one non-connected hypertorus described by $\chi(t) = t^{-2}$ and $b = -\zeta_5$.

Now on we suppose all tori to be connected, hence the character group Λ will be a lattice isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^d .

Remark 2.2.8. Once an isomorphism of Λ with \mathbb{Z}^d is fixed, for every subset $A \subseteq E$ we can associate the integer $d \times |A|$ - matrix N[A] whose columns are the characters in A, say in the fixed ordering of E.

Reduction to primitive and essential arrangement

If \mathcal{A} is not essential, all maximal layers in $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ are translates of the same torus subgroup W of T. This follows from the classical theory of hyperplane arrangements by applying [OT92, Lemma 5.30] to the lifting of \mathcal{A} in the universal covering of T. By choosing any direct summand T' of W in Twe can decompose the ambient torus as $T = W \times T'$. Hence, if we call $\mathcal{A}' = \{H \cap T' \mid H \in \mathcal{A}\}$ the arrangement induced by \mathcal{A} in T', we have that \mathcal{A}' is essential and $M(\mathcal{A}') = M(\mathcal{A})/W$. Moreover $M(\mathcal{A}) = W \times M(\mathcal{A}')$.

If an hypertorus is described by a non-primitive character $\chi = n\zeta$ for ζ primitive, then the *n* connected components of $\chi^{-1}(b)$ are equal to $\zeta^{-1}(c)$ for all $c \in \mathbb{C}^*$ such that $c^n = b$. Thus, each toric arrangement \mathcal{A} can be described using only connected hypertori of codimension one.

Now on we assume that all toric arrangements are essential and described by primitive characters, i.e. all hypertori are connected.

Let $\mathcal{A} = (\chi_e, b_e)_{e \in E}$ be a toric arrangement, we call Γ_E (or Γ if there is no ambiguity) the subgroup of Λ generated by all characters χ_e , for $e \in E$. The hypothesis that \mathcal{A} is essential implies the equality $\operatorname{rk} \Gamma = \operatorname{rk} \Lambda = r$.

Tangent space

Definition 2.2.9. Given a toric arrangement \mathcal{A} in T and a point $p \in T$ we define the linear arrangement $\mathcal{A}[p]$ in the tangent space $T_p(T)$ as the arrangement given by the hyperplanes $T_p(H)$ for all $H \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $p \in H$ (see [OT92] for background on hyperplane arrangements).

For a given layer W of \mathcal{A} , a point $p \in W$ is *generic* if for any $H \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $W \not\subseteq H$ we have that $p \notin H$. We define the linear arrangement $\mathcal{A}[W]$ as the hyperplane arrangement $\mathcal{A}[p]$ for a generic point $p \in W$.



Figure 2.1: A picture of the arrangement \mathcal{B} .

Remark 2.2.10. Notice that the arrangement $\mathcal{A}[W]$ does not depend on the choice of the generic point p.

Example 2.2.11. Let x, y be the coordinates on the 2-dimensional torus T. We consider the arrangement \mathcal{B} in $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^2$ given by the following hypertori:

$$H_0 := \{ x^3 y = 1 \}; H_1 := \{ y = 1 \}; H_2 := \{ x = 1 \}.$$

Notice that H_1 and H_2 as well as H_2 and H_0 intersect in a single point p = (1, 1), while H_1 and H_0 intersect in three points: $p, q = (e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}, 1), r = (e^{\frac{4\pi i}{3}}, 1)$.

We can identify the group of characters Λ with \mathbb{Z}^2 generated by $\chi_1 = (0, 1)$, $\chi_2 = (1, 0)$. Hence $y = e^{\chi_1}, x = e^{\chi_2}$ and the hypertorus H_0 is associated with the character $\chi_0 = \chi_1 + 3\chi_2$.

The intersection of \mathcal{B} with the compact torus is represented in Example 2.2.11. Along this chapter we will use this arrangement as a running example for the definitions and results that we introduce.

We identify the tangent space $T_p(T)$ with \mathbb{C}^2 , with coordinates \bar{x}, \bar{y} . The local arrangement $\mathcal{B}[p]$ is given by the hyperplanes with equations $3\bar{x} + \bar{y} = 0$, $\bar{y} = 0, \bar{x} = 0$, while the local arrangement $\mathcal{B}[q]$ has equations $3\bar{x} + \bar{y} = 0$, $\bar{y} = 0$.

Arithmetic matroids

There is additional enumerative data to be garnered from the set of characters $\{\chi_e\}_{e\in E}$, when this is viewed as a subset of the lattice Λ . In particular, to every subset $A \subseteq E$ we can associate its span $\Gamma_A := \langle A \rangle \subseteq \Lambda$ and a lattice $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A = (\mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \Lambda_A) \cap \Lambda$.

The function

$$\operatorname{rk}: \mathcal{P}(E) \to \mathbb{N}, \quad A \mapsto \operatorname{rk}_{\mathbb{Z}} \Gamma_A$$

associates to every subset $A \subseteq E$ the rank of Γ_A as \mathbb{Z} -module. The function

$$m: \mathcal{P}(E) \to \mathbb{N}, \quad A \mapsto [\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A : \Gamma_A]$$

that associates to every subset A of E the cardinality of the torsion subgroup of the quotient Λ/Γ_A is the multiplicity function associated with the representation $\{\chi_e\}_{e\in E} \subset \Lambda$.

Remark 2.2.12.

- (a) If \mathcal{A} is a toric arrangement, then for all $A \subseteq E$ the integer m(A) is the number of connected components of the intersection $\bigcap_{e \in A} H_e$ when this intersection is non-empty (cf. [Moc12a, Lemma 5.4]).
- (b) Unimodularity of the list E is equivalent to m being constant equal to 1, and is equivalent to unimodularity of the arrangement \mathcal{A} .
- (c) Given a matrix representation as in Remark 2.2.8, the number m(A) equals the product of the elementary divisors of N[A], i.e., the greatest common divisor of all its minors with size equal to the rank of N[A] (cf. [Sta91, Theorem 2.2]). If N[A] is a non-singular square matrix, then m(A) = |det N[A]|.

It follows that the characters $\chi_e \in \Lambda$ for $e \in E$ are a representation of the arithmetic matroid $(E, \operatorname{rk}_{\mathcal{A}}, m_{\mathcal{A}})$. We recall an important result of the previous chapter:

Corollary 2.2.13 (Corollary 1.7.5). If C is a circuit, then the following relation holds:

$$\sum_{i \in C} c_i m(C \setminus \{i\}) \chi_i = 0 \tag{2.3}$$

where $c_i \in \{1, -1\}$ are introduced in Definition 1.1.4 and depends only on the oriented arithmetic matroid.

Remark 2.2.14. If the arrangement is unimodular, from Corollary 2.2.13 we garner that every circuit can be realized by a minimal linear dependency all whose coefficients are integer units.

Theorem 2.2.15 ([DP05, Theorem 4.2]). For each integer $k \ge 0$ we have a (noncanonical) decomposition, as W runs over S(A)

$$H^{k}(M(\mathcal{A})) = \bigoplus_{W \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})} H^{k-\operatorname{rk} W}(W) \otimes H^{\operatorname{rk} W}(M(\mathcal{A}[W])).$$

The following Theorem is essentially proved in [Loo93, subsection 2.4.3] and in [DP05, Remark 4.3]. The combinatorial version is stated in [Moc12a, Corollary 5.12]

Theorem 2.2.16. If \mathcal{A} is any toric arrangement in a torus T of dimension r, the Poincaré polynomial of the complement $M(\mathcal{A})$ is given in terms of the nbc-sets and the multiplicity function as

$$\operatorname{Poin}(M(\mathcal{A}), t) = \sum_{j=0}^{r} N_j (t+1)^{r-j} t^j,$$

where, for j = 0, ..., r,

$$N_j := \sum_{L \in \mathcal{S}_j} |\operatorname{nbc}_j(\mathcal{A}[L])|,$$

and $\operatorname{nbc}_j(\mathcal{A}[L])$ is the set of no-broken-circuits of cardinality j in the arrangement $\mathcal{A}[L]$. In particular, the j-th Betti number of $M(\mathcal{A})$ is

$$\beta_j(M(\mathcal{A})) = \sum_{i=0}^j N_i \binom{r-i}{j-i}.$$

Remark 2.2.17.

- (a) The data given by the matroid \mathcal{M} together with the function m determines an *arithmetic matroid*. We refer to [DM13] for a general abstract definition of an arithmetic matroid, and some of its properties.
- (b) The poset S(A) determines the arithmetic matroid data. In fact, for any given set A ⊆ E we can consider the set X of minimal upperbounds in S(A): A is independent if and only if the poset-rank of the elements of X equals |A|, and the multiplicity of A equals |X| (via Remark 2.2.12). On the other hand in Section 3.5 we will explicitly construct two toric arrangements with isomorphic arithmetic matroid data but non-isomorphic posets of layers.

Example 2.2.18. In the arrangement \mathcal{B} introduced in Example 2.2.11 the only minimal dependent set of characters is $C = \{\chi_0, \chi_1, \chi_2\}$, hence this is the only circuit in the associated matroid. The relation $-\chi_0 + \chi_1 + 3\chi_2 = 0$ holds. The arithmetic matroid associated with \mathcal{B} has set $E = \{\chi_0, \chi_1, \chi_2\} \subset \Lambda = \mathbb{Z}^2$ and the multiplicity function is given by

$$m(\{\chi_0,\chi_1\})=3,$$

while m(A) = 1 for all other subsets of E. In particular notice that \mathcal{B} is a central, not unimodular arrangement. The Poincaré polynomial of $M(\mathcal{A})$ is

$$Poin(M(\mathcal{B}), t) = 1 + 5t + 8t^2.$$
(2.4)

2.3 The Leray spectral sequence

In this section we state some general results on the Leray spectral sequence, see [Bre97] for a reference. The case of cohomology with rational coefficients has been studied by Bibby in [Bib16a]. We make use a result appeared for the first time in [Loo93] to compute the cohomology with integer coefficients of a toric arrangement. Using the Leray spectral sequence we obtain a nice presentation of a canonical bigradation of cohomology algebra of toric arrangements.

Let $j: M \hookrightarrow T$ be the natural inclusion, which is a continuous map between topological spaces. Let \mathbb{Z}_M be the sheaf on M of locally constant functions with values in \mathbb{Z} .

We recall the definition of higher direct image sheaves for the map j and the sheaf \mathbb{Z}_M . Let us consider the presheaf defined by $U \mapsto \check{H}^q(j^{-1}(U); \mathbb{Z}_M)$. The associated sheaf is the q-direct image sheaf $R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$.

Since \mathbb{Z} is a ring, the cup product $\check{H}^q(j^{-1}(U);\mathbb{Z}_M) \otimes \check{H}^{q'}(j^{-1}(U);\mathbb{Z}_M) \to \check{H}^{q+q'}(j^{-1}(U);\mathbb{Z}_M)$ is defined in Čech cohomology, for details see [Bre97, Section II.7]. The cup product induces the map of sheaves $f_{q,q'}: R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M \otimes R^{q'} j_* \mathbb{Z}_M \to R^{q+q'} j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$. In the same way we can define $R^q j_* \mathbb{Q}_M$. We define the maps

$$\smile: \check{H}^p(T; R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M) \otimes \check{H}^{p'}(T; R^{q'} j_* \mathbb{Z}_M) \to \check{H}^{p+p'}(T; R^{q+q'} j_* \mathbb{Z}_M)$$
(2.5)

as $(-1)^{p'q}$ times the composition of the cup product in the Čech cohomology and $f_{q,q'}$.

The inclusion j defines a natural map in cohomology $H^{\bullet}(T) \to H^{\bullet}(M)$ which is injective, so we identify $H^{\bullet}(T)$ with its image. We define a increasing filtration $\mathcal{F}_{\bullet} = \{\mathcal{F}_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}}$ for the cohomology ring $H^{\bullet}(M)$ by

$$\mathbf{F}_i = \mathrm{Im}(H^{\leq i}(M;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes H^{\bullet}(T;\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\cup} H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Z}))$$

for $i \ge 0$ and by $F_{-1} = 0$. The graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(M; \mathbb{Z})$ associated with the filtration \mathbf{F}_{\bullet} is the ring $\bigoplus_{i\ge 0} \mathbf{F}_i / \mathbf{F}_{i-1}$.

Lemma 2.3.1 ([Bre97]). There exists a spectral sequence of \mathbb{Z} -algebras which converges, as a bigraded algebra, to $\operatorname{gr}_{F_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(M; \mathbb{Z})$. The second page of the spectral sequence is

$$E_2^{p,q}(M) = \check{H}^p(T; R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M)$$

and the product coincides with the map defined in (2.5).

Proof. The existence and the convergence of the spectral sequence are proven in [Bre97, IV, Theorem 6.1]. The cup product in Leray spectral sequence is described in [Bre97, IV, section 6.8].

The limit of the spectral sequence is a graded ring associated with a filtration of $H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Z})$ that can be determine as follows. The Leray spectral sequence can be identified to the first (or horizontal) spectral sequence of an appropriate double complex. The filtration in the double complex is described in [Bre97, A, section 2] and coincides with F_{\bullet} .

The Brieskorn inclusion is a natural map on the cohomology of hyperplane arrangements defined as follows. Fix a layer L of rank k in a hyperplane arrangement \mathcal{A} with poset of intersection \mathcal{S} and let \mathcal{A}_L be the arrangement given by hyperplanes containing L. The Brieskorn inclusion is the composition

$$b_L : H^k(M(\mathcal{A}_L); \mathbb{Z}) \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{W \in \mathcal{S}_k} H^k(M(\mathcal{A}_W); \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^k(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z}),$$

where the second map is the *Brieskorn isomorphism* (see [OT92, Theorem 3.26, p. 65] or [Bri73, Lemma 3, p.27]).

From now on, let $j: M \to T$ be the open inclusion of complement of a toric arrangement in the corresponding torus, so the equality $j_*\mathbb{Z}_M = \mathbb{Z}_T$ holds. The higher direct image sheaves $R^q j_*\mathbb{Z}_M$ and $R^q j_*\mathbb{Q}_M$ has been partially described in [Loo93] and in [Bib16a], respectively. The analogous of the following lemma for the sheaf $R^q j_*\mathbb{Q}_M$ has been proven in [Bib16a, Lemma 3.1]. We adapt the proof of [Bib16a] in order to study the cup product structure in the case of integer coefficients.

Lemma 2.3.2. Let i_W be the inclusion $W \hookrightarrow T$ for $W \in S$. For all natural numbers q there exists an isomorphism of sheaves:

$$\varphi_q \colon \bigoplus_{\mathrm{rk}\,W=q} (i_W)_* \mathbb{Z}_W \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W]); \mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$$

Proof. Recall that the sheaf $R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$ is the sheafification of the presheaf P, defined by:

$$P(U) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \check{H}^q(j^{-1}(U); \mathbb{Z}_M) = H^q(U \cap M; \mathbb{Z}).$$

We define the sheaves $\epsilon_W = (i_W)_* \mathbb{Z}_W \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^{\operatorname{rk} W}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]); \mathbb{Z})$ for all $W \in \mathcal{S}$. Let $U \subset T$ be an open set, we have

$$\epsilon_W(U) = H^0(U \cap W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^{\operatorname{rk} W}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]); \mathbb{Z}).$$

For all $x \in T$ we choose a neighbourhood basis of open sets U such that $U \cap M$ is isomorphic to a small neighbourhood of the origin in $M(\mathcal{A}[x])$. By definition $\mathcal{A}[x] = \mathcal{A}[W_x]$ where W_x is the minimal layer containing x. We call this basis of the topology \mathcal{U} . Define the morphism of sheaves $\varphi_W : \epsilon_W \to R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$ such that for each open $U \in \mathcal{U}$ is

$$\varphi_W(U): H^0(U \cap W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W_x]); \mathbb{Z}) \to H^q(U \cap M; \mathbb{Z})$$

the pullback of the inclusion $U \cap M \hookrightarrow M(\mathcal{A}[W_x])$ composed with the cup product. Let φ_q be the direct sum map from $\epsilon_q := \bigoplus_{\mathrm{rk} W = q} \epsilon_W$ into $R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

We show that φ_q is the desired isomorphism by checking on the stalks. The stalk of $R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_W$ at x is

$$(R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M)_x = H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W_x]); \mathbb{Z})$$

and for $x \in T$ the map

$$(\varphi_q)_x : (\epsilon_q)_x = \bigoplus_{\substack{\mathrm{rk} W = q \\ W \ni x}} H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W]); \mathbb{Z}) \to H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W_x]); \mathbb{Z})$$

is the Brieskorn isomorphism, therefore φ_q is an isomorphism.

In order to study the product map $f_{q,q'}$, we introduce the map

$$b_{W,W',L} \colon \epsilon_W \otimes \epsilon_{W'} \to \epsilon_L$$

which is defined as follows: if L is a connected component of $W \cap W'$ of rank $\operatorname{rk} L = \operatorname{rk} W + \operatorname{rk} W'$ we set:

$$b_{W,W',L}((\alpha \otimes a) \otimes (\gamma \otimes c)) = (\alpha_{|L}\gamma_{|L}) \otimes (b_{W,L}(a) \cup b_{W',L}(c))$$

where $b_{W,L}$ is the Brieskorn inclusion:

$$H^{\operatorname{rk} W}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]);\mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^{\operatorname{rk} W}(M(\mathcal{A}[L]_W);\mathbb{Z}) \hookrightarrow H^{\operatorname{rk} W}(M(\mathcal{A}[L]);\mathbb{Z}).$$

Otherwise we define $b_{W,W',L}$ to be zero. Now we can consider the direct sum map

$$b_{q,q'} = \bigoplus_{\substack{\operatorname{rk} W = q \\ \operatorname{rk} W' = q' \\ \operatorname{rk} L = q + q'}} b_{W,W',L} \colon \epsilon_q \otimes \epsilon_{q'} \to \epsilon_{q+q'}.$$

Lemma 2.3.3. The isomorphism φ of Lemma 2.3.2 is compatible with $f_{q,q'}$ and $b_{q,q'}$, i.e. the diagram below commutes.



Proof. It is sufficient to show that $f_{q,q'} \circ \varphi_q \otimes \varphi_{q'}$ and $\varphi_{q+q'} \circ b_{q,q'}$ agree on all stalks. Let x be a point in T and $\alpha \otimes a$ and $\gamma \otimes c$ be elements of $(\epsilon_W)_x$ and of $(\epsilon_{W'})_x$, respectively. Let L be the connected component of $W \cap W'$ containing x and W_x be the minimal layer containing x. From the fact that

$$b_{L,W_x} \circ (b_{W,L}(a) \cup b_{W',L}(c)) = b_{W,W_x}(a) \cup b_{W',W_x}(c)$$

we have that both stalks are $\alpha \gamma b_{W,W_x}(a) \cup b_{W',W_x}(c)$.

The next Theorem appeared first in [CD17]. An analogue on the rationals was proven in [Bib16a, Lemma 3.2] in a more general setting using some Hodge theory.

Theorem 2.3.4 ([CD17, Theorem 5.1.3]). The Leray spectral sequence associated with the inclusion $M \hookrightarrow T$ degenerates at the second page. Hence the two algebras $E_2^{\bullet,\bullet}(M)$ and $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Z})$ are isomorphic.

Up to changing the coefficients, the filtration F_{\bullet} coincides with the one defined in [DP05, Remark 4.3]. From now on, we denote by gr $H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Z})$ the bigraded, graded commutative, \mathbb{Z} -algebra associated with $H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Z})$ with respect to the filtration $\{F_n^{\bullet}\}_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}$.

2.4 Graded cohomology with integer coefficients

Let $\mathcal{A} = (\chi_e, b_e)_{e \in E}$ be a toric arrangement in T. We define the following algebra.

Definition 2.4.1. Let $A^{p,q}(\mathcal{A})$ be the vector space

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q}(\mathcal{A}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigoplus_{W \in \mathcal{S}_q(\mathcal{A})} H^p(W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W]; \mathbb{Z}).$$

The graded vector space $A^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathcal{A}) = \bigoplus_{p,q} A^{p,q}(\mathcal{A})$ is endowed of the following product. Let $\alpha \otimes a$ and $\gamma \otimes c$ two element in $H^p(W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W]; \mathbb{Z}))$ and in $H^{p'}(W'; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^{q'}(M(\mathcal{A}[W']; \mathbb{Z}))$, respectively. If $\operatorname{rk} W + \operatorname{rk} W' \neq \operatorname{rk} W \cap W'$, then $(\alpha \otimes a) \cdot (\gamma \otimes c) = 0$. Otherwise, set

$$(\alpha \otimes a) \cdot (\gamma \otimes c) = (-1)^{p'q} \sum_{L \in \pi_0(W \cap W')} (i^*_{W,L} \alpha \cup i^*_{W',L} \gamma) \otimes (b_{W,L}(a) \cup b_{W',L}(b)),$$

where $i_{W,L}$ is the inclusion $L \hookrightarrow W$ and $b_{W,L}$ is the Brieskorn inclusion $H^q(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}[L]_W) \hookrightarrow H^q(\mathcal{M}[L]).$

Theorem 2.4.2. The second page of the Leray spectral sequence defined in Lemma 2.3.1 is isomorphic as a bigraded algebra to $A(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. The isomorphism $\varphi_q : \epsilon_q \to R^q j_* \mathbb{Z}_M$ of Lemma 2.3.2 induces an isomorphism in cohomology:

$$\tilde{\varphi}_q: \bigoplus_{\mathrm{rk}\,W=q} H^{\bullet}(W;\mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} H^q(M(\mathcal{A}[W]);\mathbb{Z}) \to E_2^{\bullet,q}(M)$$

Hence we have an isomorphism $\tilde{\varphi} \colon A^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathcal{A}) \to E_2^{\bullet,\bullet}(M)$; Lemma 2.3.3 ensures then that $\tilde{\varphi}$ is an isomorphism of algebras.

As a consequence of the previous statements we obtain the following result.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Theorem 2.4.3. For any toric arrangement A, there exists an isomorphism of bigraded \mathbb{Z} -algebras:

$$f: \mathrm{A}^{\bullet, \bullet}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$$

Proof. The result follows since the map f is the composition the isomorphism given in Theorem 2.4.2 between $A^{\bullet,\bullet}(\mathcal{A})$ and $E_2^{\bullet,\bullet}(M)$ and the isomorphism of Theorem 2.3.4.

2.5 Graded cohomology with rational coefficients

In this section we give a purely combinatorial presentation of the bigraded algebra $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$. We begin by defining the ring $\mathrm{B}(\mathcal{A})$, then we exhibit a basis of this \mathbb{Q} -vector space and finally we show an isomorphism between the objects $\mathrm{B}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$.

Definition 2.5.1. Let $\wedge [f_{W,A;B}]$ be the exterior algebra on generators $f_{W,A;B}$ where $A \sqcup B$ is an independent set and W a connected component of $\bigcap_{e \in A} H_e$; the bi-degree of the generator $f_{W,A}$ is (|B|, |A|). The algebra $B(\mathcal{A})$ is the quotient of quotient of $\wedge [f_{W,A;B}]$ by the following types of relations:

• For any two generators $f_{W,A;B}$, $f_{W',A';B'}$,

$$f_{W,A;B}f_{W',A';B'} = 0$$

if A, A', B, B' are not pairwise disjoint or if $A \sqcup B \sqcup A' \sqcup B'$ is a dependent set, and otherwise

$$f_{W,A;B}f_{W',A';B'} = (-1)^{\ell(A\cup B,A'\cup B')} \sum_{L\in\pi_0(W\cap W')} f_{L,A\cup A';B\cup B'}.$$
 (2.6)

• For every circuit $C \subseteq E$ a relation

$$\sum_{i \in E} c_i m(C \setminus \{i\}) f_{T,\emptyset;\{i\}} = 0, \qquad (2.7)$$

where c_i are defined in Definition 1.1.4 (see also Corollary 2.2.13).

• For every circuit $C \subseteq E$ a relation

$$\sum_{i\in C} (-1)^i f_{W,C\setminus\{i\};\emptyset} = 0.$$
(2.8)

Remark 2.5.2. The presentation of the algebra $B(\mathcal{A})$ depends on the choice of an orientation χ of the arithmetic matroid $(E, \mathrm{rk}_{\mathcal{A}}, m_{\mathcal{A}})$. However, the algebra $B(\mathcal{A})$ depends only on the poset of layers $S(\mathcal{A})$. Let ω be a generator of $H^1(\mathbb{C}^*;\mathbb{Z})$, $\psi_i := \chi_i^*(\omega)$, and ψ_B be the product $\prod_{i \in B} \psi_i$.

Theorem 2.5.3. The assignment

$$f_{W,A;B} \mapsto (-1)^{\ell(B,A)} \psi_B \otimes e_A \in H^{|B|}(W) \otimes H^{|A|}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]))$$

induces an isomorphism $g: B(\mathcal{A}) \to A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$.

As consequence we obtain:

Corollary 2.5.4. The map

$$f \circ g \colon \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{gr}_{\mathcal{F}} H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$$

is an isomorphism.

We recall the definitions from [DP05].

Definition 2.5.5. A set $A \subseteq E$ is a associated with $W \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ if W is a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in C} H_i$.

Let $W \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ be a layer and consider the subgroup $\Gamma_W < \Lambda$ given by all characters that vanish on W. Since \mathcal{A} is essential, we choose dim W characters in our arrangement such that they form a basis of $\Lambda/\Gamma_W \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$. Let $\mathcal{C}_W \subset E$ be the indexing set of these chosen characters. Notice that $|\mathcal{C}_W| = \dim W$.

Lemma 2.5.6. Let \mathcal{A} be an essential toric arrangement. Then a set of generators of $B(\mathcal{A})$ as \mathbb{Q} -vector space is given by the elements $f_{W,S;T}$ with S no broken circuit associated with W and T a subset of \mathcal{C}_W .

Proof. It is sufficient to show that any generic element $f_{W,A;B}$ can be written as linear combination of the ones $f_{W,S;R}$ with S no broken circuit associated with W and R a subset of \mathcal{C}_W . By relation eq.(2.8) we can write each $f_{W,A;B}$ as sum of certain $f_{W,S;B}$ with S a no broken circuit associated with W. Since $f_{W,S;B} = (-1)^{\ell(S,B)} f_{W,S;\emptyset} f_{T,\emptyset;B}$, by relations eq: (2.7) $f_{T,\emptyset;B}$ can be written as linear combination of some $f_{T,\emptyset;R}$ with $R \subseteq \mathcal{C}_W$ or $R \cap S \neq \emptyset$. In the first case $(-1)^{\ell(S,B)} f_{W,S;\emptyset} f_{T,\emptyset;R} = f_{W,S;R}$ that is an element in our set of generators. In the case $R \cap S \neq \emptyset$, the relations eq. (2.6) show that $f_{W,S;\emptyset} f_{T,\emptyset;R} = 0$ in $B(\mathcal{A})$.

Lemma 2.5.7. The map $g: B(\mathcal{A}) \to A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ of Theorem 2.5.3 is well defined.

Proof. We need to show that relations 2.6-2.8 hold in $A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

• for each pair of generators $f_{W,A;B}, f_{W',A';B'}$ we have

$$g(f_{W,A;B}f_{W',A';B'}) = (-1)^{\ell(B,A) + \ell(B',A')} (\psi_B \otimes e_A) (\psi_{B'} \otimes e_{A'}).$$

If $A \sqcup A'$ is dependent than both side are zero, otherwise,

$$g(f_{W,A;B}f_{W',A';B'}) = (-1)^l \sum_{L \in \pi_0(W \cap W')} \psi_B \psi_{B'} \otimes e_A e_{A'},$$

where $l = \ell(B, A) + \ell(B', A') + |A||B'|$. Now $\psi_B \psi_{B'} \neq 0$ in $H(L; \mathbb{Z})$ if and only if $A \sqcup B \sqcup A' \sqcup B'$ is a dependent set, otherwise

$$g(f_{W,A;B}f_{W',A';B'}) = (-1)^{l+k} \sum_{L \in \pi_0(W \cap W')} g(f_{L,A \cup A';B \cup B'}),$$

where $k = \ell(B \cup B', A \cup A') + \ell(B, B') + \ell(A, A')$. Since both $\ell(B, A) + \ell(B', A') + \ell(B \cup A, B' \cup A')$ and $|A||B'| + \ell(B, B') + \ell(A, A') + \ell(B \cup B', A \cup A')$ are the sign of the permutation that reorders (B, A, B', A'), we conclude that $k + l \equiv l(A \cup B, A' \cup B') \mod 2$.

- The equation $\sum_{i \in E} c_i m(C \setminus \{i\}) \psi_i = 0$ holds by Corollary 2.2.13 and by the isomorphism $H^1(T; \mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Lambda$.
- The last relation holds because for each circuit C associated with W the equation $\sum_{i \in C} (-1)^i e_{C \setminus \{i\}}$ holds in $H(M(\mathcal{A}[W]; \mathbb{Z})$ (see eq. (2.1)). \Box

Proof of Theorem 2.5.3. The map g is surjective because $H^{\bullet}(W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ is generated in degree one by the elements ψ_i with $i \in \mathcal{C}_W$. Notice that this fact is false without tensoring by \mathbb{Q} in the case W = T and \mathcal{A} a non-surjective arrangement.

Using Theorem 2.4.3 and lemma 2.5.6, the dimension of $B(\mathcal{A})$ is at most

$$\sum_{W \in \mathcal{S}} 2^{\dim W} |\operatorname{nbc}_{\operatorname{rk} W}(\mathcal{A}[W])|.$$

This number is equal to $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}} A(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$, since by Theorem 2.2.16 we have

$$\dim_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q} = \operatorname{Poin}(M(\mathcal{A}), 1) = \sum_{W \in \mathcal{S}} 2^{\dim W} |\operatorname{nbc}_{\operatorname{rk} W}(\mathcal{A}[W])|.$$

This completes the proof.

Example 2.5.8. Consider the toric arrangement \mathcal{B} of Example 2.2.11. The layers of rank two are 3 points:

$$p = (1, 1) = H_0 \cap H_1 \cap H_2$$
$$q = (1, \zeta_3) \subset H_0 \cap H_1$$
$$r = (1, \zeta_3^2) \subset H_0 \cap H_1$$

An additive basis for the cohomology algebra of the complement is formed by

$$e_1, e_2, y_0, y_1, y_2$$

in degree one and by

 $e_{12}, e_1y_0, e_1y_1, e_2y_2, y_{p,01}, y_{p,02}, y_{q,01}, y_{r,01}$

in degree two. Notice that this agree with eq. (2.4).

2.6 Some formal identities

In this section we derive some identities among the forms associated with a circuit $C \subseteq E$. For ease of notation we identify E as a subset of \mathbb{N} with the natural order, and we suppose that $C = \{0, 1, \ldots, k\}$. Then the characters χ_0, \ldots, χ_k exhibit a linear dependency, and we examine different cases according to the signs of the coefficients of this linear dependency.

The results of this section will be enough in order to treat the unimodular case, where (see Remark 2.2.14) such coefficients must be units.

Logarithmic forms

We will study presentations of the cohomology algebra that use, as generators, a distinguished set of logarithmic forms.

We call $\sqrt{-1}$ by **i**.

Definition 2.6.1. For all $i \in E$ we set

$$\omega_i := \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - e^{\chi_i}), \quad \text{and} \quad \psi_i := \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(e^{\chi_i}).$$
(2.9)

For symmetry reasons, we also define the forms

$$\overline{\omega}_i := \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(1 - e^{\chi_i}) + \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(1 - e^{-\chi_i}) = 2\omega_i - \psi_i.$$
(2.10)

Given any $A = \{a_1 < \ldots < a_l\} \subseteq E$ we write

$$\psi_A := \psi_{a_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \psi_{a_l}.$$

and

$$\omega_A := \omega_{a_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \omega_{a_l}, \quad \text{resp.} \quad \overline{\omega}_A := \overline{\omega}_{a_1} \wedge \ldots \wedge \overline{\omega}_{a_l}.$$

Now, if $C = \{\chi_0, \ldots, \chi_k\} \subseteq E$ is a circuit of a unimodular arrangement, and we assume that

$$\chi_0 = \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} \chi_1,$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

De Concini-Procesi in [DP05, p. 410, eq. (20)] (see also Remark 2.6.2 below) prove the formal relation

$$\partial \omega_C = \sum_{\substack{\min C \in A \subseteq C, \\ B(A) \neq \emptyset}} (-1)^{\epsilon(A)} \omega_A \psi_{B(A)}$$
(2.11)

where the fixed total ordering on E is understood,

$$i(A) := \max(C \setminus A),$$

$$B(A) := (C \setminus A) \setminus i(A),$$

$$\epsilon(A) := |A| + \ell(A, C \setminus A),$$

and $\ell(A, C \setminus A)$ is the length of the permutation reordering $A, C \setminus A$ (see Definition 2.2.1).

Remark 2.6.2. Notice that in [DP11, eq. (15.3)] (and also in [DP05, eq. (20)]) there is a misprint concerning the sign: writing [k] for $\{1, \ldots, k\}$, the correct equation is

$$\omega_{[k]} = \sum_{I \subsetneq [k]} (-1)^{|I| + k + 1 + \ell(I, [k] \setminus I)} \omega_I \psi_{B(I \cup \{0\})} \omega_0.$$
(2.12)

To go from [DP11, eq. (15.3)] to our (2.11) it is enough to use the boundary relation

$$\partial \omega_C = \omega_{[k]} + \sum_{\substack{0 \in A \subseteq C, \\ |A| = k}} (-1)^{\epsilon(A)} \omega_A.$$

Example 2.6.3. Consider the unimodular arrangement \mathcal{B}' in $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^2$ given by the hypertori H_1, H_2, H_0 , where $H_0 = \{xy = 1\}$. The relation $\chi_0 = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ holds and the forms associated with \mathcal{B}' are

$$\omega_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - xy), \quad \omega_{1} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - y), \quad \omega_{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - x),$$

$$\psi_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(xy), \quad \psi_{1} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(y), \quad \psi_{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(x).$$

The set $C = \{\chi_0, \chi_1, \chi_2\}$ is the only circuit and relation (2.11) gives

$$\omega_0\omega_1 - \omega_0\omega_2 + \omega_1\omega_2 = \omega_0\psi_1$$

as can be checked directly. In the following we will use the arrangement \mathcal{B}' as a running example of a unimodular arrangement.

Lemma 2.6.4. If $\chi_0 = \sum_{i=1}^k \chi_i$, we have the following identity.

$$\omega_1 \cdots \omega_k = \omega_0 \prod_{i=2}^k (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1})$$
 (2.13)

Roberto Pagaria

Proof. We fix $j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$. Consider the non-zero products in the expansion of (2.13) that do not contain either the factor ω_j nor the factor ψ_j . In each one of these terms, all the factors ω_i for i > j have to appear. Instead, due to the fact that $\omega_i \wedge \psi_i = 0$, exactly one of the two terms ω_i and ψ_i has to appear for i < j. So the sum of the products not containing ω_j or ψ_j will be

$$\omega_0 \prod_{1 \le i < j} (-\omega_i + \psi_i) \prod_{i > j} \omega_i.$$

Hence we have,

$$\omega_0 \prod_{i=2}^k (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}) = \sum_{j=1}^k \omega_0 \prod_{1 \le i < j} (-\omega_i + \psi_i) \prod_{i > j} \omega_i =$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^k \sum_{\substack{0 \in A \subsetneq C, \\ i(A) = j}} (-1)^{|A| \le j|-1} \eta_A$$

where

$$\eta_A = \eta_0 \cdots \widehat{\eta_{i(A)}} \cdots \eta_k$$

and

$$\eta_i := \begin{cases} \omega_i & \text{if } i \in A \\ \psi_i & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We conclude the purely formal identity

$$\omega_0 \prod_{i=2}^{k} (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}) = \sum_{0 \in A \subsetneq C} (-1)^{|A_{\le i(A)}| - 1} \eta_A.$$
(2.14)

Now we use our assumption $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \chi_i = \chi_0$. It entails that the form $\vartheta^{(0)}$ defined before Proposition 15.6 in [DP11] equals ω_0 . In particular, again in the notation of [DP11], for $I \subset [k]$ we have

$$\Phi_{I}^{(0)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-1)^{\ell(I,[k]\setminus I)} \prod_{i \in I} \omega_{i} \prod_{j \in B(I \cup \{0\})} \psi_{j} \vartheta^{(0)} = (-1)^{i(I)-1} \eta_{I \cup \{0\}}$$

noticing that the products $\eta_{I\cup\{0\}}$ already follow the standard ordering. We can now use [DP11, eq. (15.3)], i.e.,

$$\sum_{I \subseteq [k]} (-1)^{|I|+k+1} \Phi_I^{(0)} = \omega_1 \cdots \omega_k$$

in order to rewrite Equation (2.14). If we take $A = I \cup \{0\}$, since $k - i(A) = |A| - |A_{\leq i(A)}|$, we obtain the claimed equality. \Box

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Lemma 2.6.5. If $\sum_{i=0}^{k} \chi_i = 0$, then we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}) = 0$$
(2.15)

or, using the forms $\overline{\omega}_i$ defined in eq. (2.10),

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} (\overline{\omega}_{i} + \psi_{i} - \overline{\omega}_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}) = 0.$$
(2.16)

 \square

Proof. We start by a formal identity which can be readily verified, e.g., by induction on k.

$$\omega_1 \cdots \omega_k = \omega_1 \prod_{i=2}^{\kappa} (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1})$$

We can now expand the left-hand side using Lemma 2.6.4 applied to the identity $(-\chi_0) = \sum_{i>0} \chi_i$. Collecting terms we obtain

$$0 = \left(\omega_1 - \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(1 - e^{-\chi_0})\right) \prod_{i=2}^k (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}).$$

Noticing that $\frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} d\log(1 - e^{-\chi_0}) = \omega_0 - \psi_0$ we conclude:

$$(\omega_1 - \omega_0 + \psi_0) \prod_{i=2}^k (\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}) = 0.$$

For the second equation we can immediately compute

$$2(\omega_i - \omega_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1}) = \overline{\omega}_i + \psi_i - \overline{\omega}_{i-1} + \psi_{i-1},$$

so multiplying formula (2.15) by 2^k we get the claimed identity.

Example 2.6.6. We continue with the arrangement introduced in Example 2.6.3. Since the relation

$$\chi_0 = \chi_1 + \chi_2$$

holds, from Lemma 2.6.4 we have $\omega_1\omega_2 = \omega_0(\omega_2 - \omega_1 + \psi_1)$. In order to apply Lemma 2.6.5 we set $\chi'_0 := -\chi_0$ (and hence $\omega'_0 = \omega_0 - \psi_0$ and $\psi'_0 = -\psi_0$) and if we consider the characters χ'_0, χ_1, χ_2 and the ordering (0, 1, 2) for the elements of the circuit we obtain

$$(\omega_1 - \omega'_0 + \psi'_0)(\omega_2 - \omega_1 + \psi_1) = 0,$$

while if we consider the ordering (0, 2, 1) we obtain the relation

$$(\omega_2 - \omega'_0 + \psi'_0)(\omega_1 - \omega_2 + \psi_2) = 0$$

as one can easily check by direct computation. The relations that we can obtain with different orderings of the elements in the circuit are consequences of the two above. **Lemma 2.6.7.** If $\sum_{i=0}^{k} c_i \chi_i = 0$ where $c_i = \pm 1$ for all *i*,

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} (\overline{\omega}_i + c_i \psi_i - \overline{\omega}_{i-1} + c_{i-1} \psi_{i-1}) = 0, \qquad (2.17)$$

Proof. We apply Lemma 2.6.5 to the identity $\sum_{i=0}^{k} \chi'_{i} = 0$ where we set $\chi'_{i} := c_{i}\chi_{i}$ for all *i*. A glance at Equations (2.9) and (2.10) shows that the forms $\overline{\omega}'_{i}$ and ψ'_{i} associated with the χ'_{i} satisfy $\overline{\omega}'_{i} = \overline{\omega}_{i}$ and $\psi'_{i} = c_{i}\psi_{i}$ for all *i*, proving the claimed equality.

Definition 2.6.8. Given a subset $A \subseteq E$, for every $i \in E$ let

$$\overline{\eta}_i^A := \begin{cases} \overline{\omega}_i & \text{if } i \in A \\ \psi_i & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Thus, if $B \subseteq E$ is disjoint from A we can define

$$\overline{\eta}_{A,B} := \prod_{i \in A \cup B} \overline{\eta}_i^A,$$

where the factors are in increasing order with respect to the total order on E.

Proposition 2.6.9. Let C be a circuit of the matroid such that the corresponding minimal linear dependency has the form $\sum_{i \in C} c_i \chi_i = 0$ where $c_i \in \{\pm 1\}$ for all i. Then,

$$\sum_{j \in C} \sum_{\substack{A,B \subset C\\C=A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\}}} (-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_B \overline{\eta}_{A,B} = 0$$

$$(2.18)$$

where, for every $B \subseteq E$, we write $c_B := \prod_{i \in B} c_i$. Moreover, as a consequence of the equation above we have

$$\sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \ even}} \sum_{\substack{(-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_B \overline{\eta}_{A,B} = 0. \\ (2.19)}$$

In particular $\partial \overline{\omega}_C$ corresponds to the sum of the terms with $B = \emptyset$.

Proof. Equation (2.17) can be rewritten as follows:

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k} \prod_{i < j} (-\overline{\omega}_i + c_i \psi_i) \prod_{i > j} (\overline{\omega}_i + c_i \psi_i) = 0$$
(2.20)

61

Expanding all the products and using Definition 2.6.8 we obtain the claimed formula (2.18).

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Moreover, using the negated equation $\sum_{i=0}^{k} -c_i \chi_i = 0$, Lemma 2.6.7 gives

$$\prod_{i=1}^{k} (\overline{\omega}_{i} - c_{i}\psi_{i} - \overline{\omega}_{i-1} - c_{i-1}\psi_{i-1}) = 0.$$
(2.21)

Adding this relation to the one in (2.17), and decomposing the expansion of the product in two parts, one containing all the terms $\omega_A \psi_B$ with |B| even and the other one containing all those terms with |B| odd, it can be shown that each of the two parts must equal 0.

In [DP05, Thm. 5.2] De Concini and Procesi prove that the complement of a unimodular toric arrangement is formal. They do this by showing that the rational cohomology ring is isomorphic to the sub-algebra of closed forms generated by $\omega_i = \text{dlog}(e^{b_i} - e^{\chi_i})$ for $i \in E$ and $\psi_{\chi} = \text{dlog}(e^{\chi})$ for $\chi \in \Lambda$. The formal relations among these generators are implicit in [DP05, eq. (20)].

Notice that if the arrangement \mathcal{A} is essential the forms $\psi_i = \operatorname{dlog}(e^{\chi_i})$ for $i \in E$ generate $H^1(T; \mathbb{Q})$. It follows that the relations stated in Proposition 2.6.9 above lead to a presentation of the cohomology ring with respect to the generators $\overline{\omega}_i$'s and ψ_i 's. Hence we have the following reformulation of the result of [DP05].

Theorem 2.6.10. Let \mathcal{A} be an essential unimodular toric arrangement. The rational cohomology algebra $H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Q})$ is isomorphic to the algebra \mathcal{E} with

- Set of generators $e_{A;B}$, where A and B are disjoint and such that $A \sqcup B$ is an independent set; the degree of the generator $e_{A;B}$ is $|A \sqcup B|$.
- The following types of relations
 - For any two generators $e_{A;B}$, $e_{A';B'}$,

$$e_{A;B}e_{A';B'} = 0 (2.22)$$

if $A \sqcup B \sqcup A' \sqcup B'$ is a dependent set, and otherwise

$$e_{A;B}e_{A';B'} = (-1)^{\ell(A\cup B,A'\cup B')}e_{A\cup A';B\cup B'}.$$
(2.23)

- For every linear dependency $\sum_{i \in E} n_i \chi_i = 0$ with $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, a relation

$$\sum_{i \in E} n_i e_{\emptyset;\{i\}} = 0.$$
 (2.24)

- For every circuit $C \subseteq E$, with linear dependency $\sum_{i \in C} n_i \chi_i = 0$ with $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, a relation

$$\sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.}}} \sum_{\substack{A, B \subset C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.}}} (-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_B e_{A;B} = 0$$
(2.25)

where, for all $i \in C$, $c_i := \operatorname{sgn} n_i$ and $c_B = \prod_{i \in B} c_i$.

Roberto Pagaria

Remark 2.6.11. In order to check that the presentation above gives the same algebra described in [DP05], we can first notice that relation (2.23) implies that our algebra is generated in degree 1, by elements of the form $e_{\{i\};\emptyset}$ and $e_{\emptyset;\{i\}}$, that correspond respectively to the generators λ_{a_i,χ_i} and ω_i in [DP05, p. 410]. Then our relation (2.22) corresponds to relation (2) of [DP05, p. 410]; our relation (2.24) corresponds to relation (1) of [DP05, p. 410] and our relation (2.25) corresponds to relation (20') that is implicit in [DP05].

Example 2.6.12. Going on with the arrangement of Example 2.6.3 and using the relation $-\chi_0 + \chi_1 + \chi_2 = 0$ we obtain that the rational cohomology of the complement of arrangement \mathcal{B}' has a presentation with generators

$$\overline{\omega}_0, \overline{\omega}_1, \overline{\omega}_2, \psi_0, \psi_1, \psi_2$$

where $-\psi_0 + \psi_1 + \psi_2 = 0$ and relation (2.19) (or equivalently relation (2.25)) gives

$$\overline{\omega}_0\overline{\omega}_1 - \overline{\omega}_0\overline{\omega}_2 + \overline{\omega}_1\overline{\omega}_2 - \psi_0\psi_1 - \psi_0\psi_2 + \psi_1\psi_2 = 0.$$

Note that $\psi_0\psi_1 + \psi_0\psi_2 = \psi_0\psi_0 = 0$ and hence the relation above can be simplified.

2.7 Coverings of arrangements

Recall that we consider a primitive arrangement \mathcal{A} in a torus T.

Given a lattice Λ' , $\Lambda \subseteq \Lambda' \subseteq \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ we consider the Galois covering $U \to T$ associated with the subgroup $\Lambda'^* \subseteq \Lambda^* \simeq \pi_1(T)$ whose group of deck automorphisms is $(\Lambda'/\Lambda)^* \simeq \operatorname{Gal}(U/T)$.

Definition 2.7.1. Let $f: U \to T$ be a finite covering, and call \mathcal{A}_U the lift of \mathcal{A} through f to the torus U. More precisely, let

$$\mathcal{A}_U := \bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{A}} \pi_0(f^{-1}(H)),$$

the set of connected components of preimages of hypertori in \mathcal{A} . Moreover, given $i \in E$ let

$$a_i := |\pi_0(f^{-1}(H_i))|$$

denote the number of connected components of $f^{-1}(H_i)$. Given $q \in f^{-1}(H_i)$, let

$$H_i^U(q)$$

denote the connected component of $f^{-1}(H_i)$ containing q.

Remark 2.7.2. The previous definition ensures that \mathcal{A}_U is again a primitive arrangement. It is, however, not necessarily central.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

In fact, if we call $\hat{\chi} := f \circ \chi$ the character of U induced by χ , we see that the connected components $f^{-1}(H_i)$ are associated with the (primitive) character $\frac{\hat{\chi}_i}{a_i}$. More precisely, every $L \in \pi_0(f^{-1}(H_i))$ has equation

$$\frac{\widehat{\chi}_i}{a_i} = \frac{\widehat{\chi}_i}{a_i}(q)$$

where q is any point of L.

Logarithmic forms on coverings

Our next task is to describe the logarithmic forms on $M(\mathcal{A}_U)$ associated with \mathcal{A}_U .

Let $f: U \to T$ be a finite covering and let $M(\mathcal{A}_U)$ be as above. The algebraic de Rham complex $\Omega^{\bullet}_{M(\mathcal{A}_U)}$ splits as direct sum of subcomplexes

$$\Omega^{\bullet}_{M(\mathcal{A}_U)} \simeq \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda'/\Lambda} \Omega^{\bullet}_{\lambda}$$
(2.26)

where $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\lambda}$ consists of forms α such that for any $\tau \in \operatorname{Gal}(U/T)$ we have that $\tau^*(\alpha) = \lambda(\tau)\alpha$. In particular the subcomplex of invariant forms $\Omega^{\bullet}_{\mathbb{1}}$ is canonically identified with $\Omega^{\bullet}_{M(\mathcal{A})}$.

For any $i \in E$ and any point $q \in f^{-1}(H_i)$ we set

$$\omega_i^U(q) := \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d}\log\left(1 - e^{\frac{\hat{\chi}_i}{a_i} - \frac{\hat{\chi}_i}{a_i}(q)}\right)$$
(2.27)

for the logarithmic form in $\Omega^1_{M(\mathcal{A}_U)}$ associated with $H_i(q)$. Notice that this form does not depend on the choice of q in the same connected component.

Moreover, let

$$\psi_i^U := \frac{f^*(\psi_i)}{a_i} = \mathrm{d}\log e^{\frac{\hat{\chi}_i}{a_i}},\tag{2.28}$$

where the upper symbol * denotes as usual the pull-back.

More generally, given any $A \subseteq E$, choose $q \in f^{-1}(\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i)$ and let

$$\overline{\omega}_{A}^{U}(q) := \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}_{i}^{U}(q) \quad \text{and} \quad \omega_{A}^{U}(q) := \prod_{i \in A} \omega_{i}^{U}(q), \tag{2.29}$$

where the factors are taken in increasing order with respect to the index i and $\overline{\omega}_i^U(q) := 2\omega_i^U(q) - \psi_i^U$. Moreover, under the same set-up, for disjoint A and B let

$$\overline{\eta}_{A,B}^U(q) := \prod_{i \in A \sqcup B} \overline{\eta}_i^U(q)$$

where $\overline{\eta}_i^U(q) = \overline{\omega}_i^U(q)$ if $i \in A$ and $\overline{\eta}_i^U(q) = \psi_i^U$ if $i \in B$.

Roberto Pagaria

Proposition 2.7.3. Let A be any set of indices and let W be a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$. Let p be any point in W. The class

$$\sum_{q\in f^{-1}(p)}\overline{\omega}^U_A(q)$$

is invariant with respect to the group G of deck automorphisms of f and it does not depend on the choice of the point p in W.

Proof. The only nontrivial case is when the characters associated with the indices in A are linearly independent, otherwise $\overline{\omega}_A^U(q) = 0$.

Let $\tau \in G$. Using the definitions we have the equalities

$$\begin{aligned} \tau^*(\omega_i^U(q)) &= \tau^* \left(\frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log \left(1 - e^{\frac{\chi_i}{a_i} - \frac{\chi_i}{a_i}(q)} \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log \left(1 - e^{\frac{\chi_i}{a_i} + \frac{\chi_i}{a_i}(\tau) - \frac{\chi_i}{a_i}(q)} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log \left(1 - e^{\frac{\chi_i}{a_i} - \frac{\chi_i}{a_i}(\tau^{-1}q)} \right) \\ &= \omega_i^U(\tau^{-1}(q)). \end{aligned}$$

Since the forms ψ_i are translation-invariant, we obtain immediately also

$$\tau^*(\overline{\omega}_i^U(q)) = \overline{\omega}_i^U(\tau^{-1}(q)).$$

If we write $A = \{a_1, \ldots, a_k\}$, we see that every form

$$\overline{\omega}_A^U(q) = \overline{\omega}_{a_1}^U(q)\overline{\omega}_{a_1}^U(q)\cdots\overline{\omega}_{a_k}^U(q)$$

satisfies

$$\tau^*\left(\overline{\omega}_A^U(q)\right) = \overline{\omega}_A^U(\tau^{-1}(q)).$$

The claim follows.

Definition 2.7.4. Let $\mathcal{A} = \{H_i\}_{i \in E}$ be a toric arrangement in the torus T and consider a finite covering $f : U \to T$. Consider an independent set $A \subseteq E$, let W be a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ and choose $p \in W$. Since the pullback map f^* is injective, we can define forms $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f$ and $\omega_{W,A}^f$ as the unique forms on $M(\mathcal{A})$ such that

$$f^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f) = \frac{1}{|\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i^U(q_0) \cap f^{-1}(p)|} \sum_{q \in f^{-1}(p)} \overline{\omega}_A^U(q)$$

and

$$f^*(\omega_{W,A}^f) = \frac{1}{|\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i^U(q_0) \cap f^{-1}(p)|} \sum_{q \in f^{-1}(p)} \omega_A^U(q)$$

where q_0 is any point in $f^{-1}(p)$.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

65



Figure 2.2: A picture on the compact torus of the covering described in Example 2.7.6.

Remark 2.7.5. If the arrangement \mathcal{A}_U is unimodular the formula in the definition above becomes

$$f^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f) = \frac{1}{|L \cap f^{-1}(p)|} \sum_{q \in f^{-1}(p)} \overline{\omega}_A^U(q)$$

where L is any connected component of $f^{-1}(W)$.

Example 2.7.6. We can now consider the arrangement \mathcal{B} of Example 2.2.11 and the covering $f: U = (\mathbb{C}^*)^2 \to T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^2$ given by $(u, v) \mapsto (u, v^3)$. The arrangement \mathcal{B}_U is unimodular and is given by the 7 hypertori with equations $u = 1, v = e^{\frac{2\pi i a}{3}}$ and $uv = e^{\frac{2\pi i b}{3}}$ for a, b = 0, 1, 2.

The three subarrangements of \mathcal{B}_U containing respectively the hypertori passing through $p_1 = (1, 1), p_2 = (1, e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}), p_3 = (1, e^{\frac{4\pi i}{3}})$ are, up to translation, isomorphic to the unimodular arrangement \mathcal{B}' , while the subarrangements passing through the other six points are all isomorphic to the boolean arrangement in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^2$ given by the hypertori with equations x = 1 and y = 1. We have the form

$$\begin{split} f^*(\overline{\omega}_{p,\{0,1\}}^f) = & \frac{-1}{4\pi^2} \left(\frac{1+uv}{1-uv} \frac{\mathrm{d}(uv)}{uv} \frac{1+v}{1-v} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,v}{v} + \frac{1+\zeta_3 uv}{1-\zeta_3 uv} \frac{\mathrm{d}(uv)}{uv} \frac{1+\zeta_3 v}{1-\zeta_3 v} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,v}{v} + \\ & + \frac{1+\zeta_3^2 uv}{1-\zeta_3^2 uv} \frac{\mathrm{d}(uv)}{uv} \frac{1+\zeta_3^2 v}{1-\zeta_3^2 v} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,v}{v} \right) = \\ & = & \frac{-3}{4\pi^2} \frac{u^3 v^6 + u^3 v^3 + 4u^2 v^3 + 4uv^3 + v^3 + 1}{uv \left(v^3 - 1\right) \left(u^3 v^3 - 1\right)} \,\mathrm{d}\,u\,\mathrm{d}\,v \end{split}$$

where $\zeta_3 = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$ and hence, taking the pushforward and dividing by the degree, we get

$$\overline{\omega}_{p,\{0,1\}}^{f} = \frac{-1}{4\pi^{2}} \frac{x^{3}y^{2} + x^{3}y + 4x^{2}y + 4xy + y + 1}{xy \left(y - 1\right) \left(x^{3}y - 1\right)} \,\mathrm{d}\,x\,\mathrm{d}\,y.$$

2.8 Separation

To deal with the non-unimodular case, the following definition turns out to be useful.

Definition 2.8.1. Let A be an independent subset of E. We say that a covering $f: U \to T$ separates A if, for any connected component W of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ and for all $i \in A$ there exist $q_i \in f^{-1}(H_i)$ such that $f(\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i^U(q_i)) = W$.

Remark 2.8.2. If $f: U \to T$ is a covering such that the arrangement \mathcal{A}_U is unimodular, then f separates A for all independent set $A \subset E$.

Proposition 2.8.3. Let $A \subseteq E$ be an independent set. There exists a covering $f: U \to T$ that separates A.

Proof. Let Γ be a direct summand of $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A$ in Λ , hence $\Lambda = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A \oplus \Gamma$. Consider the lattice

$$\Lambda(A) := \left\langle \frac{\chi_i}{m(A)} \right\rangle_{i \in A} \oplus \Gamma \subseteq \Lambda \otimes \mathbb{Q}.$$

We have the tower of subgroups

$$\Gamma_A \subseteq \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A \subseteq \left\langle \frac{\chi_i}{m(A)} \right\rangle_{i \in A}$$

where by definition $[\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A : \Gamma_A] = m(A)$. Moreover since A is independent we have $[\langle \frac{\chi_i}{m(A)} \rangle_{i \in A} : \Gamma_A] = m(A)^{|A|}$. Hence we have $[\langle \frac{\chi_i}{m(A)} \rangle_{i \in A} : \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A] =$ $m(A)^{|A|-1}$. The inclusion $\Lambda \subseteq \Lambda(A)$ induces a covering $f: U \to T$ of degree $[\Lambda(A) : \Lambda] = [\langle \frac{\chi_i}{m(A)} \rangle_{i \in A} : \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_A] = m(A)^{|A|-1}$. The first equality follows since Γ is a direct summand of both terms in the left hand side.

This covering separates A. In fact, we claim that for every connected component W of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ and any choice of a point $q \in f^{-1}(W)$, the intersection $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i^U(q)$ is connected. To prove this claim, let k denote the number of connected components of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i^U(q)$. We count in two different ways the number of connected components of $f^{-1}(\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i)$. On the one hand, for every i we have m(A) connected components of $f^{-1}(H_i)$ and, once we have chosen for every i a connected hypertorus in $f^{-1}(H_i)$, their intersection has k connected components. In this way we have $km(A)^{|A|}$ such components. On the other hand, the number of connected components of the preimage of each of the m(A) connected components of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ is at most $m(A)^{\operatorname{rk}(A)-1}$, the degree of the covering – hence we obtain a count of at most $m(A)^{\operatorname{rk}(A)} = m(A)^{|A|}$ components. We conclude k = 1.

The following theorem motivates our definition of separating coverings.

Theorem 2.8.4. Let $A \subset E$ be an independent set. If $f : U \to T$ and $g: V \to T$ are coverings that separate A, then $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f = \overline{\omega}_{W,A}^g$. Analogously we have $\omega_{W,A}^f = \omega_{W,A}^g$.

In the proof we will make use of the following remark.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Remark 2.8.5. For every index i, let $H_{i,1}^U, \ldots H_{i,m_i}^U$, denote the connected components of $f^{-1}(H_i)$ and $\overline{\omega}_{i,j}^U := \overline{\omega}_{H_{i,j}^U}$ be the associated forms.

If we assume that f separates A, then Definition 2.7.4 is equivalent to

$$f^*(\overline{\omega}^f_{W,A}) = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{1} \leq \mathbf{j} \leq \mathbf{m} \\ \cap_i H^U_{i,j_i} \subseteq f^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}^U_{i,j_i}$$

where the sum is indexed using the componentwise ordering among integer A-tuples $\mathbf{1} := (1, \ldots, 1), \mathbf{j} := (j_i)_{i \in A}, \mathbf{m} := (m_i)_{i \in A}$.

Proof of Theorem 2.8.4. We give the proof for $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f = \overline{\omega}_{W,A}^g$, the other case being identical.

The theorem follows in its generality if we first assume that the statement holds when $g = f \circ h$, where $h : V \to U$ is a finite covering. In this case we have

$$V \xrightarrow{g} T$$

and

$$g^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f) = h^*(f^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f)) = h^*\left(\sum_{\substack{1 \le \mathbf{j} \le \mathbf{m} \\ \cap_i H_{i,j_i}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}_{i,j_i}^U\right)$$

where the multi-index **j** is as in the Remark 2.8.5. The last equality follows since f separates A.

Again Remark 2.8.5 applied to g gives

$$g^*(\overline{\omega}^g_{W,A}) = \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{1} \leq \mathbf{k} \leq \mathbf{n} \\ \cap_i H^V_{i,k_i} \subseteq g^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}^V_{i,k_i}.$$

where for all $i, H_{i,1}^V, \ldots, H_{i,n_i}^V$ are the connected components of $g^{-1}(H_i)$, $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, \ldots, k_{|A|})$, and $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \ldots, n_{|A|})$.

Now we have that

$$h^*(\overline{\omega}_{i,j_i}^U) = \sum_{h(H_{i,k_i}^V) = H_{i,j_i}^U} \overline{\omega}_{i,k_i}^V.$$

Hence from the previous equality we get

$$\begin{split} g^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f) &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{1} \leq \mathbf{j} \leq \mathbf{m} \\ \cap_i H_{i,j_i}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} h^*(\overline{\omega}_{i,j_i}^U) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{1} \leq \mathbf{j} \leq \mathbf{m} \\ \cap_i H_{i,j_i}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \sum_{\substack{h(H_{i,k_i}^V) = H_{i,j_i}^U \\ i \leq \mathbf{k} \leq \mathbf{m} \\ \cap_i H_{i,j_i}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W)}} \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{1} \leq \mathbf{k} \leq \mathbf{n} \\ h(H_{i,k_i}^V) = H_{i,j_i}^U \\ i \in A}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}_{i,k_i}^V \\ &= \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{1} \leq \mathbf{k} \leq \mathbf{n} \\ \cap_i H_{i,k_i}^V \subseteq g^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}_{i,k_i}^V \\ &= g^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^g). \end{split}$$

Finally, in the general case of two coverings $f: U \to T$ and $g: V \to T$, we can consider the diagram



where $h: V' \to U$ is the pullback of g by f and $g' = f \circ h$. Since f separates A, then also g' separates A and we apply the first part of the proof to the maps f and g'.

Remark 2.8.6. Since the covering $f: U \to V$ is finite, we have that $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f = f_* \overline{\omega}_A^U(q)$ for any $q \in f^{-1}(W)$ where f_* is the pushforward associated with the covering map f.

Using Theorem 2.8.4, we can state the following definition.

Definition 2.8.7. Given $A \subset E$ independent and given W a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$, we define

$$\overline{\omega}_{W,A} := \overline{\omega}_{W,A}^f$$

and

$$\omega_{W,A} := \omega_{W,A}^f$$

where $f: U \to T$ is any covering that separates A.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Remark 2.8.8. We would like to convince the reader that the definition of the forms $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}$ and $\omega_{W,A}$ given above is the most natural choice in order to provide a set of form generating the cohomology of the toric complement.

As seen in (2.26), once we fix a covering $f : U \to T$ with Galois group G, the *G*-module $\Omega^1(M(\mathcal{A}_U))$ has a natural decomposition as a direct sum of semi-invariant modules associated with the characters of G. The forms defined above can be identified with certain *G*-invariant forms on $M(\mathcal{A}_U)$. We have that

$$\Omega^k_{\lambda}\Omega^{k'}_{\lambda'} \subseteq \Omega^{k+k'}_{\lambda+\lambda'}.$$

In particular, if the sum of the characters of the factors is the trivial character, we get invariant forms, which correspond to forms on $M(\mathcal{A})$.

The hypothesis that f separates A guarantees that we obtain enough semiinvariant 1-forms associated with the hypertori $f^{-1}(H_i)$, for $i \in A$, in order to obtain m(A) independent invariant classes.

Lemma 2.8.9. If $A, A' \subseteq E$ are such that $A \sqcup A'$ is an independent set and W, resp. W' are a choice of a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$, resp. $\bigcap_{i \in A'} H_i$, we can compute

$$\overline{\omega}_{W,A}\overline{\omega}_{W',A'} = (-1)^{\ell(A,A')} \sum_{L \in \pi_0(W \cap W')} \overline{\omega}_{L,A \sqcup A'}.$$

Proof. Consider a covering $f: U \to T$ that separates the independent set $A \sqcup A'$ (e.g. the one described in Proposition 2.8.3). Then, by definition, in order to evaluate the product $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}\overline{\omega}_{W',A'}$ we consider its pullback $f^*(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}\overline{\omega}_{W',A'})$ which, with Remark 2.8.5, equals

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq \mathbf{j} \leq \mathbf{m} \\ \cap_i H_{i,j_i}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}_{i,j_i}^U \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq \mathbf{j}' \leq \mathbf{m}' \\ \cap_{i'} H_{i',j_i'}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W')}} \prod_{i' \in A'} \overline{\omega}_{i',j_i'}^U \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \leq (\mathbf{j},\mathbf{j}') \leq (\mathbf{m},\mathbf{m}') \\ \cap_i H_{i,j_i}^U \cap_{i'} H_{i',j_{i'}}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W' \cap W)}} \prod_{i \in A} \overline{\omega}_{i,j_i}^U \prod_{i' \in A'} \overline{\omega}_{i,j_i'}^U \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \leq \mathbf{j} \leq (\mathbf{m},\mathbf{m}') \\ \cap_{i \in A \sqcup A'} H_{i,\overline{j}_i}^U \subseteq f^{-1}(W' \cap W)}} (-1)^{\ell(A,A')} \prod_{i \in A \sqcup A'} \overline{\omega}_{i,\overline{j}_i}^U ,$$

where $\mathbf{\bar{j}} = (\mathbf{j}, \mathbf{j'})$. The latter equals, by definition

$$f^*\left((-1)^{\ell(A,A')}\sum_{L\in\pi_0(W\cap W')}\overline{\omega}_{L,A\sqcup A'}\right)$$

as was to be shown.

Roberto Pagaria

Remark 2.8.10. Assume that $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ is connected and call it W. Then, since the identity separates A, we have $\overline{\omega}_{W,A} = \overline{\omega}_A$.

Definition 2.8.11. Given $A \subset E$ independent and given W a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$, we write $\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}$ for the form

$$(-1)^{\ell(A,B)}\overline{\omega}_{W,A}\psi_B.$$

In the following if W is not a connected component of $\cap_{i \in A} H_i$ the expression $\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}$ will be considered as meaningless and it will be treated as zero.

Remark 2.8.12. We have the following consequence of Lemma 2.8.9. If $A, A', B, B' \subseteq E$ are such that $A \sqcup A' \sqcup B \sqcup B'$ is an independent set and W, resp. W' are a choice of a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$, resp. $\bigcap_{i \in A'} H_i$, we can compute

$$\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}\overline{\eta}_{W',A',B'} = (-1)^{\ell(A\cup B,A'\cup B')} \sum_{L\in\pi_0(W\cap W')} \overline{\eta}_{L,A\sqcup A',B\sqcup B'}.$$

Definition 2.8.13. We introduce the increasing filtration F of $H^*(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z})$ defined by

$$\mathbf{F}_i H^*(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z}) := \sum_{j \le i} H^j(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z}) \cdot H^*(T; \mathbb{Z}).$$

Such a filtration is the Leray filtration of the inclusion $M(\mathcal{A}) \hookrightarrow T$. The same filtration, with rational coefficients, was introduced in [DP05, Remark 4.3.(2)]. The associated graded module is

$$\operatorname{gr}_{k}(H^{*}(M(\mathcal{A}))) = \bigoplus_{\substack{W \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \\ \operatorname{codim}(W) = k}} H^{*}(W) \otimes H^{k}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]))$$
(2.30)

where $\mathcal{A}[W]$ is the hyperplane arrangement introduced in Definition 2.2.9.

Lemma 2.8.14. Let $A, B \subseteq E$ such that $A \sqcup B$ is independent and let W be a connected component of $\cap_{i \in A} H_i$. Then, the image of $\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}$ in the graded ring $\operatorname{gr}_{|A|}(H^*(M(\mathcal{A})))$ equals

$$(-1)^{\ell(B,A)} 2^{|A|} \psi_B \otimes e_A \in H^{|B|}(W) \otimes H^{|A|}(M(\mathcal{A}[W])),$$

where e_A denotes the canonical generator in the top-degree of the OS-algebra of the hyperplane arrangement $\mathcal{A}[W]$ associated with the hyperplanes indexed by A (cf. Definition 2.2.9).

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Proof. We consider the corresponding graduation gr^U for the lift to a unimodular covering $f: U \to T$ (e.g., the one separating A in Proposition 2.8.3).

By multiplicativity of gr_k , it suffices to prove the case $B = \emptyset$. We thus have to consider $\overline{\omega}_{W,A}$ which, by Remark 2.8.6, can be written as $\overline{\omega}_{W,A} = f_*\overline{\omega}_A^U(q)$, where q is a fixed point in $f^{-1}(W)$. Now,

$$\operatorname{gr}_{k}^{U}\left(\overline{\omega}_{A}^{U}(q)\right) = \operatorname{gr}_{k}^{U}\left(2^{|A|}\omega_{A}^{U}(q)\right),$$

hence

$$\operatorname{gr}_k(\overline{\omega}_{W,A}) = f_*(\operatorname{gr}_k \overline{\omega}_A^U(q)) = \operatorname{gr}_k(2^{|A|}\omega_{W,A})$$

and, since $\exp_p^*(\omega_i) = e_i$, the class $[2^{|A|}\omega_{W,A}]$ maps to the element $2^{|A|} \otimes e_A$ in $H^0(W) \otimes H^{|A|}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]))$ as desired. \Box

2.9 Rational cohomology

Let $\mathcal{A} = \{H_0, \ldots, H_k\}$ be a primitive, central and essential arrangement in the torus T. Suppose further that the associated matroid has exactly one circuit C = E, and hence $\operatorname{rk} E = k$. Let χ_0, \ldots, χ_k be the associated list of characters.

Recall that $\Gamma_C \subset \Lambda$ is the sublattice generated by the characters of C and $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_C$ is the intersection $(\mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \Gamma_C) \cap \Lambda$.

Definition 2.9.1. For every $i = 0, \ldots, k$ set

$$a_i := \prod_{j \neq i} m(C \setminus \{j\}).$$

We call $\Lambda(C)$ the lattice in $\mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \Lambda$ generated by the elements $\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}$.

Remark 2.9.2. Since the matroid associated with \mathcal{A} has exactly one circuit (i.e. C = E) and \mathcal{A} is essential we have that $\Lambda = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{C}$, hence m(C) is precisely the index of Γ_{C} in Λ .

Lemma 2.9.3. In $\Lambda(C)$ we have the relation

$$\sum_{i=0}^{k} c_i \frac{\chi_i}{a_i} = 0 \tag{2.31}$$

where $c_i \in \{+1, -1\}$ for all *i*.

Proof. This follows from Corollary 2.2.13, since the product

$$a_i m(C \setminus \{i\}) = \prod_{j=0}^k m(C \setminus \{j\})$$

does not depend on the index i.

Roberto Pagaria
Lemma 2.9.4. The lattice $\Lambda(C)$ contains Λ .

Proof. We split the claim into two inclusions:

$$\Lambda \stackrel{(\mathrm{i})}{\subseteq} \frac{1}{m(C)} \Gamma_C \stackrel{(\mathrm{ii})}{\subseteq} \Lambda(C).$$

Inclusion (i) follows from the fact that, by Remark 2.9.2 the quotient Λ/Γ_C is a group of cardinality m(C), hence $m(C)\Lambda \subset \Gamma_C$.

For inclusion (ii), notice that every element of $\frac{1}{m(C)}\Gamma_C$ can be written as a combination

$$\frac{1}{m(C)}\sum_{i=0}^{k}n_{i}\chi_{i} = \sum_{i=0}^{k}\left(\frac{n_{i}a_{i}}{m(C)}\right)\frac{\chi_{i}}{a_{i}}$$

for some $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Now, since C is a circuit, m(C) divides every $m(C \setminus \{i\})$, $i = 0, \ldots, k$ (e.g., by Remark 2.2.12-(c)). Hence all parenthesized coefficients on the r.h.s. are integers, which means $\frac{1}{m(C)}\Gamma_C \subseteq \Lambda(C)$, as claimed. \Box

Lemma 2.9.5. The inclusion of lattices $\Lambda \subseteq \Lambda(C)$ induces a covering of T of degree

$$d = \prod_{j=0}^{k} m(C \setminus \{j\})^{k-1}.$$

Proof. It is enough to prove that d as defined above equals the index of Λ in $\Lambda(C)$.

Let us fix an index i and consider the inclusions

$$\Lambda_{C\setminus\{i\}} \subseteq \Lambda \subseteq \Lambda(C).$$

Since (by Lemma 2.9.3) the lattice $\Lambda(C)$ is generated by the basis $\{\frac{\chi_j}{a_j} \mid j \neq i\}$, the index of $\Lambda_{C \setminus \{i\}}$ in $\Lambda(C)$ is

$$[\Lambda(C):\Gamma_{C\setminus\{i\}}] = \prod_{j\neq i} a_j.$$

On the other hand, $m(C \setminus \{i\})$ is by definition the index of $\Gamma_{C \setminus \{i\}}$ in $\Lambda = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{C \setminus \{i\}}$. In conclusion, the desired index is

$$[\Lambda(C):\Lambda] = \frac{[\Lambda(C):\Gamma_{C\setminus\{i\}}]}{[\Lambda:\Gamma_{C\setminus\{i\}}]} = \frac{\prod_{j\neq i} a_j}{m(C\setminus\{i\})}$$
$$= \frac{\prod_{j\neq i} \prod_{l\neq j} m(C\setminus\{l\})}{m(C\setminus\{i\})} = \prod_{j=0}^k m(C\setminus\{j\})^{k-1}$$

as claimed.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

 $\boxed{}$ 73

Definition 2.9.6. Let

$$\pi_U: U \to T$$

denote the covering induced by the inclusion $\Lambda \subseteq \Lambda(C)$.

We denote by \mathcal{A}_U the central arrangement in the torus U induced by the characters $\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}$ in $\Lambda(C)$. Notice that \mathcal{A}_U is clearly primitive, since the $\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}$ form a basis of $\Lambda(C)$.

Lemma 2.9.7. The arrangement \mathcal{A}_U is unimodular.

Proof. For every $j \in C$ the set $\{\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}\}_{i \neq j}$ is a basis of the lattice $\Lambda(C)$. In fact $C \setminus \{j\}$ is independent and by (2.31) we have that $\frac{\chi_j}{a_j}$ belongs to the lattice generated by the characters $\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}$.

generated by the characters $\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}$. Hence for every subset $A \subsetneq C$ we can choose $j \in C \setminus A$. Then the set $\{\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}\}_{i \in A}$ can be completed to a basis $\{\frac{\chi_i}{a_i}\}_{i \neq j}$ of $\Lambda(C)$.

Notice that the number of connected component of $\pi_U^{-1}(H_i)$ is a_i . In fact for $j \neq i$ the character χ_i can be written in the basis $\{\frac{\chi_k}{a_k}\}_{k\neq j}$ as $\chi_i = a_i \frac{\chi_i}{a_i}$.

Lemma 2.9.8. Let $A \subsetneq C$, let W be a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ and choose $p \in W$. Then, for every layer L of \mathcal{A}_U such that $\pi_U(L) = W$, the number of preimages of p contained in L is

$$|L \cap \pi_U^{-1}(p)| = m(A) \prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})^{k-1-|A|} \prod_{i \in A} m(C \setminus \{i\})$$

Proof. The cardinality of the preimage of p is equal to the degree of the covering, computed in Lemma 2.9.5. On the other hand, given W a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$, the number of connected components of $\pi_U^{-1}(W)$ is equal to $\frac{\prod_{i \in A} a_i}{m(A)}$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} |L \cap \pi_U^{-1}(p)| &= \frac{\prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})^{k-1}}{\prod_{i \in A} a_i} m(A) \\ &= m(A) \prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})^{k-1-|A|} \prod_{i \in A} m(C \setminus \{i\}). \end{aligned}$$

Example 2.9.9. In the case of the arrangement of Example 2.7.6 with matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrr} 3 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$$

we have that the lattice $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}^2$ coincides with the lattice Λ^C . In this case we have $a_0 = 3, a_1 = 3, a_2 = 1$, hence the lattice $\Lambda(C)$ is generated by $\langle e_1 + \frac{e_2}{3}, \frac{e_2}{3}, e_1 \rangle$. In particular the inclusion $\Lambda \subset \Lambda(C)$ corresponds to the covering $f: U \to T$ of Example 2.7.6 (see Figure 2.2). Notice that, with respect to the basis $\{e_1, \frac{e_2}{3}\}$ of $\Lambda(C)$, the arrangement \mathcal{B}_U is described by the matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrr} 3 & 0 & 1 \\ 3 & 3 & 0 \end{array}\right).$$

Lemma 2.9.10. For any $A, B \subseteq C$ such that $A \sqcup B$ is a maximal independent subset of C, for any connected component W of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ and $p \in W$ we have

$$\pi_U^*(\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}) = (-1)^{\ell(A,B)} \frac{m(A \cup B)}{m(A)} \sum_{q \in \pi_U^{-1}(p)} \overline{\omega}_A^U(q) \psi_B^U.$$
(2.32)

Proof. With Equation (2.28) we have

$$\pi_U^*(\psi_B) = \left(\prod_{i \in B} a_i\right) \psi_B^U.$$

and hence, applying this equality and Remark 2.7.5 to Definition 2.8.11, we get

$$\pi_U^*(\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}) = (-1)^{\ell(A,B)} \frac{\prod_{i \in B} a_i}{|L \cap \pi_U^{-1}(p)|} \sum_{q \in \pi_U^{-1}(p)} \overline{\omega}_A^U(q) \psi_B^U.$$
(2.33)

The coefficient in formula (2.33) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\prod_{i \in B} a_i}{|L \cap \pi_U^{-1}(p)|} = \frac{\prod_{i \in B} a_i}{m(A) \prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})^{k-1-|A|} \prod_{i \in A} m(C \setminus \{i\})} \\
= \frac{\prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})^{|B|}}{m(A) \prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})^{|B|-1} \prod_{i \in A \cup B} m(C \setminus \{i\})} \\
= \frac{\prod_{i=0}^k m(C \setminus \{i\})}{m(A) \prod_{i \in A \cup B} m(C \setminus \{i\})} \\
= \frac{m(A \cup B)}{m(A)},$$

and the claim follows.

Definition 2.9.11. For any $A, B \subseteq C$ such that $A \sqcup B$ is an independent set and every $q \in \pi_U^{-1}(\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i)$, we set

$$\overline{\eta}_{A,B}^U(q) := (-1)^{\ell(A,B)} \overline{\omega}_A^U(q) \psi_B^U.$$

Recall from Proposition 2.6.9 that given a circuit C, for every $B \subset C$ we set $c_B = \prod_{i \in B} c_i$.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

75

Theorem 2.9.12. Let L be a connected component of $\cap_{i \in C} H_i$. We have

$$\sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ W \supseteq L}} \sum_{\substack{A, B \subset C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ W \supseteq L}} (-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_B \frac{m(A)}{m(A \cup B)} \overline{\eta}_{W,A,B} = 0.$$
(2.34)

Proof. Now we fix a point $p \in \bigcap_{i \in C} H_i$ and we use relation (2.19) in \mathcal{A}_U . This gives us, for every $q \in \pi_U^{-1}(p)$,

$$\sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.}}} \sum_{\substack{(-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} \overline{\eta}_{A,B}^U(q) c_B = 0.}$$

Summing over all $q \in \pi_U^{-1}(p)$, we get

$$0 = \sum_{q \in \pi_{U}^{-1}(p)} \sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ |B| \text{ even.} }} \sum_{\substack{A, B \subset C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ |B| \text{ even.} }} (-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_{B} \sum_{q \in \pi_{U}^{-1}(p)} \overline{\eta}_{A,B}^{U}(q)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ |B| \text{ even.} \\ W \supseteq L}} (-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_{B} \frac{m(A)}{m(A \cup B)} \pi_{U}^{*}(\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}).$$

Since π_U^* is an injective algebra homomorphism, we obtain the claimed equality. \Box

We now drop the assumption that the arithmetic matroid has a unique circuit and we go back to the general set-up of any arrangement \mathcal{A} in a torus T.

Theorem 2.9.13. Let \mathcal{A} be an essential arrangement. The rational cohomology algebra $H^*(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Q})$ is isomorphic to the algebra \mathcal{E} with

- Set of generators $e_{W,A;B}$, where W ranges over all layers of \mathcal{A} , A is a set generating W and B is disjoint from A and such that $A \sqcup B$ is an independent set; the degree of the generator $e_{W,A;B}$ is $|A \sqcup B|$.
- The following types of relations:

- For any two generators $e_{W,A;B}$, $e_{W',A';B'}$,

$$e_{W,A;B}e_{W',A';B'}=0$$

if $A \sqcup B \sqcup A' \sqcup B'$ is a dependent set, and otherwise

$$e_{W,A;B}e_{W',A';B'} = (-1)^{\ell(A\cup B,A'\cup B')} \sum_{L\in\pi_0(W\cap W')} e_{L,A\cup A';B\cup B'}.$$
(2.35)

- For every linear dependency $\sum_{i \in E} n_i \chi_i = 0$ with $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, a relation

$$\sum_{i \in E} n_i e_{T,\emptyset;\{i\}} = 0.$$
 (2.36)

- For every circuit $C \subseteq E$, with dependency $\sum_{i \in C} n_i \chi_i = 0$ with $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, and for every connected component L of $\bigcap_{i \in C} H_i$ a relation

$$\sum_{\substack{j \in C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ \|B\| \text{ even.} \\ W \supseteq L}} \sum_{\substack{A, B \subset C \\ C = A \sqcup B \sqcup \{j\} \\ W \supseteq L}} (-1)^{|A_{\leq j}|} c_B \frac{m(A)}{m(A \cup B)} e_{W,A;B} = 0$$
(2.37)

where, for all $i \in C$, $c_i := \operatorname{sgn} n_i$, $c_B = \prod_{i \in B} c_i$.

Proof. Consider the map

$$\Phi: \mathcal{E} \to H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Q}), \quad e_{W,A;B} \mapsto [\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}].$$

This map is well-defined – in fact, in the cohomology ring Equation (2.35) holds by Remark 2.8.12, Equation (2.36) already holds in the cohomology of the ambient torus, and Equation (2.37) holds by Theorem 2.9.12.

Now fix, for every independent $A \subseteq E$, a subset $D(A) \subseteq E$ such that $A \sqcup D(A)$ is a basis of the matroid. Then, notice that relations (2.37) and (2.36) allow us to express every generator in terms of generators $e_{W,A;B}$ where A is a no-broken-circuit set and B is a subset of D(A). Then, with Lemma 2.8.14, the k-th graded part of the image of Φ equals $\operatorname{gr}_k H^*(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Q})$. We conclude that Φ is bijective, hence it defines the desired isomorphism. \Box

Remark 2.9.14. The relations in the presentation above hold for differential forms and not only for their cohomology classes. As a consequence the space $M(\mathcal{A})$ is rationally formal. This fact has been already observed by [DP05] for unimodular arrangements and proved by [Dup16b] in general.

Remark 2.9.15. Notice that all relations of type (2.36) are implied by those associated with minimal linear dependencies (i.e., circuits).

Moreover, the above presentation is completely encoded in the datum of the poset of layers of \mathcal{A} (needed, e.g. for Relations (2.35), (2.37)) and in the

(relative) sign pattern of the minimal linear dependencies. But by [Pag19b, Theorem 3.12] (see Corollary 2.2.13), the latter can also be recovered by the poset.

The complements of the two toric arrangements constructed in the already quoted paper [Pag19d] (see Remark 2.2.17) turn out to have non-isomorphic cohomology rings. Since the two arrangements have isomorphic matroids, this implies that the cohomology ring cannot be determined purely in terms of the arithmetic matroid.

Example 2.9.16. We can provide a presentation of the rational cohomology of the complement of arrangement \mathcal{B} . The cohomology ring is generated by:

$$\overline{\omega}_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}\left(\frac{(1-x^{3}y)^{2}}{x^{3}y}\right), \qquad \psi_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(x^{3}y),$$

$$\overline{\omega}_{1} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}\left(\frac{(1-y)^{2}}{y}\right), \qquad \psi_{1} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(y),$$

$$\overline{\omega}_{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}\left(\frac{(1-x)^{2}}{x}\right), \qquad \psi_{2} = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(x)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \overline{\omega}_{p,\{0,1\}} &= \frac{-1}{4\pi^2} \frac{x^3 y^2 + x^3 y + 4x^2 y + 4xy + y + 1}{xy \left(y - 1\right) \left(x^3 y - 1\right)} \,\mathrm{d} \, x \,\mathrm{d} \, y, \\ \overline{\omega}_{q,\{0,1\}} &= \frac{-1}{4\pi^2} \frac{x^3 y^2 + x^3 y + 4\zeta_3^2 x^2 y + 4\zeta_3 xy + y + 1}{xy \left(y - 1\right) \left(x^3 y - 1\right)} \,\mathrm{d} \, x \,\mathrm{d} \, y, \\ \overline{\omega}_{r,\{0,1\}} &= \frac{-1}{4\pi^2} \frac{x^3 y^2 + x^3 y + 4\zeta_3 x^2 y + 4\zeta_3^2 xy + y + 1}{xy \left(y - 1\right) \left(x^3 y - 1\right)} \,\mathrm{d} \, x \,\mathrm{d} \, y, \end{split}$$

where $\zeta_3 = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$. The relations are

$$\begin{split} \overline{\omega}_i \psi_i = 0 \quad \forall i, \\ \overline{\omega}_0 \overline{\omega}_1 = \overline{\omega}_{p,\{0,1\}} + \overline{\omega}_{q,\{0,1\}} + \overline{\omega}_{r,\{0,1\}}, \\ -\psi_0 + \psi_1 + 3\psi_2 = 0, \\ \overline{\omega}_{p,\{0,1\}} - \overline{\omega}_0 \overline{\omega}_2 + \overline{\omega}_1 \overline{\omega}_2 = -\psi_1 \psi_2 + \psi_0 \psi_2 + \frac{1}{3} \psi_0 \psi_1 \end{split}$$

where the last relation can be verified checking the equalities

$$\frac{x^3y^2 + x^3y + 4x^2y + 4xy + y + 1}{xy(y-1)(x^3y-1)} \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y - \frac{x^3y+1}{y(x^3y-1)} \frac{x+1}{x(x-1)} \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}x + \frac{y+1}{y(y-1)} \frac{x+1}{x(x-1)} \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}x = \frac{\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y}{xy} = \\ = -\operatorname{dlog}(y) \operatorname{dlog}(x) + \operatorname{dlog}(x^3y) \operatorname{dlog}(x) + \frac{1}{3} \operatorname{dlog}(x^3y) \operatorname{dlog}(y).$$

Roberto Pagaria

2.10 Integral cohomology

Proposition 2.10.1. The forms $\omega_{W,A}$ are integral forms.

Proof. We first prove our statement in the case when W is a point, hence |A| = n and $\omega_{W,A}$ is a n-form.

We will prove that for any integral cycle $S \in H_n(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$ the integral

$$\int_{S} \omega_{W,A}$$

is an integer number. From the Universal Coefficients Theorem this implies that $\omega_{W,A}$ is an integral form.

Now, let $f: U \to T$ be any covering that separates A and such that the arrangement \mathcal{A}_U is unimodular. For any cycle $S \in H_n(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$ we have

$$\int_{S} \omega_{W,A} = \frac{1}{\deg f} \int_{f^{-1}(S)} f^{*}(\omega_{W,A})$$
$$= \frac{1}{\deg f} \int_{f^{-1}(S)} \sum_{q \in f^{-1}(W)} \omega_{A}^{U}(q)$$

where the last equality follows from Remark 2.7.5.

Now we can observe that the integral

$$\int_{f^{-1}(S)} \omega_A^U(q)$$

does not depend on the point $q \in f^{-1}(W)$. Moreover, since W is a point, deg $f = |f^{-1}(W)|$. We thus have

$$\int_{S} \omega_{W,A} = \int_{f^{-1}(S)} \omega_{A}^{U}(q)$$

for any point $q \in f^{-1}(W)$. Since the arrangement \mathcal{A}_U is unimodular we have (see (2.29)) $\omega_A^U(q) = \prod_{i \in A} \omega_i^U(q)$. By definition (2.27) each factor $\omega_i^U(q)$ is an integer form. Hence integrality of $\omega_A^U(q)$ implies integrality of $\omega_{W,A}$.

In the general case let W_0 be the translate of W containing the identity of T. We can consider the projection $\pi_{W_0} : T \to T'$, where $T' = T/W_0$. The W_0 -invariant characters χ_i for $i \in A$ induce characters χ'_i of T', defining hypertori $H'_i = \pi_{W_0}(H_i) \subseteq T'$. Let $W' = \pi_{W_0}(W)$ be the component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H'_i$ corresponding to W and consider the associated form $\omega'_{W',A}$ on T'. Then $\omega_{W,A} = \pi^*_{W_0}(\omega'_{W',A})$ and so integrality of $\omega_{W,A}$ follows from integrality of $\omega'_{W',A}$, which is granted because W' has dimension 0.

Proposition 2.10.2. For any independent set $A \sqcup B \subset E$ and for any layer W in $\cap_{i \in A} H_i$ the form $\frac{m(A)}{m(A \sqcup B)} \eta_{W,A,B}$ is integral.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

79

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{A} = \{b_1, \ldots, b_{|A|}\}$ be a basis of Γ^A . We complete it to a basis $\mathfrak{A} \cup \mathfrak{B} = \{b_1, \ldots, b_{|A|+|B|}\}$ of $\Gamma^{A \sqcup B}$. We can define the forms

$$v_j := \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(e^{b_j}).$$

Hence we can consider the square matrix $M = (m_{ij})$ such that for every $j \in A \sqcup B$ we have that

$$\psi_j = \sum_{i=1}^{|A|+|B|} m_{ij} v_j.$$

The matrix M is a block matrix of the form

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} M_1 & M_2 \\ 0 & M_3 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $M_1 \ge |A| \times |A|$ matrix and $M_3 \ge |B| \times |B|$ matrix. For j > |A| we have that $\omega_{W,A}\psi_j = \omega_{W,A}\sum_{i=|A|+1}^{|A|+|B|} m_{ij}v_j$, i.e., using only entries of M_3 . Hence

$$\eta_{W,A,B} = \pm \omega_{W,A} \prod_{j=|A|+1}^{|A|+|B|} \psi_j = \pm \det(M_3) \omega_{W,A} \prod_{j=|A|+1}^{|A|+|B|} v_j.$$

Since $\det(M_3) = \frac{\det(M)}{\det(M_1)} = \frac{m(A \sqcup B)}{m(A)}$ we have that $\frac{m(A)}{m(A \sqcup B)} \eta_{W,A,B}$ is an integral form.

Recall the filtration F of $H^*(M(\mathcal{A}))$ introduced in Definition 2.8.13:

$$F_i H^*(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z}) := \bigoplus_{j \le i} H^j(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z}) \cdot H^*(T;\mathbb{Z}).$$

From Definition 2.6.1 we have that

$$[\overline{\omega}_i] = 2[\omega_i]$$
 in $F_1 / F_0 H^*(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$

and

$$[\overline{\omega}_{W,A}] = 2^{|A|}[\omega_{W,A}] \text{ in } \mathbf{F}_{|A|} / \mathbf{F}_{|A|-1} H^*(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$$

$$(2.38)$$

Definition 2.10.3. The \mathbb{Z} -algebra $R \subset \Omega^*(M(\mathcal{A}))$ is the subalgebra generated by the closed forms $\omega_{W,A}\alpha$, where W runs among the layers of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$ for A independent and $\alpha \in H^*(T; \mathbb{Z})$.

Theorem 2.10.4. Let \mathcal{A} be an essential toric arrangement. The integral cohomology ring of $M(\mathcal{A})$ is isomorphic to the algebra R:

$$R \simeq H^*(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z}).$$

In particular the space $M(\mathcal{A})$ is formal.

Proof. Since the relations given in the presentation of Theorem 2.9.13 are equalities between differential forms, the map $i : R \hookrightarrow H^*(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$ sending each form to its cohomology class is an injective map of filtered modules. In particular it induces an homomorphism

$$\operatorname{gr}(i) \colon \operatorname{gr}(R) \to \operatorname{gr}(H^*(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z}))$$

of graded modules. We claim that the map gr(i) is an isomorphism. Since the strictly filtered map i is injective, gr(i) is injective too.

We will prove that gr(i) is also surjective. As seen in Equation (2.30), the graded algebra decomposes as a direct sum

$$\operatorname{gr}_{k}(H^{*}(M(\mathcal{A}))) = \bigoplus_{\substack{W \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \\ \operatorname{codim}(W) = k}} H^{*}(W) \otimes H^{k}(M(\mathcal{A}[W]));$$

moreover the summand $H^*(W) \otimes H^k(M(\mathcal{A}[W]))$ is generated, as a $H^*(T; \mathbb{Z})$ module, by the elements $1 \otimes e_A$ for A independent set such that W is a connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A} H_i$. From Equation (2.38) and Lemma 2.8.14 we have

$$2^{|A|}[\omega_{W,A}] = [\overline{\omega}_{W,A}] = 2^{|A|}(1 \otimes e_A)_W$$

where the inclusion of $H^*(W) \otimes H^k(M(\mathcal{A}[W]))$ in $\operatorname{gr}_k(H^*(M(\mathcal{A})))$ is understood.

Since the integral cohomology ring of the complement of an hyperplane arrangement is torsion free [OS80], it follows that the algebra $\operatorname{gr}_k(H^*(M(\mathcal{A})))$ is torsion free.

For every layer W and every set of indices A the element

$$(1 \otimes e_A)_W \in \operatorname{gr}_k(H^*(M(\mathcal{A})))$$

is the image of $\omega_{W,A}$ and hence $\operatorname{gr}(i)$ is surjective. Since $\operatorname{gr}(i)$ is an isomorphism, the claim follows.

Proposition 2.10.5. The generators $\eta_{W,A,B}$ can be expressed in terms of the generators of the ring $R = H^*(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z})$ as follows:

$$\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B} = \sum_{C \subseteq A} (-1)^{|C|} 2^{|A \setminus C|} \frac{m(A \setminus C)}{m(A)} \eta_{L,A \setminus C,B \cup C}$$

where L is the unique connected component of $\cap_{i \in A \setminus C} H_i$ such that $W \subset L$.

Proof. Take any covering $f: U \to T$ that separates A, e. g. the one given in Proposition 2.8.3. From Definition 2.6.1, Definition 2.7.4, Lemma 2.9.10 and

Definition 2.8.7 it follows that

$$f^*(\overline{\eta}_{W,A,B}) = (-1)^{\ell(A,B)} \frac{m(A \cup B)}{m(A)} \sum_{q \in f^{-1}(p)} \overline{\omega}_A^U(q) \psi_B^U =$$

$$= (-1)^{\ell(A,B)} \frac{m(A \cup B)}{m(A)} \sum_{q \in f^{-1}(p)} \prod_{i \in A} (2\omega_i^U(q) - \psi_i^U) \psi_B^U =$$

$$= \frac{m(A \cup B)}{m(A)} \sum_{\substack{q \in f^{-1}(p)\\C \subseteq A}} (-1)^{\ell(A,B) + \ell(A \setminus C,C) + |C|} 2^{|A \setminus C|} \omega_{A \setminus C}^U(q) \psi_C^U \psi_B^U$$

$$= f^*\left(\sum_{C \subseteq A} (-1)^{|C|} 2^{|A \setminus C|} \frac{m(A \setminus C)}{m(A)} \eta_{L,A \setminus C,B \cup C}\right)$$

where L is the unique connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in A \setminus C} H_i$ containing W. The equality follows from the injectivity of the pull-back map.

Example 2.10.6. For the arrangement \mathcal{B} the previous relation gives the following presentations for the integral cohomology. We can take as generators the forms

$$\begin{split} \omega_0 &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - x^3 y), \qquad \psi_0 &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(x^3 y), \\ \omega_1 &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - y), \qquad \psi_1 &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(y), \\ \omega_2 &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(1 - x), \qquad \psi_2 &= \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{dlog}(x) \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \omega_{p,\{0,1\}} &= \frac{-1}{4\pi^2} \frac{x^2 y + x + 1}{(y - 1) (x^3 y - 1)} \,\mathrm{d} \, x \,\mathrm{d} \, y, \\ \omega_{q,\{0,1\}} &= \frac{-\zeta_3}{4\pi^2} \frac{\zeta_3^2 x^2 y + \zeta_3 x + 1}{(y - 1) (x^3 y - 1)} \,\mathrm{d} \, x \,\mathrm{d} \, y, \\ \omega_{r,\{0,1\}} &= \frac{-\zeta_3^2}{4\pi^2} \frac{\zeta_3 x^2 y + \zeta_3^2 x + 1}{(y - 1) (x^3 y - 1)} \,\mathrm{d} \, x \,\mathrm{d} \, y. \end{split}$$

and we have the equivalent for the relations obtained for the rational cohomology:

$$\begin{split} \omega_i \psi_i = 0 & \forall i, \\ \omega_0 \omega_1 = \omega_{p,\{0,1\}} + \omega_{q,\{0,1\}} + \omega_{r,\{0,1\}}, \\ -\psi_0 + \psi_1 + 3\psi_2 = 0, \\ \omega_{p,\{0,1\}} - \omega_0 \omega_2 + \omega_1 \omega_2 = -\omega_0 \psi_2. \end{split}$$

As an example of application of Proposition 2.10.5 we can write the relation

$$\overline{\omega}_{p,\{0,1\}} = 4\omega_{p,\{0,1\}} - \frac{2}{3}(\psi_0\omega_1 + \omega_0\psi_1) + \frac{1}{3}\psi_0\psi_1,$$

that can be also checked directly using the formulas above and the formulas in Example 2.9.16.

2.11 Cohomology generated in degree one

In this section we will analyze the property of the cohomology ring of being generated in degree one. We will show that this property depends only on the poset of intersections and we will give a combinatorial criterion to determine when this property holds.

Lemma 2.11.1. Let B be a graded algebra and $\{F_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ an exhaustive filtration. Then B is generated in degree one if and only if $\operatorname{gr}_F B$ does.

Since $H^{\bullet}(T;\mathbb{Z}) \simeq H^{\bullet}(\mathbb{C}^*;\mathbb{Z})^{\otimes r}$ is generated in degree one, $H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Z})$ is generated in degree one if and only if $A^{0,\bullet}(\mathcal{A})$ is as well. A similar argument show that $H^{\bullet}(M;\mathbb{Q})$ is generated in degree one if and only if the same holds for $B^{0,\bullet}(\mathcal{A})$.

Proposition 2.11.2. Let \mathcal{A} be a toric arrangement and $S \subseteq E$ be a independent set of cardinality k. The following formula holds in $A(\mathcal{A})$:

$$\prod_{s \in S} 1 \otimes e_s = \sum_{\substack{W \in \mathcal{S}_k \\ W \in \bigcap S}} 1 \otimes e_S,$$

where e_S belongs to $H^k(M(\mathcal{A}[W];\mathbb{Z}))$.

Proof. The formula is an easy consequence of the definition of product in the algebra $A(\mathcal{A})$.

Remark 2.11.3. By Theorem 2.1.3, the elements

$$1 \otimes e_S \in H^0(W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes H^k(M(\mathcal{A}[W]; \mathbb{Z}))$$

can be written uniquely as linear combinations of the $1 \otimes e_{S'}$ with S' no broken circuit.

$$1 \otimes e_S = \sum_{T \text{ nbc-set}} r^S_{W,T}(1 \otimes e_T) \in H^0(W; \mathbb{Z}) \otimes H^k(M(\mathcal{A}[W]; \mathbb{Z}))$$

The coefficients $r_{W,T}^S \in \mathbb{Z}$ are uniquely determined by the poset $S_{\leq W}$.

Definition 2.11.4. Let R^k be the matrix whose columns are given by the vectors $(r_{WT}^S)_{WT}$ for all S of cardinality k.

The matrix R^k are merely the coordinates of the element $1 \otimes e_S$ with respect to the basis $\{1 \otimes e_T \mid T \text{ nbc-set}\}$. Recall the numbers N_k of Theorem 2.2.16.

Theorem 2.11.5. The algebra $H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$ is generated in degree one if and only if all the matrices $\{R^k\}_{k \leq r}$ have rank equal to N_k .

Proof. Fix the degree k. The cohomology algebra is generated in degree one if and only if $B(\mathcal{A})$ is, this is equivalent to the fact that $B^{0,\bullet}(\mathcal{A})$ is generated by $B^{0,1}(\mathcal{A})$. This happens if and only if R^k has a right inverse; it has a right inverse; if and only if R^k has rank equal to $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}} B^{0,k}(\mathcal{A}) = N_k$. \Box

Theorem 2.11.6. The algebra $H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z})$ is generated in degree one if and only if all the matrices $\{R^k\}_{k \leq r}$ have N_k -th determinant divisor equal to one.

Proof. As in the proof of Theorem 2.11.5, the algebra $A(\mathcal{A})$ is generated in degree one if and only if \mathbb{R}^k has a right inverse with integer coefficients. By the Smith normal form, this right inverse exists if and only if the N_k -th determinant divisor is equal to one.

Chapter 3

Poset, Topology and Combinatorics

We show that the integral cohomology algebra of the complement of a toric arrangement is not determined by the poset of layers. Moreover, the rational cohomology algebra is not determined by the arithmetic matroid, however it is determined by the poset of layers.

Section 3.2 was appear in the first ArXiv version of [Pag19d], Sections 3.4 and 3.5 have appeared in the published version. Section 3.3 is part of [Pag19b].

3.1 Introduction

The study of the poset of layers of a toric arrangement is a new problem in this area of interest.

Definition 3.1.1 (Poset of layers). The poset of layers of a toric arrangement \mathcal{A} is the set of connected components of intersections of elements of \mathcal{A} , ordered by reverse inclusion.

Our interest was motivated by the attempt of finding an axiomatic definition of these posets, a cryptomorphism with arithmetic matroids, and the relation with the topology of toric arrangements. Very few is known about these posets: they intervals are geometric lattices. The particular case of graphical toric arrangements is studied in [AC17] and in [Bib16b] Bibby describes the poset of toric arrangements associated to root systems. In [DGP17] this description of the poset is used to prove the shellability of posets associated to root systems.

A natural question is the following:

Question 3.1.2. How the poset of layers varies among all representations of an arithmetic matroid?

A related poset is the *(arithmetic) independence poset* of a toric arrangement, defined in [Len17c, Definition 5], [Mar18, Section 2] (under the name of *poset of torsions*), and [DD18, Section 7] (under the name of *poset of independent sets*).

Definition 3.1.3 (Arithmetic independence poset). The arithmetic independence poset of a toric arrangement \mathcal{A} is the set of pairs (I, W) where $I \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ is an independent set and W is a connected component of $\bigcap I$. The order relation is defined as follows: $(I_1, W_1) \leq (I_2, W_2)$ if and only if $I_1 \subseteq I_2$ and $W_1 \supseteq W_2$.

D'Alì and Delucchi proved that both posets are homology Cohen-Macaulay over fields of all but a finite number of characteristics [DD18]. It was conjectured that the arithmetic independence poset is shellable, we confute the conjecture in Section 3.5. Notice that the non-arithmetic versions of these posets (the poset of flats and the independence poset of an ordinary matroid) are shellable, and therefore Cohen-Macaulay over fields of every characteristic.

Plan

In Section 3.2, we prove that, provided that the underline matroid is modular, all posets of layers are isomorphic. Representable modular matroids are direct sum of matroids of rank at most two (see [Oxl11, Proposition 6.9.1]). This decomposition holds as matroids, not as arithmetic matroids, thus we cannot apply this technique to our proof.

The study continues in Section 3.3 with the introduction of discriminantal toric arrangements in a, possibly disconnected, torus. We give the definition of poset isotopy (roughly speaking it consists in translating the hypertori without changing the poset of layers) and we prove that poset isotopy equivalent arrangements are diffeomorphic. Moreover we show that not all arrangements with the same characters and poset of layers are poset isotopy equivalent: this property depends on which connected component of the discriminantal arrangement they belong to.

In Section 3.4 we show that the integral cohomology algebra $H(M(\mathcal{A}), \mathbb{Z})$ of the complement of a (central) toric arrangement is not combinatorial, i.e. it does not depend only on the poset of layers (Theorem 3.4.2). This example gives a negative answer to Question 7.3.1 of [CD17].

In section 3.5, we show that arithmetic matroids and matroids over \mathbb{Z} contain less information than the poset of layers. Indeed, we build two central toric arrangements with the same arithmetic matroid, the same matroid over \mathbb{Z} , but with non-isomorphic posets of layers (Theorem 3.5.2) and non-isomorphic cohomology algebra with rational coefficients. As consequence, there cannot exist a "cryptomorphism" between arithmetic matroids (respectively, matroids over \mathbb{Z}) and any class of posets such that – in the representable

cases – the poset associated to the matroid coincides with the poset of layers of any representation.

3.2 Modular matroids and their posets

In this section we introduce a family of groups $\{K_{\Lambda}(S)\}_S$ related to a toric arrangements. We study their properties and we will use it to describe the poset of layers of a toric arrangement. This is the key point in order to show that the two arrangements of the Section 3.5 have different posets of layers.

The following class of modular matroids is quite small, though it contains free matroids and projective geometries. For a general reference on modular matroids, see [Oxl11, Section 6.9].

Definition 3.2.1. A pair of flats (S, T) is *modular* if the following equality holds

$$\operatorname{rk}(S) + \operatorname{rk}(T) = \operatorname{rk}(S \cap T) + \operatorname{rk}(S \cup T).$$

A flat S is *modular* if for all flats T the pair (S,T) is modular. A matroid is *modular* if all its flats are modular.

The groups $H_{\Lambda}(S)$

Let Λ be a lattice and $\{v_e\}_{e \in E}$ be a finite set of elements of Λ . We define Γ_S , for $S \subseteq E$, to be the sub-lattice spanned by the vectors $v_e, e \in S$. The lattice Γ_E has a main role in the following discussion, therefore we address to it as Γ . Consider the functions m_{Λ} and m_{Γ} , from the subsets of E to the positive integer, defined by

$$m_{\Lambda}(S) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left| \operatorname{Tor} \left(\Lambda_{\Gamma_{S}} \right) \right| = \left| \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S}_{\Gamma_{S}} \right| = \left| \operatorname{Ext}^{1} \left(\Lambda_{\Gamma_{S}}, \mathbb{Z} \right) \right|$$

and by

$$m_{\Gamma}(S) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left| \operatorname{Tor} \left(\Gamma_{\Gamma_{S}} \right) \right| = \left| \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma} \Gamma_{S} / \Gamma_{S} \right| = \left| \operatorname{Ext}^{1} \left(\Gamma_{\Gamma_{S}}, \mathbb{Z} \right) \right|.$$

This collection of vectors in Λ defines a matroid $([n], \mathrm{rk})$ that can be enriched by the multiplicity function m_{Λ} and the triple $([n], \mathrm{rk}, m_{\Lambda})$ becomes a representable arithmetic matroid. Alternatively, we can enrich the matroid by the multiplicity function m_{Γ} and obtain the representable arithmetic matroid $([n], \mathrm{rk}, m_{\Gamma})$.

Recall the definition of the radical of a sub-lattice $\Gamma' \subseteq \Lambda'$:

$$\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda'} \Gamma' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ v \in \Lambda' \mid \exists n \in \mathbb{N}_+ \text{ such that } nv \in \Gamma \}.$$

Consider for each subset S of [n] the short exact sequence:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma} \Gamma_{S/\Gamma_{S}} \to \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S/\Gamma_{S}} \to \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S/\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}} \Gamma_{S} \to 0.$$

We call the rightmost group $H_{\Lambda}(S) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_S / \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma} \Gamma_S$. Fix two subsets $S \subset T$ of E and examine the following commutative diagram.

Since $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{T} \cap \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda}\Gamma_{S} = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{S}$, the map $i_{S,T}$ is injective. If $\operatorname{rk}(S) = \operatorname{rk}(T)$, then $i_{S,T}$ is the identity map because in this case we have the equalities $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{T} = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Gamma}\Gamma_{S}$ and $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda}\Gamma_{T} = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda}\Gamma_{S}$. Let G be the torsion of the group Λ/Γ and notice that $H_{\Lambda}(E) = G$, thus the groups $H_{\Lambda}(S)$, $S \subseteq E$, are subgroups of G.

Definition 3.2.2. The *layer group* $LG_{\Lambda}(S)$ of a representation Λ is the group

$$\mathrm{LG}_{\Lambda}(S) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \mathrm{Ext}^{1} \left(\mathrm{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S} / \Gamma_{S}, \mathbb{Z} \right) = \mathrm{Ext}^{1} \left(\Lambda / \Gamma_{S}, \mathbb{Z} \right)$$

We also define the *relative layer group*

$$\mathrm{LG}_{\Gamma}(S) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \mathrm{Ext}^{1} \left(\mathrm{Rad}_{\Gamma} \Gamma_{S/\Gamma_{S}}, \mathbb{Z} \right) = \mathrm{Ext}^{1} \left(\Gamma_{/\Gamma_{S}}, \mathbb{Z} \right).$$

For any $S \subset T$ there is a natural map $\pi_{S,T} : \mathrm{LG}_{\Lambda}(T) \to \mathrm{LG}_{\Lambda}(S)$ which is injective if $\mathrm{rk}(S) = \mathrm{rk}(T)$ and surjective if $|T| - \mathrm{rk}(T) = |S| - \mathrm{rk}(S)$. We have a bijection between the connected components of $\bigcap_{s \in S} H_s$ and the elements of $\mathrm{LG}_{\Lambda}(S)$ since both has cardinality m(S). Moreover, the group $H_{\Lambda}(S)$ has cardinality $\frac{m_{\Lambda}(S)}{m_{\Gamma}(S)}$.

The groups $LG_{\Lambda}(S)$, together with the natural maps between them, determine the poset of layers of the central toric arrangement described by $v_i \in \Lambda$, as shown in [Len17a]. The following lemma holds for a pair of modular flats (see Definition 3.2.1).

Lemma 3.2.3. Let S, T be a pair of modular flats. Then the following equality holds

$$H_{\Lambda}(S) \cap H_{\Lambda}(T) = H_{\Lambda}(S \cap T).$$

Proof. The equality $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S} \cap \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{T} = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S} \cap \Gamma_{T}$ always holds. The modularity hypothesis implies that $\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S} \cap \Gamma_{T} = \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S \cap T}$, thus

$$H_{\Lambda}(S) \cap H_{\Lambda}(T) = \frac{\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S} \cap \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{T}}{\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S} \cap \operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{T} \cap \Gamma} = \frac{\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S \cap T}}{\operatorname{Rad}_{\Lambda} \Gamma_{S \cap T} \cap \Gamma} = H_{\Lambda}(S \cap T) \qquad \Box$$

The groups $K_{\Lambda}(S)$

For any subset $S \subseteq E$ we define the group $K_{\Lambda}(S) = \text{Ext}^1(H_{\Lambda}(S), \mathbb{Z})$. For $S \subset T$ the dual of the diagram (3.1) is

$$0 \longrightarrow K_{\Lambda}(T) \longrightarrow \mathrm{LG}_{\Lambda}(T) \longrightarrow \mathrm{LG}_{\Gamma}(T) \longrightarrow 0$$

$$\downarrow^{p_{S,T}} \qquad \downarrow^{\pi_{S,T}} \qquad \downarrow^{\gamma_{S,T}} \qquad (3.2)$$

$$0 \longrightarrow K_{\Lambda}(S) \longrightarrow \mathrm{LG}_{\Lambda}(S) \longrightarrow \mathrm{LG}_{\Gamma}(S) \longrightarrow 0$$

whose rows are exact. The map $p_{S,T}$ is always surjective and is an isomorphism if $\operatorname{rk}(S) = \operatorname{rk}(T)$.

Lemma 3.2.4. Let T and S be two flats of a modular matroid (E, rk) and Λ be a representation of an arithmetic matroid (E, rk, m). The following diagram is a pushout diagram.

Proof. By Lemma 3.2.3 the following diagram is a pullback diagram.

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H_{\Lambda}(S \wedge T) & \longrightarrow & H_{\Lambda}(S) \\ & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & H_{\Lambda}(T) & \longrightarrow & H_{\Lambda}(S \vee T) \end{array}$$

Applying the functor $\text{Ext}^1(\bullet, \mathbb{Z})$ we obtain the claimed diagram.

Let $p_i: G \twoheadrightarrow K_i$, for i = 1, 2, be two quotients of G by the subgroups L_i . We denote the pushout of p_i and p_j with

$$K_{i,j} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K_i \sqcup K_j / p_i(z) \sim p_j(z) = G / L_i + L_j,$$

together with the two natural surjections $s_i : K_i \twoheadrightarrow K_{i,j}$ and $s_j : K_j \twoheadrightarrow K_{i,j}$. The pullback of s_i and s_j is

$$K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{(x,y) \in K_i \times K_j \mid s_i(x) = s_j(y)\} = G_{L_i \cap L_j}.$$

Lemma 3.2.5. Let G and G' be two finite abelian groups of the same cardinality, and for $i \leq n$ let $p_i : G \twoheadrightarrow K_i$ and $p'_i : G' \twoheadrightarrow K'_i$ be quotients of G and G'. We denote with $K_{i,j}$ (and with $K'_{i,j}$) the pushout of p_i and p_j (respectively,

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

89

of p'_i and p'_j). Suppose that there exist bijections $f_i: K_i \xrightarrow{1:1} K'_i$, for $i \leq n$, such that for every i, j the diagram

 $G \xrightarrow{p_i} K_i \xrightarrow{f_i} K'_i \xrightarrow{f_j} K'_i \xrightarrow{f_j} K'_j \qquad (3.3)$

commutes and that the induced map $K_{i,j} \to K'_{i,j}$ is an isomorphism. Then there exist a bijection $f: G \to G'$ such that $p'_i \circ f = f_i \circ p_i$ for all i.

Proof. Suppose first n = 1, for all $x \in K_1$ the sets $p_1^{-1}(x)$ and $p_1'^{-1}(f_1(x))$ has the same cardinality. We can choose a bijection $f_x : p_1^{-1}(x) \to p_1'^{-1}(f_1(x))$ for all $x \in K_1$ and define $f(y) = f_{p_1(y)}(y)$. This function f is the sought function.

For n > 1, we want to reduce to the case n - 1. Let us fix $i \neq j$ and consider the pullback $K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j$ of the two maps $K_i \to K_{i,j}$ and $K_j \to K_{i,j}$. We want to found a bijection

$$f_{i,j}: K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j \xrightarrow{1:1} K'_i \times_{K'_{i,j}} K'_j$$

Consider the pullback diagram



and observe that by diagram (3.3) the two map from $K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j$ to $K'_{i,j}$ induced by f_i and f_j coincides. Notice that $|K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j| = \frac{|K_i||K_j|}{|K_{i,j}|}$ and so $|K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j| = |K'_i \times_{K'_{i,j}} K'_j|$. Since the pullbacks in the category of \mathbb{Z} modules and in the category of sets coincide, we have a well defined bijection $f_{i,j}: K_i \times_{K_{i,j}} K_j \xrightarrow{1:1} K'_i \times_{K'_{i,j}} K'_j$. The bunch of n-1 maps $\{f_k\}_{k \neq i,j} \cup \{f_{i,j}\}$ satisfy the hypothesis, so by induction we construct the map $f: G \to G'$. \Box

Lemma 3.2.6. Let Λ and Λ' be two representations of the same torsion-free arithmetic matroid whose underlying matroid is modular. Then the functor K_{Λ} and $K_{\Lambda'}$ are equivalent, i.e. there exist a bijection $f: K_{\Lambda}(E) \to K_{\Lambda'}(E)$ such that for every flat $S \subset E$ the map f induces a bijection $f_S: K_{\Lambda}(S) \to K_{\Lambda'}(S)$. Proof. We define f by induction on the poset of flats of the underlying matroid. Since $K_{\Lambda}(\emptyset) = 0 = K_{\Lambda'}(\emptyset)$, the base case is done. Suppose that we have defined $f_S: K_{\Lambda}(S) \to K_{\Lambda'}(S)$ for every flat S of rank less than k, compatibly with the restrictions. For each flat T of rank k consider the set $\{S_1, \ldots, S_m\}$ of flats of rank k - 1 contained in T. We apply Lemma 3.2.5 to $G = K_{\Lambda}(T)$, $G' = K_{\Lambda'}(T), K_i = K_{\Lambda}(S_i)$ and $K'_i = K_{\Lambda'}(S_i)$. Lemma 3.2.4 implies $K_{i,j} =$ $K_{\Lambda}(S_i \land S_j)$ and $K'_{i,j} = K_{\Lambda'}(S_i \land S_j)$, so the compatibility between f_{S_i}, f_{S_j} and $f_{S_i \land S_j}$ ensure the condition (3.3). Thus we have a bijection $f_T: K_{\Lambda}(T) \to$ $K_{\Lambda'}(T)$ compatible with the restrictions. We repeat this procedure for every flat T of rank k and inductively for every flats. \Box

Theorem 3.2.7. Let (E, rk, m) be a torsion-free arithmetic matroid such that the underlying matroid (E, rk) is modular. Then the posets of layers of all representations of the arithmetic matroid are isomorphic.

Proof. An explicit description of the poset of layers of a central toric arrangement is given in [Len17a] in terms of the sets $\{LG(S)\}_{S\subseteq E}$ and the maps $\pi_{S,T}$ between them. Any two representation Λ and Λ' contain the same representation Γ of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$, as shown in Section 1.9. Observe that $LG_{\Lambda}(S) = LG_{\Gamma}(S) \times K_{\Lambda}(S)$ as a set and $\pi_{S,T} = (\gamma_{S,T}, p_{S,T})$ as map between sets. Analogously, $LG_{\Lambda'}(S) = LG_{\Gamma}(S) \times K_{\Lambda'}(S)$ and $\pi'_{S,T} = (\gamma_{S,T}, p'_{S,T})$. We observe that $K_{\Lambda}(S) = K_{\Lambda}(\overline{S})$, where \overline{S} is the minimal flat containing S. Consider the bijections f_S of Lemma 3.2.6, the maps

$$\mathrm{Id} \times f_{\overline{S}} : \mathrm{LG}_{\Gamma}(S) \times K_{\Lambda}(\overline{S}) \to \mathrm{LG}_{\Gamma}(S) \times K_{\Lambda'}(\overline{S})$$

are compatible with $(\gamma_{S,T}, p_{S,T})$ since $f_S \circ p_{S,T} = p'_{S,T} f_T$ for all flats S and T. Therefore, the two poset of layers are isomorphic.

3.3 Discriminantal toric arrangements

We want to study the continuous deformations of a toric arrangement. Since the characters group Λ of a toric arrangement is a discrete set, no deformation can change the set of characters in \mathcal{A} , however it is possible that some hypertorus in the arrangement are translated.

A particular nice type of deformation is the *poset isotopy*, which is by definition a deformation that does not change the poset of layers. Two toric arrangements are said to be *poset isotopy equivalent* if there exists a poset isotopy that deforms one into the other. This notion has already been defined in the context of hyperplane arrangements, see [OT92, Definition 5.27].

There are two natural questions:

1. Are two poset isotopy equivalent toric arrangements diffeomorphic? Are they homeomorphic? Are they homotopy equivalent?

CHAPTER 3. POSET, TOPOLOGY AND COMBINATORICS



Figure 3.1: Representations of the two arrangements on the compact subtorus. The red subtori are the hypertori H_4 and H'_4 .

2. Are two toric arrangements with isomorphic poset of layers and same characters poset isotopy equivalent?

In this section we will give a negative answer to the second question and a positive one to the first question.

The following example was suggested by Filippo Callegaro and it is a counterexample to the second question.

Example 3.3.1. Let \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' be the following two toric arrangements in $T^2 = \hom(\mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{C}^*)$:

$$\mathcal{A} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 7 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, (1, 1, 1, \zeta_7) \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{A} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 7 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, (1, 1, 1, \zeta_7^2) \right\},$$

where ζ is a primitive 7th-root of unity.

These arrangements have the same poset of intersections S and the same characters χ_i for $i = 1, \ldots, 4$, therefore by Theorem 2.10.4 their integral co-homology groups are isomorphic.

Definition 3.3.2. A layer $W \in S$ is *generic* if there exist exactly $\operatorname{rk} W$ hypertori containing W.

A poset is *generic* if all layers in \mathcal{S} are generic.

A poset S is *nearly generic* if there exists a layer $\overline{W} \in S$ such that all layers W not containing \overline{W} are generic.

Clearly, generic arrangements are nearly generic. We fix n characters χ_i in Λ and study the poset of layers of $\mathcal{A} = \{(\chi_i, b_i)\}_{i=1,...,n}$, where b_i ranges in \mathbb{C}^* .

Theorem 3.3.3. The subset of $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ given by

$$L(\mathcal{S}) = \{ (b_i)_i \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n \mid \mathcal{S}(\{\chi_i, b_i\}_{i=1,\dots,n}) \simeq \mathcal{S} \}$$

is a smooth locally closed subset of $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n$. Moreover, if S is nearly generic then L(S) is connected or empty.

For each $\underline{b} \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ define the hypertori $H_i = H_i(\underline{b}) = \mathcal{V}_T(1 - b_i\chi_i) \subset T$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

Lemma 3.3.4. For all subset j of $(1, \ldots, n)$, the set

$$B_j = \{ \underline{b} \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n \mid H_{j_1}(\underline{b}) \cap \dots \cap H_{j_k}(\underline{b}) \neq \emptyset \}$$

is a connected torus in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n$. Moreover, the intersection of H_{j_1}, \ldots, H_{j_k} in T is independent, up to translation, of the point $\underline{b} \in B_j$.

Proof. Without loss of generality we suppose $j_i = i$, for i = 1, ..., k and study the subtorus Y of

$$(\mathbb{C}^*)^{n+r} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{C}[b_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, b_n^{\pm 1}, z_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, z_r^{\pm 1}]$$

given by the equations $I = (1 - b_i \chi_i)_{i=1,\dots,k}$. The rings morphism

$$\mathbb{C}[b_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, b_n^{\pm 1}] \to \mathbb{C}[b_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, b_n^{\pm 1}, z_1^{\pm 1}, \dots, z_r^{\pm 1}]_{I}$$

induces a projection between the associated tori:

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} p \colon & Y & \longrightarrow & (\mathbb{C}^*)^n \\ & (\underline{b}, \underline{z}) & \longmapsto & \underline{b} \end{array}$$

The image of the map p is the closed subset B described by the contracted ideal

$$I^{c} = (1 - b_{i}\chi_{i})_{i=1,\dots,k} \cap \mathbb{C}[b_{1}^{\pm 1},\dots,b_{n}^{\pm 1}]$$

Given that the intersection of $H_1(\underline{b}), \ldots, H_k(\underline{b})$ is non-empty if and only if \underline{b} is in the image of p, B coincides with $B_{\underline{j}}$. The elimination ideal of a binomial ideal is still binomial: this is a standard fact about binomial ideals and Gröbner bases (for a proof see [ES96, Corollary 1.3]). In our case, since I is a binomial ideal, I^c is binomial and the closed subset B is a torus. Moreover, B is connected since it is the image of the connected torus Y under the map p.

The fibers of the map p are either empty or a torus. In the latter case the torus has codimension rk([k]) and m([k]) connected components. The fibre of a point in B, seen as torus in T, is obtained from any other non-empty fibre by translations.

Recall that χ_i , i = 1, ..., n, are characters of a *r*-dimensional torus.

Remark 3.3.5. Let \underline{j} be a sublist of $(1, \ldots, n)$ of cardinality k. The torus Y is of dimension n + r - k, so the set B_j is of dimension $n + r - k - \operatorname{rk} \underline{j}$. In particular, B_j is a hypertorus in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ if and only if \underline{j} is a circuit (i.e. $\operatorname{rk} \underline{j} = r - k + 1$).

Definition 3.3.6. The centred toric arrangement $D(\chi_1, \chi_2, \ldots, \chi_n)$ given by the sets $B_{\underline{j}}$, for all circuits \underline{j} , in $T' = (\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ is called *discriminantal toric* arrangement associated with the *n* characters χ_i , $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

Proof of Theorem 3.3.3. If S is not $S(\{(b_i, \chi_i)\}_{i=1,...,n})$ for some b_i , there is nothing to prove. Otherwise, for each layer W of S, let $\underline{j}(W)$ be the ordered set:

$$j(W) = \{i \mid A_i \le W\}$$

where A_i is the atom of S associated with i.

The condition $\mathcal{S}(\{(a_i, \chi_i)\}_{i=1,...,n}) = \mathcal{S}$ is equivalent to

$$\forall \underline{a} \in (\mathbb{C}^*)^n \exists W \in \mathcal{S} \left(\underline{a} \in B_{\underline{j}} \Leftrightarrow \underline{j} \subseteq \underline{j}(W) \right)$$

By Lemma 3.3.4, the set

$$L(\mathcal{S}) = \bigcap_{W \in \mathcal{S}_r} B_{\underline{j}(W)} \setminus \bigcup_{\substack{\underline{j} \not\subseteq \underline{j}(W) \\ \forall \overline{W} \in \mathcal{S}_r}} B_{\underline{j}}$$

is locally closed in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ and open in the torus $\bigcap_{W \in S_r} B_{\underline{j}(W)}$, hence it is also smooth.

If W is a generic layer, then we have that $B_{\underline{j}} = (\mathbb{C}^*)^n$ for all sets \underline{j} included in $\underline{j}(W)$. Let \mathcal{S} be a nearly generic poset and \overline{W} non-generic maximal layer; then the equality $L(\mathcal{S}) = B_{\underline{j}(\overline{W})} \setminus \bigcup_{\text{some } \underline{j}} B_{\underline{j}}$ holds. If $L(\mathcal{S})$ is nonempty, it is an irreducible set; it is connected in the Zariski topology and thus also in the euclidean one.

Example 3.3.7 (continuation of Example 3.3.1). Let S be the poset associated with A or, equivalently, to A'. The discriminantal toric arrangement associated with $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 7 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ is the centred toric arrangement in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^4 =$ Spec $\mathbb{C}[\{a_i^{\pm 1}\}_{i\leq 4}]$ given by the subtori

$$B_{3,4} = \mathcal{V}(1 - a_3 a_4^{-1})$$

$$B_{1,2,3} = \mathcal{V}(1 - a_1 a_2^{-1} a_3^7)$$

$$B_{1,2,4} = \mathcal{V}(1 - a_1 a_2^{-1} a_4^7)$$

$$B_{1,2,3,4} = \mathcal{V}(1 - a_1 a_2^{-1} a_3^7, 1 - a_3 a_4^{-1}).$$

All the others B_j are equal to $(\mathbb{C}^*)^4$ and consequently the subset $L(\mathcal{S})$ is:

$$L(\mathcal{S}) = B_{1,2,3} \cap B_{1,2,4} \setminus B_{3,4} = \{ \underline{a} \mid a_1^{-1}a_2 = a_3^7 = a_4^7, \, a_3 \neq a_4 \}$$

Roberto Pagaria

Hence the set L(S) is the disjoint union of six connected 2-dimensional tori. The two arrangements \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' belong to different connected components so they cannot be deformed one into the other by means of translations. We have thus shown that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' have the same characters and the same poset of intersections but are not poset isotopy equivalent, see Definition 3.3.8.

Definition 3.3.8. A deformation of a toric arrangement is a collection of *n* hypersurfaces H_i in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^r \times B$ (where *B* is an algebraic variety over \mathbb{C}) such that for every point $b \in B$ the subset $H_i \cap \operatorname{pr}_2^{-1}(b)$ is a hypertorus in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^r \times \{b\}$. We call M_b the open set $(\mathbb{C}^*)^r \times \{b\} \setminus \bigcup_{i \leq n} H_i$.

A deformation is said to be a *poset-preserve deformations* if the poset of layers of M_b does not depend on the point $b \in B$.

We said that two toric arrangements $M_1, M_2 \subset T$ are poset isotopic equivalent if there exists a layers-preserve deformation in $T \times B$, B connected, such that the pair (T, M_1) (and (T, M_2)) is isomorphic to a fiber $(T \times \{b_1\}, M_{b_1})$ (and, respectively, to $(T \times \{b_2\}, M_{b_2})$).

The next result is an analogous to the one on hyperplane arrangements of Randell [Ran89].

Theorem 3.3.9. If the toric arrangements $M, M' \subset T$ are poset isotopic equivalent then M and M' are diffeomorphic.

Since the group character Λ of a torus T is a discrete set, two poset isotopy equivalent arrangements M and M' are described by the same characters χ_1, \ldots, χ_n . Let S be the poset of layers of M or equivalently of M', the base B of the deformation can be chosen to be a connected component of L(S). Call U the closure of B in $(\mathbb{C}^*)^n$, clearly U is a connected torus (possibly translated) of dimension m.

Consider the torus $T \times U$ with coordinates (z_i, a_j) as before, with hypertori defined by $1 - a_j \chi_j(z) = 0$ and call \tilde{M} the toric arrangement $(T \times U) \setminus \bigcup_{i=1,\dots,n} \mathcal{V}(1 - a_j \chi_j(z))$. Choose a component-wise embedding of $T \times U$ in $(\mathbb{P}^1)^r \times (\mathbb{P}^1)^m$. The main result of [DG18b] is that there exists a smooth project variety \mathcal{W} obtained from $(\mathbb{P}^1)^{r+m}$ by means of a suitable sequence of blow-ups that contains \tilde{M} . Call \mathcal{W}_B the inverse image of $(\mathbb{P}^1)^r \times B$ through the natural map $\mathcal{W} \to (\mathbb{P}^1)^{r+m}$.

Let $w: \mathcal{W}_B \to B$ be the composition of the natural map $\mathcal{W}_B \to (\mathbb{P}^1)^r \times B$ with the projection onto the second component.

Lemma 3.3.10. The map $w: \mathcal{W}_B \to B$ is a projective smooth map.

Proof. The morphism $\mathcal{W}_B \to (\mathbb{P}^1)^r \times B$ is projective and smooth by base change of a blow-up map. The projection $(\mathbb{P}^1)^r \times B \to B$ is projective and smooth. So the composition w is smooth and projective.

Lemma 3.3.11. The variety \mathcal{W}_B admits a Whitney stratification whose open stratum is naturally isomorphic to \tilde{M} .

Proof. The complement \mathcal{K} of M in \mathcal{W}_B is a union of some smooth divisors \mathcal{K}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, k$. Moreover \mathcal{K} is normal crossing (see [DG18b]). Consider the stratification given by the closed sets \mathcal{K}_i , $i = 1, \ldots, k$. Each stratum has smooth closure in \mathcal{W}_B , therefore by [Ran89, Lemma] this is a Whitney stratification.

To prove of Theorem 3.3.9 we follow the ideas of [Ran89].

Proof of Theorem 3.3.9. We apply the Thom's isotopy theorem ([GM88, Section I Theorem 1.5]) to the map w. Consider the Whitney stratification on \mathcal{W}_B of Lemma 3.3.11. Since the poset of layers is the same for every point $b \in B$, the restriction of the map $w: \mathcal{W}_B \to B$ to every stratum is a submersion. Hence for all $b \in B$, there exists a smooth stratum-preserving map h such that the diagram below commutes:



Thus for all $b' \in B$, M_b and $M_{b'}$ are diffeomorphic.

3.4 A first example

The example that we will expose in this section is a generalization of [CD17, Example 7.3.2]. Using Theorem 2.6.10 and Theorem 2.10.4 we compute the cohomology algebra

Let $A = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A^n$ be a graded-commutative *R*-algebra and consider for each $\alpha \in A^1$ the left multiplication $\delta^i_{\alpha} : A^i \to A^{i+1}$. The pair $(A; \delta_{\alpha})$ is a complex for each $\alpha \in A^1$.

Definition 3.4.1. The k^{th} resonance variety of A is

$$\mathcal{R}^k(A) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ \alpha \in A^1 \mid H^k(A, \delta_\alpha) \neq 0 \}.$$

The k^{th} resonance varieties (with coefficients in the domain R) for a toric arrangement \mathcal{A} is

 $\mathcal{R}^{k}(\mathcal{A}; R) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{R}^{k}(H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); R)).$

We will use only the first resonance variety $\mathcal{R}^1(\mathcal{A}, R)$ of a toric arrangement \mathcal{A} , where R is the ring \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{Q} .

In this section we set $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^2$. Consider the arrangements \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}_n^a in T defined respectively by the matrices

$$N = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $N_n^a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a & a+1 \\ 0 & n & n \end{pmatrix}$,

where n is a positive integer and a, a + 1 are relatively prime to n.

We use Theorem 2.2.16 to calculate the Poincaré polynomials of these arrangements. The Poincaré polynomial of $M(\mathcal{A})$ is $1 + 5t + 6t^2$ and that of $M(\mathcal{A}_n^a)$ is $1 + 5t + (2n + 4)t^2$. The arithmetic Tutte polynomial of the arithmetic matroid ([3], $\operatorname{rk}_{\mathcal{A}}, m_{\mathcal{A}}$) is $x^2 + x + y$, the one of ([3], $\operatorname{rk}_{\mathcal{A}_n^a}, m_{\mathcal{A}_n^a}$) is $x^2 + x + ny + 2n - 2$. By the way, we have $\operatorname{rk}_{\mathcal{A}} = \operatorname{rk}_{\mathcal{A}_n^a}$.

Theorem 3.4.2. Let n > 5 be a natural number relatively prime to 6, the arrangements \mathcal{A}_n^1 and \mathcal{A}_n^2 have isomorphic posets of layers but non isomorphic cohomology algebras with integer coefficients.

From Theorem 2.9.13 the two arrangements \mathcal{A}_n^1 and \mathcal{A}_n^2 have isomorphic cohomology algebras with rational coefficients. We need a couple of lemmas to prove Theorem 3.4.2.

Lemma 3.4.3. Let A be a graded-commutative algebra over \mathbb{Q} . The first resonance variety $\mathcal{R}^1(A)$ is a union (possibly infinite) of planes in A^1 .

Proof. If $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^1(A)$, then there exists $\beta \in A^1 \setminus \alpha \mathbb{Q}$ such that $\alpha \beta = 0$. Thus, the plane generated by α and β is contained in $\mathcal{R}^1(A)$. We obtain the desired result from the arbitrariness of $\alpha \in \mathcal{R}^1(A)$.

We use coordinates t_1, t_2 on T and we apply Theorem 2.6.10. The cohomology ring of $M(\mathcal{A})$ is generated by the closed forms

$$\omega_1 = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(1 - t_1),$$

$$\omega_2 = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(1 - t_2),$$

$$\omega_3 = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(1 - t_1 t_2),$$

associated with the hypertori H_1, H_2, H_3 respectively, together with the forms $\psi_1 = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(t_1)$ and $\psi_2 = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log(t_2)$ (ψ_3 is equal to $\psi_1 + \psi_2$). The relations are:

$$\omega_1 \omega_2 - \omega_1 \omega_3 + \omega_2 \omega_3 - \omega_3 \psi_1 = 0,
 \omega_1 \psi_1 = 0,
 \omega_2 \psi_2 = 0,
 \omega_3 \psi_1 + \omega_3 \psi_2 = 0.$$
(3.4)

Lemma 3.4.4. The first resonance variety $\mathcal{R}^1(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{Q})$ of the complement of \mathcal{A} is the union of the following five planes of $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$;

$$\begin{split} P_1 &= \langle \omega_1, \psi_1 \rangle, \\ P_2 &= \langle \omega_2, \psi_2 \rangle, \\ P_3 &= \langle \omega_3, \psi_1 + \psi_2 \rangle, \\ P_4 &= \langle \omega_1 - \omega_3, \omega_1 - \omega_2 - \psi_1 \rangle, \\ P_5 &= \langle \omega_2 - \omega_3, \omega_1 - \omega_2 + \psi_2 \rangle. \end{split}$$

Proof. The multiplication map $f : H^1(M(\mathcal{A})) \otimes H^1(M(\mathcal{A})) \to H^2(M(\mathcal{A}))$ is surjective and factors through $\wedge^2 H^1(M(\mathcal{A}))$. The kernel of

$$\tilde{f} \colon \wedge^2 H^1(M(\mathcal{A})) \longrightarrow H^2(M(\mathcal{A}))$$
$$\alpha \land \beta \longmapsto \alpha \beta$$

has dimension $4 = \binom{5}{2} - 6$, hence $L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{P}(\ker \tilde{f}) \simeq \mathbb{P}^3$ is a linear subspace of $\mathbb{P}(\wedge^2 H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}))) \simeq \mathbb{P}^9$.

An element $\alpha \in H^1(M(\mathcal{A}))$ belongs to the first resonance varieties if and only if there exists $\beta \in H^1(M(\mathcal{A}))$ such that $\alpha\beta = 0$ in $H^2(M(\mathcal{A}))$ and $\beta \notin \mathbb{C}\alpha$. This implies that $\alpha \wedge \beta$ is in ker \tilde{f} and so $[\alpha \wedge \beta]$ is in the linear subspace L. Viceversa if $[\gamma]$ belongs to L and is a decomposable tensor (i.e. belongs to $\operatorname{gr}(2, H^1(M(\mathcal{A}))))$ then $[\gamma] = [\alpha \wedge \beta]$ and the plane $\langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ is contained in the first resonance variety.

Now we prove that the intersection $L \cap \operatorname{gr}(2, H^1(M(\mathcal{A})))$ is the disjoint union of five points. The relations in eq. (3.4) implies the following factorized equations

$$(\omega_1 - \omega_3)(\omega_1 - \omega_2 - \psi_1) = 0, (\omega_2 - \omega_3)(\omega_1 - \omega_2 + \psi_2) = 0.$$

These equations ensure that the five different points $[P_i]$, $i = 1, \ldots, 5$ lie in this intersection. The dimension of the Grassmannian $\operatorname{gr}(k, V)$ is $k(\dim V - k)$, which in our case is equal to 6. Moreover, when k = 2 its degree coincides with the Catalan number $C_{\dim V-2}$. The formula for the degree of the Plücker embedding of the Grassmannian is due to Schubert in 1886, we refer to [GW11]. Hence $\operatorname{gr}(2, H^1(M(\mathcal{A})))$ has degree 5 and every $\mathbb{P}^3 \subset \mathbb{P}^9$ intersects $\operatorname{gr}(2, 5)$ scheme-theoretically in five points (this is the general case) or in a sub-variety of positive dimension.

We exclude the latter case by explicit computation. Fix the Plücker coordinates $[x_{ij}]_{1 \le i < j \le 5}$ of \mathbb{P}^9 , where $\{\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3, \psi_1, \psi_2\}$ is the chosen basis of $H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A}))$. The coordinates of the five planes – in lexicographical order $[x_{1,2}, x_{1,3}, x_{1,4}, \ldots, x_{4,5}]$ – are:

$$\begin{split} P_1 &= [0, 0, 1, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0], \\ P_2 &= [0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 0, 0, 0], \\ P_3 &= [0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 1, 1, 0], \\ P_4 &= [1, -1, 1, 0, 1, 0, 0, -1, 0, 0], \\ P_5 &= [1, -1, 0, 0, 1, 0, -1, 0, 1, 0]. \end{split}$$

Thus the linear subspace L has equation given by the ideal

$$I \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (x_{15}, x_{24}, x_{45}, x_{12} + x_{13}, x_{13} + x_{23}, x_{13} - x_{34} + x_{35}).$$

Roberto Pagaria

The equation of the Grassmannian are given by the Pfaffian of principal minors of size four of a skew-symmetric matrix. Thus the defining ideal is

$$J \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (x_{12}x_{34} - x_{13}x_{24} + x_{14}x_{23}, x_{12}x_{35} - x_{13}x_{25} + x_{15}x_{23}, x_{12}x_{45} - x_{14}x_{25} + x_{15}x_{24}, x_{13}x_{45} - x_{14}x_{35} + x_{15}x_{34}, x_{23}x_{45} - x_{24}x_{35} + x_{25}x_{34})$$

and the sum of the two ideals is

$$I + J = (x_{15}, x_{24}, x_{45}, x_{14}x_{25}, x_{14}x_{35}, x_{25}x_{34}, x_{12} + x_{13}, x_{13} + x_{23}, x_{13} - x_{34} + x_{35}, x_{12}x_{34} + x_{14}x_{23}, x_{12}x_{35} - x_{13}x_{25}).$$

This last ideal is zero dimensional; this computation was done in Sage [The18] and by hand. Therefore, the intersection of the subspace $\mathbb{P}(\ker \tilde{f})$ with the Grassmannian $\operatorname{gr}(2, H^1(\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{A})))$ is (scheme theoretically) the union of five points. Since we have exhibit five distinct rational points, we obtain that the first resonance variety $\mathcal{R}^1(\mathcal{A}; \mathbb{Q})$ is the union of the five corresponding planes.

The map $T \to T$ defined by $(t_1, t_2) \mapsto (t_1, t_1^a t_2^n)$ is a cyclic Galois covering. For every n and a the above map restricts to a Galois covering $\pi_a \colon M(\mathcal{A}_n^a) \to M(\mathcal{A})$ with Galois group $\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$. The map π_a induces an inclusion

$$\pi_a^*: H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Z}) \hookrightarrow H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}_n^a); \mathbb{Z})$$

of cohomology rings with integer coefficients.

Since *n* is coprime with 2 and 3, $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}_n^a);\mathbb{Z})$ has rank five, equal to that of $H^1(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Z})$. Let $\alpha = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log t_1$ and $\beta = \frac{1}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \operatorname{d} \log t_2$ be the two canonical generators of $H^1(T;\mathbb{Z})$ as sub-lattice of $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}_n^a);\mathbb{Z})$: then the morphism π_a^* is:

$$\begin{split} \pi_a^*(\psi_1) &= \alpha, \\ \pi_a^*(\psi_2) &= n\beta + a\alpha, \\ \pi_a^*(\omega_i) &= \omega_i \quad \text{ for } i = 1, 2, 3. \end{split}$$

Lemma 3.4.5. The first resonance variety $\mathcal{R}^1(\mathcal{A}_n^a;\mathbb{Z})$ is the union of the following five sub-lattices of $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}_n^a);\mathbb{Z})$:

$$Q_{1} = \langle \omega_{1}, \alpha \rangle,$$

$$Q_{2} = \langle \omega_{2}, n\beta + a\alpha \rangle,$$

$$Q_{3} = \langle \omega_{3}, n\beta + (a+1)\alpha \rangle,$$

$$Q_{4} = \langle \omega_{1} - \omega_{3}, \omega_{2} - \omega_{1} + \alpha \rangle,$$

$$Q_{5} = \langle \omega_{2} - \omega_{3}, \omega_{1} - \omega_{2} + n\beta + a\alpha \rangle.$$



Figure 3.2: The Hasse diagram of the poset of layers of \mathcal{A}_7^1 which coincides with the one of \mathcal{A}_7^2

Proof. For i = 1, 2, the lattice $H^i(M(\mathcal{A}_n^a); \mathbb{Z})$ is embedded in $H^i(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$ and the first resonance variety $R^1(\mathcal{A}_n^a; \mathbb{Z})$ is the intersection

$$\mathcal{R}^{1}(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{a};\mathbb{Z}) = \mathcal{R}^{1}(\mathcal{A};\mathbb{Q}) \bigcap H^{1}(M(\mathcal{A}_{n}^{a});\mathbb{Z}).$$

Now we can complete the proof of Theorem 3.4.2.

Proof of Theorem 3.4.2. The posets of layers $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}_n^1)$ and $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}_n^2)$ are isomorphic because they have 3 connected hypertori that intersect in n points $(1, \zeta_n^i)$ for $i = 0, \ldots, n-1$ (where ζ_n is a n^{th} primitive root of unity). The Hasse diagram of the posets of layers in the case n = 7 is represented in Figure 3.2. Suppose that there exists an isomorphism $\varphi: H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}_n^1); \mathbb{Z}) \to H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}_n^2); \mathbb{Z})$; then φ must map $\mathcal{R}^1(\mathcal{A}_n^1; \mathbb{Z})$ isomorphically into $\mathcal{R}^1(\mathcal{A}_n^2; \mathbb{Z})$. Furthermore, φ sends each component Q_i^1 into another component $Q_{f(i)}^2$. For each (i, j), consider the cardinality $c^a(i, j)$ of the torsion subgroup of $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}_n^a); \mathbb{Z})/\langle Q_i^a, Q_j^a \rangle$ for a = 1, 2. The value of $c^a(i, j)$ is n when (i, j) = (1, 2), (1, 3), (2, 3), (4, 5) and 1 otherwise, both for a = 1 and a = 2. Thus, φ maps Q_1^1, Q_2^1, Q_3^1 into Q_1^2, Q_2^2, Q_3^2 in some order. For a = 1, 2 the following equality holds

$$H^1((\mathbb{C}^*)^2;\mathbb{Z}) = \operatorname{Rad}\left(\bigcap_{1 \le i < j \le 3} \langle Q_i^a, Q_j^a \rangle\right)$$

hence φ preserves the sub-lattice $L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^1((\mathbb{C}^*)^2; \mathbb{Z}) = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$. Now we claim that there is no linear map $\varphi_{|L} : L \to L$ that sends the three sub-lattices

$$\left\{\,Q_1^1\cap L,Q_2^1\cap L,Q_3^1\cap L\,\right\}$$

into $\{Q_1^2 \cap L, Q_2^2 \cap L, Q_3^2 \cap L\}$ in some order. The three one-dimensional lattices are $Q_1^1 \cap L = \langle \alpha \rangle, Q_2^1 \cap L = \langle n\beta + \alpha \rangle, Q_3^1 \cap L = \langle n\beta + 2\alpha \rangle$ for the arrangement \mathcal{A}_n^1 and the lattices $Q_1^2 \cap L = \langle \alpha \rangle, Q_2^2 \cap L = \langle n\beta + 2\alpha \rangle, Q_3^2 \cap L = \langle n\beta + 3\alpha \rangle$ for the arrangement \mathcal{A}_n^2 . In the case a = 1 we can find generators for two of those lattices (e.g. $-\alpha$ and $n\beta + \alpha$) such that their sum belongs to the sublattice nL. This property does not hold for the arrangement \mathcal{A}_n^2 : indeed $\pm \alpha \pm (n\beta + 2\alpha), \pm \alpha \pm (n\beta + 3\alpha), \pm (n\beta + 2\alpha) \pm (n\beta + 3\alpha)$ are not in nL (here we use $n \neq 5$). Thus, we conclude that the map φ cannot exist. \Box

3.5 A second example

The following example is constructed by looking for two toric arrangements with the following properties. The underline matroid is not a modular matroid. The two toric arrangements are coverings of the same toric arrangement with non cyclic Galois group. The smallest example of such arrangements must have rank at least three and four hypertori.

Consider the three matrices

$$N = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 3 \\ 0 & 5 & 0 & 5 \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & 5 \end{pmatrix}, \quad N' = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 & 1 & 6 \\ 0 & 5 & 0 & 5 \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & 5 \end{pmatrix}, \quad N'' = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

These integer matrices describe three central toric arrangements \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{A}' and \mathcal{A}'' in $T = (\mathbb{C}^*)^3$. Both \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' are Galois coverings of \mathcal{A}'' with Galois group $\mathbb{Z}_5 \times \mathbb{Z}_5$.

Let ([4], $\operatorname{rk},m)$ be the arithmetic matroid defined by $\operatorname{rk}(S)=\min(|S|,3)$ and by

$$m(S) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |S| \le 1\\ 5 & \text{if } |S| = 2\\ 25 & \text{if } |S| \ge 3 \end{cases}$$

Remark 3.5.1. If we identify $\operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathbb{Z}_5^2, \mathbb{Z}^3) \simeq (\mathbb{Z}_5^2)^3$ using the canonical basis of \mathbb{Z}^3 and if we choose as representation of $(E, \operatorname{rk}, \overline{m})$ the columns of the matrix N'', then the representations N and N' are classified by the two different elements

$$\left[\left(\begin{array}{rrr} -1 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \right], \qquad \left[\left(\begin{array}{rrr} -1 & 0 & 1 \\ -4 & 1 & 0 \end{array} \right) \right]$$

of \mathcal{C} , respectively.

Let \mathcal{M} be the matroid over \mathbb{Z} defined by

$$\mathcal{M}(S) = \begin{cases} \mathbb{Z}^3 & \text{if } |S| = 0\\ \mathbb{Z}^2 & \text{if } |S| = 1\\ \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/5\mathbb{Z} & \text{if } |S| = 2\\ \mathbb{Z}/5\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/5\mathbb{Z} & \text{if } |S| \ge 3 \end{cases}$$

Theorem 3.5.2. The matrices N and N' are representations of the arithmetic matroid ([4], rk , m) and of the matroid \mathcal{M} over \mathbb{Z} . Moreover, the posets $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}')$ are not isomorphic.

Proof. The first assertion follows from the Smith normal form of N[S] and of N'[S], the matrices obtained from N and N' by taking only the columns indexed by S. The second one follows from Lemma 3.5.3 below.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

101

The Poincaré polynomials of the complements $M(\mathcal{A})$ and $M(\mathcal{A}')$ coincide with

$$P(t) = P'(t) = 110t^3 + 41t^2 + 7t + 1.$$

The one of $M(\mathcal{A}'')$ is $P''(t) = 14t^3 + 17t^2 + 7t + 1$. The Tutte polynomial of the arithmetic matroid ([4], rk, m) is $x^3 + x^2 + 25x + 25y + 48$ and the one associated with N'' is $x^3 + x^2 + x + y$.

Define $a \lor b$ as the set of all least upper bound of a, b in the poset of layers. Consider the following property

$$\exists \{i, j\} \cup \{k, l\} = [4] \forall a \in i \lor j, \forall b \in k \lor l (a \lor b \neq \emptyset).$$
(P)

In other words, the property (P) for $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ (or for $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}')$) says that there exists a choice of two hypertori H_i, H_j in \mathcal{A} (resp. in \mathcal{A}') such that every connected component of $H_i \cap H_j$ intersects every connected component of $H_k \cap H_l$.

Lemma 3.5.3. The property (P) holds for $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A})$ but not for $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}')$.

Proof. We first discuss the poset $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}')$. Consider (i, j, k, l) = (1, 2, 3, 4), there are five possible joins $1 \vee 2$ that correspond to the five layers

$$a_{\mu}: \begin{cases} x=1\\ y=\mu \end{cases}$$

where μ runs over all the fifth roots of unity. Analogously, the joins of 3 and 4 are the five layers

$$b_{\zeta} : \begin{cases} x = z^{-5} \\ y = \zeta z^5 \end{cases}$$

where ζ runs over all the fifth roots of unity. A join $a_{\mu} \vee b_{\zeta}$ exists if and only if the system

$$\begin{cases} x = 1 \\ y = \mu \\ z^{5} = 1 \\ y = \zeta z^{5} \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

admits a solution. If $\zeta = \mu$, then the system has five solutions, otherwise there are no solutions. In particular, the property (P) does not hold for the poset $S(\mathcal{A}')$.

The following case by case analysis shows that the three systems for the arrangement \mathcal{A} analogous to (3.5) have always a unique solution:

$$\begin{cases} x = 1 \\ y = \mu \\ xz^5 = 1 \\ xyz^3 = \zeta \end{cases}, \begin{cases} x = 1 \\ z = \mu \\ xy^5 = 1 \\ x^2y^3z = \zeta \end{cases}, \begin{cases} x = 1 \\ yz = \mu \\ xy^5 = 1 \\ y = \zeta z \end{cases} \square$$

Proposition 3.5.4. The spaces $M(\mathcal{A})$ and $M(\mathcal{A}')$ have non-isomorphic cohomology algebras with rational coefficients, i.e.

$$H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A});\mathbb{Q}) \not\simeq H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}');\mathbb{Q}).$$

Proof. Suppose that an isomorphism $\varphi : H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q}) \to H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}'); \mathbb{Q})$ exists. We claim that $\varphi(H^{\bullet}(T; \mathbb{Q})) = H^{\bullet}(T; \mathbb{Q})$ where T is the ambient torus. The proof of the claim is analogous to the one of Lemma 3.4.4. The first resonance variety of $M(\mathcal{A})$ and $M(\mathcal{A}')$ are the union of the four planes

$$\begin{array}{ll} Q_1 = \langle \omega_1, \alpha \rangle, & Q_1' = \langle \omega_1, \alpha \rangle, \\ Q_2 = \langle \omega_2, 4\alpha + 5\beta \rangle, & Q_2' = \langle \omega_2, \alpha + 5\beta \rangle, \\ Q_3 = \langle \omega_3, \alpha + 5\gamma \rangle, & Q_3' = \langle \omega_3, \alpha + 5\gamma \rangle, \\ Q_4 = \langle \omega_4, 3\alpha + 5\beta + 5\gamma \rangle, & Q_4' = \langle \omega_4, 6\alpha + 5\beta + 5\gamma \rangle, \end{array}$$

since the unique relations in cohomology of degree two are $\omega_i \psi_i = 0$ (see Theorem 2.9.13). Thus there exists a bijection $f: [4] \to [4]$ such that φ sends Q_i into $Q'_{f(i)}$, for $i = 1, \ldots, 4$. Since $H^1(T; \mathbb{Q}) = \bigcap_{i=1}^4 \langle Q_j \rangle_{j \neq i}$ in $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})$ and $H^1(T; \mathbb{Q}) = \bigcap_{i=1}^4 \langle Q'_j \rangle_{j \neq i}$ in $H^1(M(\mathcal{A}'); \mathbb{Q})$, the map φ preserves the subspace $H^{\bullet}(T; \mathbb{Q})$. Consider now the quotients $S^{\bullet} = H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}); \mathbb{Q})/(H^1(T; \mathbb{Q}))$ and $S'^{\bullet} = H^{\bullet}(M(\mathcal{A}'); \mathbb{Q})/(H^1(T; \mathbb{Q}))$. The multiplication map $S^1 \times S^2 \to S^3$ has rank 51, instead the map $S'^1 \times S'^2 \to S'^3$ has rank 43. The rank of the two multiplication maps can be calculated with a computer. Therefore the map φ cannot be an isomorphism. \Box

The difference between the rank of $S^1 \times S^2 \to S^3$ and $S'^1 \times S'^2 \to S'^3$ can be explained intuitively.

For every $I \subseteq [4]$, the set of connected components of $\bigcap_{i \in I} H_i$ has a natural group structure, induced by the ambient torus. We call this group $\mathrm{LG}(I)$. Moreover given $I \subset J \subseteq [4]$, there exists a natural group homomorphism $\pi: \mathrm{LG}(J) \to \mathrm{LG}(I)$ that maps a connected component W to the unique connected component of $\bigcap_{i \in I} H_i$ containing W. In our case, since $\bigcap_{j \neq i} H_j =$ $\bigcap_{j \in [4]} H_j$ for all $i \in [4]$, the map $\mathrm{LG}([4]) \to \mathrm{LG}([4] \setminus \{i\})$ is the identity. Call $\pi_{i,j}: \mathrm{LG}([4]) \to \mathrm{LG}(\{i, j\})$ the canonical projection.

Given I and J of cardinality two, there exists an isomorphism φ_I^J such that the following diagram commutes

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{LG}([4]) & \xrightarrow{\pi_{I}} & \mathrm{LG}(I) \\ & & \downarrow^{\pi_{J}} & & & \\ & \mathrm{LG}(J) \end{array}$$

if and only if ker $\pi_I = \ker \pi_J$. We compute all these kernels both for \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{A}' and we report it in Table 3.1, where e_1 and e_2 are two generators of $\mathrm{LG}([4]) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/5\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/5\mathbb{Z}$.

Table 3.1: For every set $I \subset [4]$, |I| = 2, we describe the kernel of π_I and of π'_I .

Ι	$\ker \pi_I$	$\ker \pi_I'$
$\{1,2\}$	$\langle e_2 \rangle$	$\langle e_2 \rangle$
$\{1, 3\}$	$\langle e_1 \rangle$	$\langle e_1 \rangle$
$\{1, 4\}$	$\langle e_1 - e_2 \rangle$	$\langle e_1 - e_2 \rangle$
$\{2, 3\}$	$\langle 4e_1 - e_2 \rangle$	$\langle e_1 - e_2 \rangle$
$\{2, 4\}$	$\langle 2e_1 - e_2 \rangle$	$\langle 3e_1 - e_2 \rangle$
$\{3, 4\}$	$\langle 3e_1 - e_2 \rangle$	$\langle e_2 \rangle$

From Theorem 2.9.13, we have that S^{\bullet} is generated by the image of $\overline{\omega}_i := \overline{\omega}_{H_i,\{i\}}$ for $i \in [4]$, of $\overline{\omega}_{a,I}$ for |I| = 2 and $a \in \mathrm{LG}(I)$, and of $\overline{\omega}_{b,[4]\setminus\{i\}}$ for $i \in [4]$ and $b \in \mathrm{LG}([4])$. The linear relations are

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} (-1)^i \overline{\omega}_{b,[4] \setminus \{i\}} = 0$$

for each $b \in LG([4])$. The product $S^1 \times S^2 \to S^3$ is defined by

$$\overline{\omega}_i \overline{\omega}_{a,\{j,k\}} = (-1)^{l(\{i\},\{j,k\})} \sum_{b \in \pi_{j,k}^{-1}(a)} \overline{\omega}_{b,\{i,j,k\}}.$$

The analogous definitions and formulas hold for the arrangement \mathcal{A}' . In the algebra S'^{\bullet} the following relations hold for $a \in \mathrm{LG}'(\{1,2\})$ and $c \in \mathrm{LG}'(\{1,4\})$:

$$\begin{split} (\overline{\omega}'_1 - \overline{\omega}'_2 + \overline{\omega}'_3 - \overline{\omega}'_4)(\overline{\omega}'_{a,\{1,2\}} + \overline{\omega}'_{\varphi^{3,4}_{1,2}(a),\{3,4\}}) &= 0, \\ (\overline{\omega}'_1 + \overline{\omega}'_2 - \overline{\omega}'_3 - \overline{\omega}'_4)(\overline{\omega}'_{c,\{1,4\}} + \overline{\omega}'_{\varphi^{2,3}_{1,4}(c),\{2,3\}}) &= 0, \end{split}$$

since ker $\pi'_{1,2} = \ker \pi'_{3,4}$ and ker $\pi'_{1,4} = \ker \pi'_{2,3}$. These equations give ten independent relations, the corresponding relations in the algebra S^{\bullet} are only two:

$$(\overline{\omega}_1 - \overline{\omega}_2 + \overline{\omega}_3 - \overline{\omega}_4) \left(\sum_{a \in \mathrm{LG}(\{1,2\})} \overline{\omega}_{a,\{1,2\}} + \sum_{b \in \mathrm{LG}(\{3,4\})} \overline{\omega}_{b,\{3,4\}} \right) = 0,$$

$$(\overline{\omega}_1 + \overline{\omega}_2 - \overline{\omega}_3 - \overline{\omega}_4) \left(\sum_{c \in \mathrm{LG}(\{1,4\})} \overline{\omega}_{c,\{1,4\}} + \sum_{d \in \mathrm{LG}(\{2,3\})} \overline{\omega}_{d,\{2,3\}} \right) = 0,$$

since ker $\pi_{1,2} \neq \ker \pi_{3,4}$ and ker $\pi_{1,4} \neq \ker \pi_{2,3}$.

By [DR18, Theorem E], the G-semimatroids described by N and N' are different.

D'Alì and Delucchi proved that both posets are homology Cohen-Macaulay over fields of all but a finite number of characteristics [DD18]. It was conjectured that the arithmetic independence poset is shellable. Notice that the nonarithmetic versions of these posets (the poset of flats and the independence poset of an ordinary matroid) are shellable, and therefore Cohen-Macaulay over fields of every characteristic.

Let M be the arithmetic matroid associated with the matrix N, by using the algorithm described [PP19b], we find that M has 13 non-equivalent essential representation. These 13 representations give rise to 3 non-isomorphic posets of layers. These 3 posets are realized by the matrices N, N' and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 2 & 1 \\ 0 & 5 & 0 & 5 \\ 0 & 0 & 5 & -5 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The homology of the order complex of the poset of layers (with the bottom element removed) is equal to $(0, \mathbb{Z}_5, \mathbb{Z}^{48})$ in all 3 cases. In particular, these posets of layers are not Cohen-Macaulay in characteristic 5, and therefore are not shellable. However, posets of layers of toric arrangements associated with root systems were proved to be shellable [DGP17, Pao18].

The arithmetic independence posets of the 13 representations of M are pairwise isomorphic. Their order complexes (with the bottom element removed) have homology $(0, \mathbb{Z}_5, \mathbb{Z}^{73})$. Therefore these posets are not Cohen-Macaulay in characteristic 5, and are not shellable.

Our observations settle a number of different conjectures about the posets associated with a toric arrangement, but also highlight the following problem.

Question 3.5.5. Let M be an arithmetic matroid. Are the arithmetic independence posets of the representations of M always pairwise isomorphic?

Chapter 4

Cohomology of Configurations Spaces

We study the rational cohomology of the configuration space of unordered points on closed orientable surfaces. In particular, we compute the mixed Hodge structure on the cohomology and the action of the mapping class group, by finding a series with coefficients in the Grothendieck ring of $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ that describes explicitly the decomposition of the cohomology into irreducible representations. From that we deduce the mixed Hodge numbers and the Betti numbers, obtaining a formula without cancellations. In the case of the 2-torus we compute the structure of the cohomology ring and we prove the formality over the rationals. We also conjecture the mixed Hodge numbers of the ordered configuration spaces on the 2-torus.

The results of Section 4.3 are essentially new and unpublished. Sections 4.2 and 4.4 appear in [Pag19c] and Sections 4.5 to 4.7 are taken from [Pag19a]. Some minor results also appear in [Pag18c].

4.1 Introduction

Configuration spaces of points are related to physics (state spaces of noncolliding particles on a manifold), robotics (motion planning), knot theory, and topology. Configuration spaces give invariants of the homeomorphism type of the base space. In the algebraic setting, configuration spaces are open in the moduli spaces of points.

The ordered configuration space of n points in a topological space X is

$$\mathcal{F}_n(X) = \{ (p_1, \dots, p_n) \in X^n \mid p_i \neq p_j \}.$$

We are interested in the unordered configuration space of X, that is

$$\mathcal{C}_n(X) = \{ I \subset X \mid |I| = n \} = \mathcal{F}_n(X) / \mathfrak{S}_n$$

Since the literature is very extensive, we compare our work only with the main results on the (co-)homology of configuration spaces. The first computation of the cohomology algebra of configuration spaces is due to Arnold [Arn69, Arn70] in the case of \mathbb{R}^2 . This result has been generalized by Cohen, Lada, and May [CLM76] to the configuration space of \mathbb{R}^n and later by Goresky and Macpherson [GM88]. Partially additive results have been obtained: by Bödigheimer and Cohen [BC88] for once-punctured oriented surfaces, by the same authors and Taylor [BCT89] for odd dimensional manifolds, and by Drummond-Cole and Knudsen [DCK17] for surfaces in general. However there is no description of the ring structure. The Betti numbers $\mathcal{C}_n(X)$ are described in the following cases: for $X = \mathbb{P}^2(\mathbb{R})$ by Wang [Wan02], for X a sphere by Salvatore [Sal04], for $X = \mathbb{P}^2(\mathbb{C})$ by Felix and Tanré [FT05] and for elliptic curves by Maguire and Schiessl [Mag16, Sch16].

The Euler characteristic of the configuration spaces of any even-dimensional orientable closed manifold M was computed by Felix and Thomas in [FT00] by the following formula:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \chi(\mathcal{C}_n(M))u^n = (1+u)^{\chi(M)}.$$

In the case of surfaces, this formula can be obtained from eq. (4.21) by setting t = s = -1 and taking the dimension of the representations.

Results

We compute the rational cohomology of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$ where Σ_g is the Riemann surface of genus g. We improve the previous results on configuration spaces on surfaces in three ways, see Theorem 4.7.11:

- we determine the mixed hodge numbers,
- we describe the action of the mapping class group on the gradation of the cohomology,
- we obtain a formula for Betti numbers without cancellations.

We also improve the previous results on configuration spaces in an elliptic curve in three ways.

- We describe the action of the mapping class group on the cohomology (no gradation for the torus), see Theorem 4.4.5.
- We give an equivariant description of the ring structure of the cohomology (Theorem 4.4.11).
- The formality result over the rationals is proven in Corollary 4.4.13.
Techniques

The main tools used are the Križ model and representation theory. The Križ model [Kri94, Tot96, FM94] is the differential graded commutative algebra over \mathbb{Q} (for short DGCA)

$$\mathcal{A}^{\bullet,\bullet}(X,n) = \overset{H^{\bullet}(X)^{\otimes n} \otimes \wedge^{\bullet} V}{\swarrow}_{I},$$

where V is the \mathbb{Q} -vector space with basis $\{G_{i,j}\}_{i < j}$ and

$$I = (G_{i,j}G_{j,k} + G_{j,k}G_{i,k} + G_{i,k}G_{i,j}, G_{i,j}(x_i - x_j))_{\substack{i < j < k \in [n], \\ x \in H^{\bullet}(X)}}$$

where the element x_i is $1 \otimes 1 \otimes \cdots \otimes x \otimes \cdots \otimes 1 \in H^{\bullet}(X)^{\otimes n}$ with x in position i. The differential d on A(X, n) is defined by $d(x_i) = 0$ and by $d(G_{i,j}) = \Delta_{i,j}$, where $\Delta_{i,j}$ is the class of the diagonal in $H^{\bullet}(X)^{\otimes 2} \stackrel{i,j}{\longrightarrow} H^{\bullet}(X)^{\otimes n}$. The bidegrees of the generators are $|x_i| = (|x|, 0)$ and $|G_{i,j}| = (0, 2d - 1)$, where $d = \dim_{\mathbb{C}} X$. There is an isomorphism of bigraded algebras $H(A(X, n), d) \simeq H(\mathcal{F}_n(X))$, where the bigradation on the cohomology is given by the mixed Hodge structure. This model was generalized by Bibby [Bib16a] and Dupont [Dup16a] to general arrangements of hypersurfaces in smooth projective varieties.

Remark 4.1.1. The model $A^{\bullet,\bullet}$ coincides with the Križ model E^{\bullet}_{\bullet} introduced in [Kri94] up to shifting the degrees, i.e.

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q} \cong E_q^{p+q}.$$

The dga E^{\bullet}_{\bullet} is a rational model for X, as shown in [Kri94, Theorem 1.1].

The symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n acts on the algebra A(X, n) and the \mathfrak{S}_n -invariant subalgebra is a model for the space $\mathcal{C}_n(X)$, indeed we have the isomorphism $H(A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}, d) \simeq H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(X))$. We use the results of [AAB14, Aza15] that describes the action of the symmetric group on the Križ model.

Let Σ_g be a Riemann surface, Γ_g be its mapping class group, and I_g be the Torelli subgroup. Recall the short exact sequence

$$0 \to I_g \to \Gamma_g \to \operatorname{Sp}(2g) \to 0.$$

The natural action of the subgroup I_g on $H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g))$ is not trivial, but the induced action on $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g))$ is trivial. Indeed, we have $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g)) \simeq$ $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{A}(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}, d)$ functorially, hence the isomorphism is Γ_g -equivariant. The action of Γ_g on the algebra $\mathcal{A}(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is clearly symplectic thus I_g acts trivially on $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g))$.

The action of the Torelli group is studied in [Bia19] in the case of once punctured surfaces and it is non trivial on $H_2(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g \setminus \{*\}))$. From Theorem 4.7.11, we deduced that the filtration F. is trivial in cohomological degrees 0, 1, 2 and also in degree 3 if g = 2. Thus in this cases the action of the mapping class group is symplectic. The case g = 1 is special and we denote Σ_1 by E. Indeed, I_1 is the trivial group and the action of the Torelli group is symplectic. Moreover, the Križ model splits as dga

$$A^{\bullet,\bullet}(E,n) \cong B^{\bullet,\bullet}(n) \otimes_{\mathbb{O}} D^{\bullet,0}$$

in equivariant way. Where B(n) is the model for the space

$$\mathcal{M}_n(E) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ (p_1, \dots, p_n) \in \mathcal{F}_n(E) \mid \sum p_i = 0 \} .$$

and $D \cong H(E; \mathbb{Q})$. Notice that there exists a non-canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{F}_n \cong E \times \mathcal{M}_n(E)$.

The mixed Hodge structure on the cohomology of algebraic varieties defines a bigrading compatible with the algebra structure (see [Del75, p.81] or [Voi07, Theorem 8.35]). In our case the bigrading given by the mixed Hodge structure coincides with the one given by the Leray spectral sequence as shown by Totaro [Tot96, Theorem 3] and by Gorinov [Gor17]. Explicitly, the subspace $A^{p,q}(X, n)$ has weight p + 2q and degree p + q.

Plan

In Section 4.2 we recall the Križ model for general surfaces. In Section 4.3 we specialize the model for genus one and we improve the result on the decomposition of the Križ model into irreducible representations, see Theorem 4.3.2. We also provide Conjectures 4.3.10 and 4.3.19 for the sums of mixed Hodge number in the ordered case. The unordered configuration spaces for genus one surfaces described in Section 4.4, where the mixed Hodge numbers, the action of the mapping class group, the ring structure of the cohomology and formality result are discussed. In the last three sections we focus on the unordered configuration space for arbitrary genus. We present a simple model Section 4.5 and we study it as a representation of the symplectic group Section 4.6. Using these results we prove the main Theorem 4.7.11 in Section 4.7.

4.2 Representation theory on the Križ model

We study the action of the symmetric group \mathfrak{S}_n and of $\mathrm{SL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ on the algebras A. Those actions are given by a geometric action on $\mathcal{F}_n(\Sigma_g)$. For a general reference on the representation theory of the Lie groups and of the Lie algebras we refer to [Hal15] and to [FH91], respectively. The cases of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ and of $\mathfrak{sl}(2;\mathbb{C})$ can be found in [GW09].

Theorem 4.2.1 (Theorem 1.1 [Kri94]). Let X be a smooth projective variety over the complex \mathbb{C} . The dga A(X, n) is a model for the configuration space $\mathcal{F}_n(X)$.

Dimension formula and the braid hyperplane arrangement

The algebra $A^{0,\bullet}(\Sigma_g, n)$ coincides with the cohomology of the braid hyperplane arrangement; we use this fact to compute the dimension of $A^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n)$.

The dimension of the cohomology of the braid hyperplane arrangement $H^k(M(A_{n-1}^H))$ coincides with $\binom{n}{n-k}$, the Stirling number of first kind. The Poincaré polynomial of the complement is

$$P_{n-1}(t) = \prod_{q=1}^{n-1} (1+qt) = \sum_{q=0}^{n-1} {n \brack {n-q}} t^q$$

by [Arn69, Corollary 2], while the (arithmetic) Tutte polynomial $T_n(x, y)$ was calculated in [GS96, Theorem 5.1] and has exponential generating function

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{T_n(x,y)t^n}{n!} = \frac{\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (\frac{t}{y-1})^n \frac{y^{\binom{n}{2}}}{n!}\right)^{(y-1)(x-1)} - 1}{x-1}.$$
 (4.1)

The (arithmetic) Tutte polynomial can be computed easily by using the recursion formula in [Pak93]:

$$T_{n+1}(x,y) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \binom{n-1}{k-1} (x+y+y^2+\dots+y^{k-1}) T_k(1,y) T_{n+1-k}(x,y).$$

For any hyperplane arrangement \mathcal{A}^H the Poincaré polynomial is a specialization of the Tutte polynomial, e.g. for the braid arrangement we have:

$$P_{n-1}(x) = x^{n-1}T_n\left(\frac{1}{x}, 0\right).$$

Proposition 4.2.2. The dimension of $A^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n)$ is $\binom{n}{n-q}\binom{2g(n-q)}{p}$. Moreover, its Hilbert polynomial is

$$P_{\mathcal{A}(\Sigma_g,n)}(t,s) = \prod_{q=0}^{n-1} ((1+t)^{2g} + qs)$$

Proof. Notice that

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n) = \bigoplus_{W \in \mathcal{S}_n, \operatorname{rk}(W) = q} H^p(W) \otimes H^q(M(A^H[W]); \mathbb{Q}),$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

111

where S_n is the poset of layers that coincides with the poset of the partitions of [n] [Bib16b, Section 3.2]. By considering only the dimensions, we have

$$\dim \mathbf{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n) = \sum_{\mathbf{rk}(W)=q} \dim H^p(\Sigma_g^{n-q}) \dim H^q(M(A^H[W]); \mathbb{Q})$$
$$= \binom{2g(n-q)}{p} \dim H^q(M(A_{n-1}^H); \mathbb{Q})$$
$$= \binom{n}{n-q} \binom{2g(n-q)}{p}.$$

Finally, we have

$$P_{\mathcal{A}(\Sigma_g,n)}(t,s) = \sum_{p,q} \dim \mathcal{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_g,n)t^p s^q$$
$$= \sum_{p,q} {n \choose n-q} {2g(n-q) \choose p} t^p s^q$$
$$= \sum_q {n \choose n-q} (1+t)^{2g(n-q)} s^q$$
$$= \prod_{q=0}^{n-1} ((1+t)^{2g} + qs).$$

This completes the proof.

Definition of the actions

Consider the action of \mathfrak{S}_n on \mathcal{F}_n defined by

$$\sigma^{-1} \cdot (p_1, \dots, p_n) = (p_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, p_{\sigma(n)})$$

for all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$. This induces an action on A defined by

$$\sigma^{-1}((a_l)_i) = (a_l)_{\sigma(i)}, \sigma^{-1}((b_l)_i) = (b_l)_{\sigma(i)}, \sigma^{-1}(G_{i,j}) = G_{\sigma(i),\sigma(j)}$$

for all $1 \leq i < j \leq n$, $l = 1, \ldots, g$ and all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$. The mapping class group Γ_g of the surface Σ_g acts naturally on $\mathcal{F}_n(\Sigma_g)$ and on $\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g)$. Let f be an automorphism of Σ_g , the map induces the following vertical

morphisms

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\mathcal{F}_n(\Sigma_g) & \longleftrightarrow & \Sigma_g^n \\
f_{|\mathcal{F}_n}^n & & & \downarrow^{f^n} \\
\mathcal{F}_n(\Sigma_g) & \longleftrightarrow & \Sigma_g^n
\end{array}$$

and by functoriality of the Leray spectral sequence it induces the action of Γ_g on $A(\Sigma_g, n)$. We explicitly describe this action on the generators $G_{i,j}$, $(a_l)_i$, and $(b_l)_i$: since $f^n : E^n \to E^n$ fixes the divisor $\{p_i = p_j\}$, then $f \cdot G_{i,j} = G_{i,j}$. The other generators belongs to $A^{1,0}(\Sigma_g, n) = H^1(\Sigma_g^n) \cong H^1(\Sigma_g)^{\oplus n}$. Therefore the action of Γ_g is symplectic and it factors through $\operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$. On $A^{1,0}(\Sigma_g, n)$ it coincides with the diagonal action on $H^1(\Sigma_g)^{\oplus n}$.

It is clear that the action of \mathfrak{S}_n and the one of $\operatorname{Sp}_{2a}(\mathbb{Z})$ commute.

Decomposition into \mathfrak{S}_n -representations

We recall a result of [AAB14, Theorem 3.15] on the decomposition of $A(\Sigma_g, n)$ into \mathfrak{S}_n -modules.

Let $\lambda \vdash n$ be a partition of the number n, i.e. $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_l)$ such that $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_{i+1}$ and $\sum_{i=1}^l \lambda_i = n$. Let \mathcal{B} be the ordered basis of $H^{\bullet}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Z})$ whose elements are $1, a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g, [p_g]$, where $[p_g]$ is the fundamental class of a point in Σ_g . We denote the total order on \mathcal{B} using the symbol \succeq .

Definition 4.2.3. A label s of the partition λ is a function $s: \{1, \ldots, l\} \to \mathcal{B}$, i.e. we label each block with an element of the chosen basis \mathcal{B} , such that if $\lambda_i = \lambda_{i+1}$ then $s(i) \succeq s(i+1)$.

Let C_k be the cyclic group of order k. For any partition $\lambda \vdash n$ define C_{λ} as the product of the cyclic groups C_{λ_i} for $i = 1, \ldots, t$. It acts on $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ in the natural way. Consider a labelled partition (λ, s) and define $N_{\lambda,s}$ as the group that permutes the blocks of λ with the same size and the same labels. The group $N_{\lambda,s}$ is a product of symmetric groups. Call $Z_{\lambda,s}$ the semidirect product $C_{\lambda} \rtimes N_{\lambda,s}$.

Example 4.2.4. We give an example for g = 1, let (λ, s) be the labelled partition $\lambda = (5, 5, 5, 5, 1, 1, 1) \vdash 23$ and s = (z, z, z, 1, a, a, a), where $z := [p_1]$. The group $C_{\lambda} \cong (\mathbb{Z}_5)^4 < \mathfrak{S}_{23}$ is generated by the cycles (1, 2, 3, 4, 5), (6, 7, 8, 9, 10), (11, 12, 13, 14, 15), and (16, 17, 18, 19, 20). The subgroup $N_{\lambda,s} \cong \mathfrak{S}_3 \times \mathfrak{S}_3$ is generated by the following permutations:

$$(1,6)(2,7)(3,8)(4,9)(5,10),$$

 $(1,11)(2,12)(3,13)(4,14)(5,15),$
 $(21,22),$
 $(21,23).$

Finally, $Z_{\lambda,s}$ is a group isomorphic to $(\mathbb{Z}_5 \wr \mathfrak{S}_3) \times \mathbb{Z}_5 \times \mathfrak{S}_3$.

Given two representations V, W of two groups G and H respectively, define the tensor representation $V \boxtimes W$ of $G \times H$ by the vector space $V \otimes W$ with the action $(g, h)(v \otimes w) = g(v) \otimes h(w)$. We define the following one-dimensional representations. Let φ_n be a faithful character of the cyclic group on n elements and φ_{λ} the character of $C_{\lambda} \cong C_{\lambda_1} \times \cdots \times C_{\lambda_t}$ given by

$$\varphi_{\lambda} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{sgn}_{n} |_{C_{\lambda}} \cdot (\varphi_{\lambda_{1}} \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes \varphi_{\lambda_{r}}).$$

Define the degree deg of an element in \mathcal{B} by its degree in the algebra $H^{\bullet}(\Sigma_g)$. Let $\alpha_{\lambda,s}$ be the one dimensional representation of $N_{\lambda,s} \cong \mathfrak{S}_{\mu_1} \times \cdots \times \mathfrak{S}_{\mu_l}$ defined on generators by

$$\alpha_{\lambda,s}(\sigma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-1)^{\lambda_i + \deg s(\lambda_i) + 1}$$

where σ is the permutation that exchange two blocks λ_i and λ_j with the same labels. In other words, the representation $\alpha_{\lambda,s}$ restricted to \mathfrak{S}_{μ_j} is the character $\operatorname{sgn}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_j}}^{\otimes(\lambda_i+\deg s(\lambda_i)+1)}$, where λ_i is any block exchanged by \mathfrak{S}_{μ_j} . Let $\xi_{\lambda,s}$ be the one dimensional representation of $Z_{\lambda,s}$ such that $\operatorname{Res}_{C_{\lambda}}^{Z_{\lambda,s}} \xi_{\lambda,s} = \varphi_{\lambda}$ and $\operatorname{Res}_{N_{\lambda,s}}^{Z_{\lambda,s}} \xi_{\lambda,s} = \alpha_{\lambda,s}$.

We define $|\lambda| = n - t$ for a partition $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_t)$ of n and for a label s the numbers $|s| = \sum_{i=1}^t \deg s(\lambda_i)$.

Compares the following results with [DPR14].

Theorem 4.2.5 ([AAB14, Theorem 3.15]). For each labelled partition (λ, s) there exist a \mathfrak{S}_n -representations $A(\lambda, s) \subset A^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n)$, with p = |s| and $q = |\lambda|$, such that

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_g,n) = \bigoplus_{\substack{|\lambda|=q\\|s|=p}} \mathbf{A}(\lambda,s)$$

as \mathfrak{S}_n -representation. Moreover:

$$A(\lambda, s) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} \simeq \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\lambda,s}}^{\mathfrak{S}_n} \xi_{\lambda,s}.$$

Example 4.2.6. Consider the marked partition (λ, s) of Example 4.2.4, the characters are shown in the following table.

	(1, 2, 3, 4, 5)	(16, 17, 18, 19, 20)	(1,6)(2,7)(3,8)(4,9)(5,10)	(21, 22)
φ	ζ_5	ζ_5		
α			1	-1
ξ	ζ_5	ζ_5	1	-1

The action of $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{Sp}_{2q}(\mathbb{Q})$

Now we describe the algebra $A(\Sigma_g, n)$ as representation of $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$. A nice formula holds:

$$\wedge^{p}(V \boxtimes W) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \vdash p} \mathbb{S}_{\lambda} V \boxtimes \mathbb{S}_{\lambda'} W, \qquad (4.2)$$

where λ' is the conjugate partition of λ and \mathbb{S}_{λ} is the Schur functor, see [FH91] for a general reference. A proof of eq. (4.2) can be found in [Wey03, Corollary 2.3.3] or [FH91, Exercise 6.11(b)]. Moreover, the dimension of $\mathbb{S}_{\lambda} V$ is

$$\dim \mathbb{S}_{\lambda} V = s_{\lambda}(\underbrace{1, \cdots, 1}_{\dim V}) = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le \dim V} \frac{\lambda_i - \lambda_j + i - j}{i - j}, \quad (4.3)$$

where s_{λ} is the Schur polynomial as proven in [FH91, Theorem 6.3].

The root system associated with the Lie group $\operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ is of type C_g . The roots are $\pm 2e_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq g$ and $\pm e_i \pm e_j$ for $1 \leq i < j \leq g$, where e_i are the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^g . We choose as positive roots the vectors $2a_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq g$ and $e_i \pm e_j$ for $1 \leq i < j \leq g$ and so the simple roots are $\alpha_i := e_i - e_{i+1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq g - 1$ and $\alpha_g := 2e_g$. The fundamental weights are $\omega_i = \sum_{j=1}^i e_j$ for $1 \leq i \leq g$ and the dominant weights are $\sum_{i=1}^g n_i\omega_i$ for $n_i \in \mathbb{N}$. The irreducible finite-dimensional representations of $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ are V_ω for all dominant weights ω .

Lemma 4.2.7. The first row of the algebra $A(\Sigma_g, n)$ decomposes as follows:

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,0}(\Sigma_g, n) \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda \vdash p} \mathbb{S}_{\lambda}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{S}_{n-1}}^{\mathfrak{S}_n} \mathbb{1}_{n-1}) \boxtimes \mathbb{S}_{\lambda'}(V_{\omega_1}).$$

Proof. It is easy to see that

$$\mathbf{A}^{\bullet,0}(\Sigma_g,n) = \wedge^{\bullet} H^1(\Sigma_g^n) \cong \wedge^p \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{S}_{n-1}}^{\mathfrak{S}_n} \mathbb{1}_{n-1} \boxtimes H^1(\Sigma_g) \right)$$

as representations of $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$. Since $H^1(\Sigma_g) = V_{\omega_1}$, eq. (4.2) completes the proof.

Let $T \simeq (\mathbb{Q}^*)^g \subset \operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ be the maximal splitting torus of diagonal matrices. For a weight $\omega \in \operatorname{Hom}(T, \mathbb{Q}^*) = \mathbb{Z}^g$, we define the one dimensional representation $V(\omega)$ of T by $t \cdot v = \omega(t)v$.

Definition 4.2.8. The *weight* of a label s of the partition λ is the vector $\omega(s) \in \mathbb{Z}^g$ given by $(\omega(s))_i = |\{j \mid s(\lambda_j) = a_i\}| - |\{j \mid s(\lambda_j) = b_i\}|.$

Theorem 4.2.9. The algebra $A(\Sigma_g, n)$ decomposes as representation of $\mathfrak{S}_n \times T$ in the following way:

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n) \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{|\lambda|=q\\|s|=p}} \mathbf{A}(\lambda, s) \boxtimes V(\omega(s)).$$

Proof. It follows from Theorem 4.2.5 and the observation that $A(\lambda, s)$ is preserved by the action of T.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements 115

Let U be the subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ whose elements are the matrices upper triangular matrices with diagonal entries equal to one. We call an vector vin a representation V of $\operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ an highest weight vector if $U \cdot v = v$ and $t \cdot v = \omega(t)v$ for all $t \in T$. In this case we said that the vector v has weight ω . For any weight $\omega \in \mathbb{Z}^g$ and any partition λ , define $U^p_{\lambda,\omega}$ as the set of highest weight vectors of weight ω of $\bigoplus_{|s|=p} A(\lambda, s)$. It is not easy to compute $U^p_{\lambda,\omega}$, however it is useful for decomposing $A(\Sigma_q, n)$.

Theorem 4.2.10. The algebra $A(\Sigma_g, n)$ decomposes as representation of the group $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ as follows:

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n) = \bigoplus_{\substack{|\lambda|=q\\\omega\in\mathbb{N}^g}} U^p_{\lambda,\omega} \boxtimes V_\omega,$$

where $\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{g} n_i \omega_i$ runs over all dominants weights.

Proof. Since $A^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n)$ is finite dimensional, it decomposes as direct sums of highest weight representations indexes by the highest weight vectors. \Box

4.3 Genus one: ordered configurations

The case of genus g = 1 has two advantages: we know a lot about the representation theory of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ and the group structure on E provides a decomposition of A(E, n) as tensor product of two algebras.

Decomposition into $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ -representations

Recall also that in the case g = 1 the action of the mapping class group Γ_1 is symplectic. It follows trivially by the following classical result.

Theorem 4.3.1 (Theorem 2.5 [FM12]). The mapping class group Γ_1 of the torus is isomorphic to $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ and the isomorphism is given by the natural action of Γ_1 on $H^1(E;\mathbb{Z})$.

For g = 1 we have $\operatorname{Sp}_2(\mathbb{Q}) = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$. Since all dominant weights are of the form $k\omega_1$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$, in this section we call the irreducible representations of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ by $\mathbb{V}_k := V_{k\omega_1}$. Let $T = \{H_t\} \cong \mathbb{Q}^*$ be the maximal torus in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ generated by the diagonal matrices $H_t = \begin{pmatrix} t & 0 \\ 0 & t^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$. Let \mathbb{V}_1 be the irreducible representation \mathbb{Q}^2 with the standard action of matrix-vector multiplication and let $\mathbb{V}_k = \operatorname{S}^k \mathbb{V}_1$ be the irreducible representations given by the symmetric powers of \mathbb{V}_1 . The representation \mathbb{V}_k has dimension k + 1 and can be view as $\mathbb{Q}[x, y]_k$, i.e. the vector space of homogeneous polynomials in two variables. The action of T on the monomials is given by $H_t \cdot x^a y^{k-a} = t^{2a-k} x^a y^{k-a}$, thus \mathbb{V}_k decomposes, as representations of T

$$\mathbb{V}_k = \bigoplus_{a=0}^k V(2a-k), \tag{4.4}$$

where V(2a - k) is the subspace where H_t acts with character t^{2a-k} , i.e. the subspace generated by $x^a y^{k-a}$. Since the group $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ is dense in $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$, each irreducible regular representation of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{V}_k for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. For a proof see [GW09, Proposition 2.3.5] and use a density reasoning.

As a consequence we can decompose a representation V of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ using its decomposition $V = \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbb{Z}} V(a)^{\oplus n_a}$ as representation of T: indeed $V \cong \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{V}_k^{\oplus m_k}$, where $m_k = n_k - n_{k+2}$. By setting $V = \mathbb{V}_m \otimes \mathbb{V}_n$, we obtain the following formula for $n \leq m$:

$$\mathbb{V}_m \otimes \mathbb{V}_n \cong \mathbb{V}_{m+n} \oplus \mathbb{V}_{m+n-2} \oplus \dots \oplus \mathbb{V}_{m-n}.$$

$$(4.5)$$

As observed in Section 4.2, the group $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ acts trivially on $G_{i,j}$ for all $1 \leq i < j \leq n$ and, for each $i \leq n$, the two dimensional subspace generated by a_i and b_i is isomorphic to \mathbb{V}_1 as representation of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$.

We will use the decomposition of Theorem 4.2.10 to split A(E, n) into $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ -modules.

Theorem 4.3.2. The algebra A(E, n) decomposes as $\mathfrak{S}_n \times SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ -representation in the following way:

$$\mathbf{A}^{p,q}(E,n) \cong \bigoplus_{k=0}^{p} \left(\bigoplus_{|\lambda|=q} U^{p}_{\lambda,k}\right) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_{k}.$$
(4.6)

Moreover, dim $U_{\lambda,k}^p$ is zero if $k \neq p$ modulo 2 and, otherwise, equals to

$$\dim U^p_{\lambda,k} = s_{1^{k}2^a}(1^{n-q}) = \frac{k+1}{a+k+1} \binom{n-q+1}{a} \binom{n-q}{a+k},$$

where a is such that k + 2a = p and $q = |\lambda|$.

Proof. The first part follows from Theorem 4.2.10. Notice that, for each $\lambda \vdash n$ with $|\lambda| = q$, the vector space $\bigoplus_{\omega(s)=p} A(\lambda, s)$ is isomorphic to $A^{p,0}(E, n-q)$ as representation of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$. The decomposition of Lemma 4.2.7 in the case g = 1 simplifies as follows. The representation $\mathbb{S}_{\lambda} \mathbb{V}_1$ is non-zero if and only if λ has at most dim \mathbb{V}_1 blocks, i.e. $\lambda = (b, a)$. In this case we have the equalities:

$$\mathbb{S}_{\lambda} \mathbb{V}_1 = \mathbb{S}_{b-a} \mathbb{V}_1 = \mathbb{S}^{b-a} \mathbb{V}_1 = \mathbb{V}_{b-a}.$$



Figure 4.1: The representation \mathbb{V}_k appears only in the darken triangle.

Thus $U_{\lambda,k}^p = \mathbb{S}_{1^{k}2^{a}}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{S}_{n-q-1}}^{\mathfrak{S}_{n-q}}\mathbb{1})$ as vector spaces, where k = b - a. Therefore, using eq. (4.3) we have:

$$\dim U_{\lambda,k}^{p} = s_{1^{k}2^{a}}(1^{n-q})$$

$$= \prod_{\substack{i=1,\dots,a\\j=a+1,\dots,a+k}} \frac{1+j-i}{j-i} \prod_{\substack{i=1,\dots,a\\j=a+k+1,\dots,n-q}} \prod_{\substack{i=a+1,\dots,a+k\\j=a+k+1,\dots,n-q}} \frac{1+j-i}{j-i}$$

$$= \prod_{i=1,\dots,a} \frac{n-q+2-i}{a-i+1} \frac{n-q+1-i}{a+k+2-i} \prod_{\substack{i=a+1,\dots,a+k\\a+k-1}} \frac{n-q+1-i}{a+k-i+1}$$

$$= \frac{k+1}{a+k+1} \binom{n-q+1}{a} \binom{n-q}{a+k}.$$

The last equalities are obtained by a cumbersome computation; alternatively, it can be obtained using the formula (iv) of [FH91, Exercise A.30]. \Box

The following corollary is immediate.

Corollary 4.3.3. The multiplicity of \mathbb{V}_k in $A^{p,q}(E,n)$ is non zero if and only if $k \equiv p \mod 2$ and $k \leq \min \{p, 2n - 2q - p\}$. Moreover, in this case the multiplicity is equal to $\begin{bmatrix} n \\ n-q \end{bmatrix} s_{1^k 2^a}(1^{n-q})$, where p = k + 2a.

Therefore, the representation \mathbb{V}_a occurs only in the small triangle of Figure 4.1.

Splitting in cohomology

We fix the basis 1, a, b, [p] of $H(E; \mathbb{Q})$ and we define the following elements of $A^{1,0}(E, n)$: $u_{i,j} := a_i - a_j, v_{i,j} := b_i - b_j$, for $i \neq j$, and $\gamma := \sum_{i=1}^n a_i$, $\overline{\gamma} := \sum_{i=1}^n b_i$.

We define, for n > 0, the dga B(n) as the subalgebra of A(E, n) generated by $u_{i,j}, v_{i,j}$ and $G_{i,j}$ for $1 \le i < j \le n$. It is a sub-dga since $d(G_{i,j}) = u_{i,j}v_{i,j}$. Let D(n) be the subalgebra of $A^{\bullet,0}(E,n)$ generated by γ and $\overline{\gamma}$ endowed with the zero differential map. Notice that

$$A(E,n) \cong B(n) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} D(n) \tag{4.7}$$

as differential algebras. Notice also that D(n) are all isomorphic to the cohomology ring of the elliptic curve E.

The following result is a particular case of [Bib16a, Theorem 3.3] and of [Dup16a, Theorem 1.2].

Theorem 4.3.4. Let n > 0, the cohomology algebra of $\mathcal{F}_n(E)$ (or of $\mathcal{M}_n(E)$) with rational coefficients is isomorphic to the cohomology of the dga A(E, n)(respectively of B(n)). Moreover, the n^2 -sheeted covering

$$E \times \mathcal{M}_n(E) \to \mathcal{F}_n$$
$$(q,\underline{p}) \mapsto (p_i + q)_{i=1,\dots,n}$$

induces the isomorphism of eq. (4.7).

We have the analogous results of the previous subsection for the algebra $\mathbf{B}(n)$.

Corollary 4.3.5. The multiplicity of \mathbb{V}_k in $\mathbb{B}^{p,q}(n)$ is non zero if and only if $k \equiv p \mod 2$ and $k \leq \min \{p, 2n - 2q - 2 - p\}$. Moreover, in this case the multiplicity is equal to $\begin{bmatrix} n \\ n-q \end{bmatrix} s_{1^k 2^a}(1^{n-q-1})$, where p = k + 2a.

Proof. It follows from the fact that $B^{\bullet,0}(n) \cong A^{\bullet,0}(E, n-1)$ as representation of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$.

Filtration and representation stability

Now we need to stress the dependence of $A(\lambda, s)$ from n, thus we will write $A_n(\lambda, s)$.

Definition 4.3.6. The dimension of the support of a labelled partition (λ, s) is the natural number $\tau(\lambda, s) = n - |\{i \mid \lambda_i = 1, s(\lambda_i) = 1\}|.$

Lemma 4.3.7. Let (λ, s) be a labelled partition of n, then

$$\mathbf{A}_n(\lambda, s) = \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\tau(\lambda, s)} \times \mathfrak{S}_{n-\tau(\lambda, s)}}^{\mathfrak{S}_n} \mathbf{A}_{\tau(\lambda, s)}(\lambda, s).$$

Proof. It follows from Theorem 4.2.5 since $Z_{\lambda,s} = Z \times \mathfrak{S}_{n-\tau(\lambda,s)}$ for some $Z < \mathfrak{S}_{\tau(\lambda,s)}$ and $\xi_{\lambda,s|_{\mathfrak{S}_{n-\tau(\lambda,s)}}} = \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{S}_{n-\tau(\lambda,s)}}$.

Let R be the \mathbb{Z} -algebra whose underline module is the free \mathbb{Z} -module generated by the elements $[\mathbb{V}_k]$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and multiplication defined by the tensor product, see eq. (4.5). The ring R is called the *Grothendieck ring* of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$, however we will use only as \mathbb{Z} -module. We denote for each finite dimensional representation $V = \bigoplus_k \mathbb{V}_k^{a_k}$ of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ by $[V] \in R$ the corresponding element $\sum_k a_k[\mathbb{V}_k]$. **Definition 4.3.8.** The *Poincaré series* of a family A(n) of bigraded algebras with an action of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ is the formal series $Q_A(t, s, r) \in R[[t, s, r]]$ defined by

$$Q_{\mathcal{A}}(t,s,r) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{p,q,n} [\mathcal{A}^{p,q}(n)] t^p s^q r^n.$$

Definition 4.3.9. Let $F_{\bullet}A(E, n)$ be the increasing filtration defined by

$$\mathbf{F}_i \mathbf{A}(E,n) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \bigoplus_{(\lambda,s) \text{ s.t. } \tau(\lambda,s) \leq i} \mathbf{A}(\lambda,s).$$

We define $F_{\bullet}B(n)$ as the induced filtration, i.e. $F_iB(n) := F_iA(E,n) \cap B(n)$. Notice that the filtration is compatible with the decomposition of eq. (4.7).

We say that a filtration F_{\bullet} of a dga (A, d) is *strictly compatible* with the differential if $\operatorname{Im} d \cap F_i A = d(F_i A)$ for all *i*.

Conjecture 4.3.10. The filtration $F_{\bullet}A(E, n)$ is strictly compatible with the differential.

If the conjecture were true, then we would have the following:

$$\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}} H^{p,q}(\mathcal{F}_{n}(E)) \cong \operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}} H^{p,q}(\mathbf{A}(E,n))$$

$$\cong H^{p,q}(\operatorname{gr}_{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{A}(E,n)))$$

$$= \bigoplus_{i \leq n} H^{p,q} \left(\operatorname{F}_{i} \mathbf{A}(E,n) / \operatorname{F}_{i-1} \mathbf{A}(E,n) \right)$$

$$= \bigoplus_{i \leq n} H^{p,q} \left(\bigoplus_{\tau(\lambda,s)=i} \mathbf{A}(\lambda,s) \right)$$

$$= \bigoplus_{i \leq n} \operatorname{Ind}_{\mathfrak{S}_{i} \times \mathfrak{S}_{n-i}}^{\mathfrak{S}_{n}} H^{p,q} \left(\mathbf{A}(E,i) / \operatorname{F}_{i-1} \mathbf{A}(E,i) \right).$$
(4.8)

We used, in order, that A(E, n) is a model for $\mathcal{F}_n(E)$, Conjecture 4.3.10, and Lemma 4.3.7.

Corollary 4.3.11. Suppose that Conjecture 4.3.10 holds, then

$$Q_{H(\mathcal{F}_{\bullet}(E))}(t,s,r) = \sum_{p,q,i} \left[H^{p,q} \left(\mathbf{A}(E,i) / \mathbf{F}_{i-1} \mathbf{A}(E,i) \right) \right] t^p s^q \frac{r^i}{(1-r)^{i+1}}.$$
 (4.9)

Proof. For any representation V of the group $\mathfrak{S}_i \times \mathfrak{S}_{n-i} \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ we have $[\mathrm{Ind}_{\mathfrak{S}_i \times \mathfrak{S}_{n-i}}^{\mathfrak{S}_n} V] = \binom{n}{i}[V] \in R$ and for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$ we have $\sum_{n \geq i} \binom{n}{i}r^n = \frac{r^i}{(1-r)^{i+1}}$. The thesis follows from eq. (4.8).

Corollary 4.3.12. We have

$$Q_{\mathcal{A}(E)}(t,s,r) = \sum_{k,a,q,n} {n \brack n-q} s_{1^{k}2^{a}}(1^{n-q}) [\mathbb{V}_{k}] t^{k+2a} s^{q} r^{n}.$$

There exist natural numbers $m_{k,a,q,i} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$Q_{\mathcal{A}(E)}(t,s,r) = \sum_{k,a,q,i} m_{k,a,q,i} [\mathbb{V}_k] t^{k+2a} s^q \frac{r^i}{(1-r)^{i+1}}.$$

Proof. We apply Corollary 4.3.3 for the first part. The second one follows by taking $m_{k,a,q,i}$ equals to the multiplicity of \mathbb{V}_k in the representation

$$\mathbf{A}^{k+2a,q}(E,i) \underset{\mathbf{F}_{i-1} \mathbf{A}^{k+2a,q}(E,i)}{\frown} \qquad \Box$$

This numbers $m_{k,a,q,i}$, for fixed value of k, a, q, are easy to calculate by solving the upper triangular system $A\underline{m} = \underline{y}$ where $A = \binom{i}{j}_{i,j}, \ \underline{m} = (m_{k,a,q,i})_i$ and $\underline{y} = \binom{i}{i-q} s_{1^k 2^a} (1^{i-q})_i$.

The particular case $m_{0,0,q,i}$ are listed in the sequence [OEI19, A259456].

The first row

Now we analyse the first rows of $A^{\bullet,0}(E,n)$ and of $B^{\bullet,0}(n)$ as representation of $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$; from this we deduce the mixed hodge numbers $h^{p,0}(\mathcal{F}_n(E))$ and $h^{p,0}(\mathcal{M}_n(E))$.

Theorem 4.3.13. For n > 0, the cohomology of $\mathcal{M}_n(E)$ in bidegree (p, 0) is given by

$$H^{p,0}(\mathcal{M}_n(E)) = H^{p,0}(\mathcal{B}(n)) = \wedge^p V_n(1) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_p = V_n(1^p) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_p$$

as representations of $\mathfrak{S}_n \times \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ and it is of dimension $\binom{n-1}{p}(p+1)$.

Therefore we can describe $H^{\bullet,0}(\mathcal{F}_n(E))$ explicitly:

$$H^{\bullet,0}(\mathcal{F}_n(E)) = H^{\bullet,0}(\mathcal{A}(E,n)) = H^{\bullet}(E) \otimes H^{\bullet,0}(\mathcal{M}_n(E))$$

Proof of Theorem 4.3.13. First, notice that the representation $\mathbb{S}_{1^p} V_n(1) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_p$ cannot lay in Im d since \mathbb{V}_p does not appear in $\mathbb{B}^{p-2,1}$ by Corollary 4.3.5. Therefore $H^{\bullet,0}(\mathcal{F}_n(E)) \supseteq V_n(1^p) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_p$.

The range of $d^{\bullet,1}$ is an ideal of B(n) generated in degree 2. Let $u_i = a_i - a_{i+1}$ and $v_i = b_i - b_{i+1}$ for i = 1, ..., n-1 be a basis of $B^{1,0}(n)$. Consider the monomial order on $B(n) = \wedge V_n(1)$ induced by the deglex with $u_1 > u_2 > \cdots > u_{n-1} > v_{n-1} > v_{n-2} > \cdots > v_1$. For i < j we have:

$$\mathrm{d}\,G_{i,j} = \left(\sum_{k=i}^{j-1} u_k\right) \left(\sum_{k=i}^{j-1} v_k\right),\,$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

121

and therefore in(Im d) contains all the elements of the form $u_i v_{j-1} = in(d G_{i,j})$ for $1 \le i \le j \le n$. Therefore in(Im d) contains all monomials with two factors u_i and v_j with $i \le j$. The remaining monomials are of the forms

$$u_{i_1}\cdots u_{i_k}v_{i_{k+1}}\cdots v_{i_p}$$

for $n-1 \ge i_1 > \cdots > i_p \ge 1$ and $0 \le k \le p$. Their number is $\binom{n-1}{p}(p+1)$ and it is an upper bound for the dimension of $B^{p,0}(n) / \text{Im d}$. Finally, $H^{\bullet,0}(\mathcal{F}_n(E)) = V_n(1^p) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_p$ since dim $\wedge^p V_n(1) \boxtimes \mathbb{V}_p = \binom{n-1}{p}(p+1)$. \Box

Corollary 4.3.14. We have

$$Q_{H(\mathcal{M}_{\bullet}(E))}(t,0,r) = \sum_{p} [\mathbb{V}_{p}] t^{p} \left(\frac{r}{1-r}\right)^{p+1}$$

and

$$Q_{H(\mathcal{F}_{\bullet}(E))}(t,0,r) = 1 + \sum_{p} [\mathbb{V}_{p}](1+[\mathbb{V}_{1}]t+t^{2})t^{p}\left(\frac{r}{1-r}\right)^{p+1}$$

Proof. It follows from Theorem 4.3.13 using the following identity:

$$\sum_{n,p} \binom{n-1}{p} [\mathbb{V}_p] t^p r^n = \sum_p [\mathbb{V}_p] t^p \left(\frac{r}{1-r}\right)^{p+1}$$

The second assertion follows from eq. (4.7) for n > 0, the case n = 0 is trivial.

Lower bound for sums of mixed hodge numbers

Since Theorem 4.3.4 holds only for n > 0, we cannot prove the analogous statement of Corollary 4.3.11 for $Q_{\rm B}$. Therefore we slightly modify the algebra B.

Definition 4.3.15. Let $\tilde{B}(n)$ be the subalgebra of B(n) defined as $B^{\bullet,>0}(n) + \text{Im d.}$ By convention we set $\tilde{B}(0) = 0$.

By definition we have $H^{p,q}(\tilde{B}(n)) = H^{p,q}(B(n))$ for all $p \ge 0$ and q > 0.

Corollary 4.3.16. Suppose that Conjecture 4.3.10 holds, then

$$Q_{H(\tilde{B})}(t,s,r) = \sum_{p,q,i} \left[H^{p,q} \left(\overset{\tilde{B}(i)}{\swarrow}_{F_{i-1}\tilde{B}(i)} \right) \right] t^p s^q \frac{r^i}{(1-r)^{i+1}}$$
(4.10)

Proof. The monomials with q = 0 do not appear on both sides of eq. (4.10). We have $H^{p,q}(\tilde{B}(i)/F_{i-1}\tilde{B}(i)) = H^{p,q}(B(i)/F_{i-1}B(i))$ and $H^{p,q}(\tilde{B}) = H^{p,q}(B)$ for q > 0. The thesis follows from eq. (4.7) dividing both sides of eq. (4.9) by $1 + [\mathbb{V}_1]t + t^2$. Corollary 4.3.17. We have

$$Q_{\tilde{\mathbf{B}}}(t,s,r) = \sum_{k,a,q,n} \binom{n}{n-q} s_{1^{k}2^{a}}(1^{n-q-1}) [\mathbb{V}_{k}] t^{k+2a} s^{q} r^{n}.$$

There exist natural numbers $n_{k,a,q,i} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$Q_{\tilde{B}}(t,s,r) = \sum_{k,a,q,i} n_{k,a,q,i} [\mathbb{V}_k] t^{k+2a} s^q \frac{r^i}{(1-r)^{i+1}}.$$

Proof. We apply Corollary 4.3.5 for the first part. The second one follows from Corollary 4.3.16 with $n_{k,a,q,i}$ equals to the multiplicity of \mathbb{V}_k in the representation $\tilde{\mathbb{B}}^{k+2a,q}(i)_{F_{i-1}\tilde{\mathbb{B}}^{k+2a,q}(i)}$

We give a lower bound for the sum of hodge numbers $h^{p,q}(\mathcal{F}_n(E))$ on the "diagonal" p+2q constant. We partially order R by saying $r \geq r'$ if r-r' is an effective representation, moreover we partially order the series coefficient-wise.

Theorem 4.3.18. Suppose that Conjecture 4.3.10 holds, then

$$Q_{H(\mathcal{M}(E))}(t,t^{2},r) \geq \sum_{k,b,i} |d_{k,b,i}| \, [\mathbb{V}_{k}]t^{k+2b} \frac{r^{i}}{(1-r)^{i+1}} + \sum_{k} [\mathbb{V}_{k}]t^{k} \left(\frac{r}{1-r}\right)^{k+1},$$
(4.11)

where $d_{k,b,i} = \sum_{q=0}^{b} (-1)^q n_{k,b-q,q,i} \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover,

$$Q_{H(\mathcal{F}(E))}(t,t^2,r) = 1 + (1 + [\mathbb{V}_1]t + t^2)Q_{H(\mathcal{M}(E))}(t,t^2,r).$$

Proof. We have proven that $H(\mathcal{M}(E)) = H(B)$ and, since $H^{p,0}(B)$ is contained in kerd, we have:

$$Q_{H(\mathcal{M}(E))}(t,t^2,r) = Q_{H(\tilde{B})}(t,t^2,r) + Q_{H(\mathcal{M}(E))}(t,0,r).$$

Let $h_{k,a,q,i}$ be the multiplicity of \mathbb{V}_k in $H^{p,q}\left(\overset{\tilde{B}(i)}{\underset{F_{i-1}\tilde{B}(i)}{\overset{F}{}}}\right)$.

$$Q_{H(\tilde{B})}(t,t^{2},r) = \sum_{k,a,q,i} h_{k,a,q,i} [\mathbb{V}_{k}] t^{k+2a+2q} \frac{r^{i}}{(1-r)^{i+1}}$$

$$\geq \sum_{k,b,i} \left| \sum_{q=0}^{b} (-1)^{q} h_{k,b-q,q,i} \right| [\mathbb{V}_{k}] t^{k+2b} \frac{r^{i}}{(1-r)^{i+1}}$$

$$= \sum_{k,b,i} \left| \sum_{q=0}^{b} (-1)^{q} n_{k,b-q,q,i} \right| [\mathbb{V}_{k}] t^{k+2b} \frac{r^{i}}{(1-r)^{i+1}}$$

where the last equality is obtained by equating the "Euler characteristic" of subcomplexes and their cohomology. $\hfill \Box$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements 123

Conjecture 4.3.19. The inequality of eq. (4.11) is an equality.

We have verified the conjecture above until degree 7 in the variable r. Our method can lead to a lower bound of $\sum_q h^{c-2q,q}(n)$ for all c and n by taking the dimension of both sides of eq. (4.11).

Moreover, we conjecture the following:

Conjecture 4.3.20. The cohomology of $B(i)/F_{i-1}B(i)$ is concentrate in degrees (p,q) with p+q=i-2 or p+q=i-1.

This conjecture is verified until total degree p + q < 7.

Suppose that Conjecture 4.3.19 and Conjecture 4.3.20 hold, then the multiplicity of \mathbb{V}_k in $H^{p,q}(\mathbf{B}(i)/\mathbf{F}_{i-1}\mathbf{B}(i))$ can be determine by the number $d_{k,b,i}$ (where 2b = p + 2q - k). More precisely, it is zero if $\operatorname{sgn} d_{k,b,i} \neq (-1)^q$ and equal to $|d_{k,b,i}|$ otherwise. This leads to an explicit combinatorial formula for the mixed hodge numbers for $\mathcal{F}_n(E)$.

Examples

Assume Conjecture 4.3.10, the numbers $d_{k,b,i}$ are calculated from the $n_{k,a,q,i}$. The value of $n_{k,a,q,i}$ are computed recursively in *i* from Corollary 4.3.17:

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ n-q \end{bmatrix} s_{1^{k}2^{a}}(1^{n-q-1}) = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ n-q \end{bmatrix} \frac{k+1}{a+k+1} \binom{n-q}{a} \binom{n-q-1}{a+k}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n}{i} n_{k,a,q,i}.$$

We report $d_{k,b,i}$ for $i \leq 7$ in Table 4.1. Furthermore, by assuming Conjecture 4.3.19 we obtain, for all r and n, the following equality

$$\sum_{p+2q=r,q>0} \dim H^{p,q}(\mathcal{M}_n(E)) = \sum_{i=3}^n \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{r}{2} \rfloor} |d_{r-2k,k,i}| \binom{n}{i} (r-2k+1).$$

The dimension of $H^{p,q}(\mathcal{M}_n(E))$ are computed for $n \leq 7$ from the algebra B(n) using [The18], see Tables 4.2 to 4.6.

4.4 Genus one: unordered configurations

We compute the cohomology with rational coefficients of the unordered configuration spaces of n points on the torus, taking care of the mixed Hodge structure and of the action of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$. The integral cohomology groups are known only for small n in [Nap03, Table 2], where a cellular decomposition of ordered configuration spaces is given. In this section, we use the previous calculation of the Betti numbers of $\mathcal{C}_n(E)$ to determine the Hodge polynomial in the Grothendieck ring of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$.

(k,b,i)	$d_{k,b,i}$	(k,b,i)	$d_{k,b,i}$
(1, 1, 3)	-1	(3, 2, 6)	35
(0, 2, 4)	-1	(4, 1, 6)	-10
(1, 2, 4)	2	(0,4,7)	-49
(2, 1, 4)	-3	(0,5,7)	154
(0, 3, 5)	5	(1,3,7)	14
(1, 3, 5)	-6	(1, 4, 7)	-70
(2, 2, 5)	11	(1, 5, 7)	-120
(3, 1, 5)	-6	(2,3,7)	-70
(0,3,6)	5	(2, 4, 7)	274
(0, 4, 6)	-26	(3,2,7)	35
(1, 3, 6)	6	(3,3,7)	-225
(1, 4, 6)	24	(4, 2, 7)	85
(2, 2, 6)	9	(5,1,7)	-15
(2, 3, 6)	-50		

Table 4.1: The non-zero value of $d_{k,b,i}$ for $i \leq 7$.

 $egin{array}{ccc} 0 \ 1 & 2 \end{array}$



$$\begin{array}{cccc} 0 & & & \\ 0 & 2 & & \\ 1 & 4 & 3 & \end{array}$$

Table 4.3: The dimension of the graded cohomology of $H(\mathcal{M}_3(E); \mathbb{Q})$.

Table 4.4: The dimension of the graded cohomology of $H(\mathcal{M}_4(E); \mathbb{Q})$.

Table 4.5: The dimension of the graded cohomology of $H(\mathcal{M}_5(E); \mathbb{Q})$.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

125

0					
0	48				
0	72	176			
0	60	260	152		
0	40	150	144	50	
1	10	30	40	25	6

Table 4.6: The dimension of the graded cohomology of $H(\mathcal{M}_6(E); \mathbb{Q})$.

0						
0	240					
0	336	976				
0	252	1491	1040			
0	140	1022	1232	425		
0	70	350	504	350	90	
1	12	45	80	75	36	7



We have $A(E, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} = B(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} D$. and we use the results of Section 4.2 to compute $A(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$.

Theorem 4.4.1. For q > p+1 we have $A^{p,q}(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} = 0$.

Proof. Let $\mathbb{1}_n$ be the trivial representation of \mathfrak{S}_n . We use Theorem 4.2.5 to show that

$$\langle \mathbb{1}_n, \mathcal{A}^{p,q}(\Sigma_q, n) \rangle_{\mathfrak{S}_n} = 0$$

for q > p + 1. Indeed, it is enough to prove that

$$\langle \mathbb{1}_n, \mathcal{A}(\lambda, s) \rangle_{\mathfrak{S}_n} = 0$$

for all (λ, s) with $|\lambda| = q$ and |s| = p. By Frobenius reciprocity we have

$$\begin{split} \langle \mathbb{1}_{n}, \operatorname{Ind}_{Z_{\lambda,s}}^{\mathfrak{S}_{n}} \xi_{\lambda,s} \rangle_{\mathfrak{S}_{n}} &= \langle \mathbb{1}_{Z_{\lambda,s}}, \xi_{\lambda,s} \rangle_{Z_{\lambda,s}} \\ &= \langle \mathbb{1}_{C_{\lambda}}, \varphi_{\lambda} \rangle_{C_{\lambda}} \langle \mathbb{1}_{N_{\lambda,s}}, \alpha_{\lambda,s} \rangle_{N_{\lambda,s}} \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{t} \langle \operatorname{sgn}_{|_{C_{\lambda_{i}}}}, \varphi_{\lambda_{i}} \rangle_{C_{\lambda_{i}}} \prod_{j=1}^{l} \langle \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_{j}}}, \operatorname{sgn}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_{j}}}^{\otimes (\lambda_{i} + \deg s(\lambda_{i}) + 1)} \rangle_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_{j}}} \end{split}$$

where λ_i in any block exchanged by \mathfrak{S}_{μ_j} . The scalar product $\langle \operatorname{sgn}_{|C\lambda_i}, \varphi_{\lambda_i} \rangle_{C_{\lambda_i}}$ is non zero if and only if $\lambda_i = 1, 2$ and $\langle \mathbb{1}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_j}}, \operatorname{sgn}_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_j}}^{\otimes(\lambda_i + \deg s(\lambda_i) + 1)} \rangle_{\mathfrak{S}_{\mu_j}}$ is non zero if and only if $\mu_j = 1$ or $\lambda_i + \deg s(\lambda_i) + 1$ is even. If $A(\lambda, s)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} \neq 0$, then there exists at most one block λ_i such that $\lambda_i = 2$ and $s(\lambda_i) = 1$ and all other

127

blocks with $\lambda_j = 2$ must be labelled with a_i , b_i for $i = 1, \ldots, g$ or with $[p_g]$. Since q is the number of blocks of λ of size 2, we have

$$q = \sum_{i \text{ s.t. } \lambda_i = 2} 1 \le 1 + \sum_{i \text{ s.t. } \lambda_i = 2} \deg(s(\lambda_i)) \le 1 + \sum_i \deg(s(\lambda_i)) = 1 + p.$$

Consequently, $A(\lambda, s)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} = 0$ for q > p+1.

In particular, for g = 1 we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 4.4.2. For q > p+1 we have $B^{p,q}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} = 0$.

Observe that $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(E)) = H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{F}_n(E))^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ by the Transfer Theorem. Define the series

$$T(t,s) = \frac{1+t^3s^4}{(1-t^2s^3)^2} = 1 + 2t^2s^3 + t^3s^4 + 3t^4s^6 + 2t^5s^7 + \dots$$

and let $T_n(t,s)$ be its truncation at degree n in the variable t.

The computation of the Betti numbers of unordered configuration space of n points in an elliptic curve was done simultaneously by [DCK17], [Mag16], and [Sch16] in different generality. We point to the last reference because [Sch16, Theorem] fits exactly our generality.

Theorem 4.4.3. The Poincaré polynomial of $C_n(E)$ is $(1+t)^2 T_{n-1}(t,1)$.

Definition 4.4.4. The Hodge polynomial of $C_n(E)$ in the Grothendieck ring R is

$$\sum_{i=0}^{2n}\sum_{k=i}^{2i} \left[W_k H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(E);\mathbb{Q}) \right] W_{k-1} H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(E);\mathbb{Q}) t^i s^k \in R[t,s],$$

where $W_k H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(E); \mathbb{Q})$ is the weight filtration on $H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(E); \mathbb{Q})$. The ordinary Hodge polynomial is

$$\sum_{i=0}^{2n} \sum_{k=i}^{2i} \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} \left(W_k H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(E); \mathbb{Q}) \right) W_{k-1} H^i(\mathcal{C}_n(E); \mathbb{Q}) t^i s^k.$$

We prove a stronger version of Theorem 4.4.3.

Theorem 4.4.5. The Hodge polynomial of $C_n(E)$ with coefficients in the Grothendieck ring R is

$$([\mathbb{V}_0] + [\mathbb{V}_1]ts + [\mathbb{V}_0]t^2s^2) \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor\frac{n-1}{2}\rfloor} [\mathbb{V}_i]t^{2i}s^{3i} + \sum_{i=1}^{\lfloor\frac{n}{2}\rfloor-1} [\mathbb{V}_{i-1}]t^{2i+1}s^{3i+1}\right) \quad (4.12)$$

and the ordinary Hodge polynomial is $(1+uv)^2T_{n-1}(u,v)$.

Figure 4.2 represents the bigraded module $H(\mathcal{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n})$ that corresponds to the right factor of eq. (4.12).

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements



Figure 4.2: The algebra $H(\mathcal{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n})$ as representation of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$.

Some elements in cohomology

For the sake of notation, when we work with g = 1 the elements $(a_1)_i$ and $(b_1)_i$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$ will be denoted by a_i and b_i respectively.

Definition 4.4.6. Let $\alpha, \overline{\alpha} \in A^{1,1}(E,n), \beta \in A^{1,2}(E,n)$ be the elements

$$\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i,k < h} (a_i - a_k) G_{k,h}$$
$$\overline{\alpha} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i,k < h} (b_i - b_k) G_{k,h}$$
$$\beta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i,j,k < h} (3a_i - a_j - 2a_k) (b_j - b_k) G_{k,h}$$

where the sum is taken over pairwise distinct indices i, j, k, h with k < h.

Notice that the elements α and $\overline{\alpha}$ are defined only for n > 2 and β for n > 3. Remember that $\gamma, \overline{\gamma} \in D^1$ were already defined as $\sum_i a_i$ and $\sum_i b_i$.

Lemma 4.4.7. For n > 2, the element α belongs to $B^{1,1}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, is non-zero, and $d \alpha = 0$.

Proof. First observe that $\alpha = \sum_{i,k < h} u_{i,k} G_{k,h} \in B^{1,1}(n)$. For all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ we have

$$\sigma \alpha = \sum_{i,k < h} u_{\sigma(i),\sigma(k)} G_{\sigma(k),\sigma(h)} = \alpha,$$

since $u_{\sigma(i),\sigma(k)}G_{\sigma(k),\sigma(h)} = u_{\sigma(i),\sigma(h)}G_{\sigma(k),\sigma(h)}$ in A(E, n). The elements $a_iG_{k,h}$ and $a_kG_{k,h}$ are linearly independent, so it is enough to observe that the coefficient of $a_3G_{1,2}$ is 1. This proves that $\alpha \neq 0$. Finally, we compute $d\alpha$:

$$d \alpha = \sum_{i,k < h} a_i d G_{k,h} - a_k d G_{k,h}$$
$$= \sum_{i,k < h} a_i (a_k - a_h)(b_k - b_h) + a_k a_h (b_k - b_h)$$
$$= \sum_{i,k,h} a_i a_k b_k - a_i a_h b_k + a_k a_h b_k$$
$$= -\sum_{i,k,h} a_i a_h b_k = 0,$$

where all sums are taken over pairwise distinct indices and the first two with the additional condition k < h.

Lemma 4.4.8. For n > 3, the element β belongs to $B^{1,2}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$, is non-zero, and $d \beta = 0$.

Proof. Observe that

$$\beta = \sum_{i,j,k < h} (u_{i,j} + 2u_{i,k}) v_{j,k} G_{k,h} \in \mathbf{B}^{1,2}(n)$$

and that $\sigma\beta = \beta$ for all $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ by the relations $u_{j,k}G_{k,h} = u_{j,h}G_{k,h}$ and $v_{j,k}G_{k,h} = v_{j,h}G_{k,h}$. Consider the map $\varphi: A \to \mathbb{Q}$ defined on generators by $\varphi(G_{1,2}) = 1$, $\varphi(a_3) = 1$ and $\varphi(b_4) = 1$ and zero on the other generators. The map φ is well defined and $\varphi(\beta) = 3$, thus $\beta \neq 0$. Using the computation in the proof of Lemma 4.4.7, we can observe that $d\left(\sum_{i,j,h < k} 3a_i(b_j - b_k)G_{k,h}\right) = 0$. The claim $d\beta = 0$ follows from:

$$d(\beta) = d\left(\sum_{j,k < h} (a_j + 2a_k)(b_j - b_k)G_{k,h}\right)$$

= $\sum_{j,k < h} a_j b_j dG_{k,h} + a_j b_k (a_k - a_h)b_h - 2a_k b_j a_h (b_k - b_h) - 2a_k b_k a_h b_h$
= $\sum_{j,k,h} a_j b_j a_k b_k - a_i b_j a_h b_k + a_j b_k a_k b_h - 2a_k b_j a_h b_k - a_k b_k a_h b_h$
= 0,

where the indexes of the sums are pairwise distinct.

Lemma 4.4.9. For n > 2q the element α^q is non-zero.

Proof. Let us rewrite α as $\alpha = \sum_{i,k < h} a_i G_{k,h} + (2-n) \sum_{k < h} a_k G_{k,h}$. We show that the coefficient of the monomial $m = a_1 G_{1,2} a_3 G_{3,4} \dots a_{2q-1} G_{2q-1,2q}$ (defined for $n \geq 2q$) in α^q is non-zero for n > 2q.

This coefficient is

$$a_q = q! \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_q} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) (2-n)^{|\operatorname{Fix}\sigma|} 2^{q-|\operatorname{Fix}\sigma|}.$$

Where q! are the ways to choose each $G_{2k-1,2k}$ one from each factors, and since $a_{2i-1}G_{2k-1,2k}$ has even degree we can suppose (up to the factor q!) that $G_{2k-1,2k}$ is taken from the k-th factor. Now x_{2i-1} arises from either x_{2i-1} or x_{2i} of the $\sigma(i)$ -th factor for some permutation $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_q$. Since $m = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \prod_{i=1}^{q} a_{2\sigma^{-1}(k)-1}G_{2k-1,2k}$ the contribution has the sign of the permutation σ . Finally, in α the monomial $a_{2i-1}G_{2k-1,2k}$ has coefficient (2-n) if i = k and 1 otherwise and the monomial $a_{2i}G_{2k-1,2k}$ has coefficient 0 if i = kand 1 otherwise.

We claim that

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_q} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) x^{|\operatorname{Fix}\sigma|} = (x-1)^{q-1} (x+q-1), \tag{4.13}$$

since both sides are the determinant of the matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{cccc} x & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & x & \cdots & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & 1 & \cdots & x \end{array}\right).$$

The left hand side of eq (4.13) is obtained by using the Laplace formula for the determinant and the right hand side by relating the determinant to the characteristic polynomial $(-t)^{q-1}(q-t)$ of the matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & \cdots & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. We use eq (4.13) with $x = \frac{2-n}{2}$ to obtain:

$$a_q = q! 2^q \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_q} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \left(\frac{2-n}{2}\right)^{|\operatorname{Fix}\sigma|} = q! 2^q \left(\frac{-n}{2}\right)^{q-1} \left(\frac{2q-n}{2}\right)$$

Thus $a_q = (-1)^q q! n^{q-1}(n-2q)$ that is non-zero for n > 2q.

Lemma 4.4.10. For n > 2q + 1 the element $\alpha^{q-1}\beta$ is non-zero.

Proof. Let us rewrite β as

$$\beta = \sum_{i,j,k < h} a_i b_j G_{k,h} - 2(n-3) \sum_{i,k < h} (a_i b_k + a_k b_i) G_{k,h} - (n-3) \sum_{i,k < h} a_i b_i G_{k,h} + 2(n-2)(n-3) \sum_{k < h} a_k b_k G_{k,h}.$$

Let b_q be the coefficient in $\alpha^{q-1}\beta$ of the monomial

 $a_1G_{1,2}a_3G_{3,4}\ldots a_{2q-1}G_{2q-1,2q}y_{2q+1}.$

Roberto Pagaria

This monomial is defined for $n \ge 2q + 1$ and we will show that $b_q \ne 0$ for n > 2q+1. The number b_q coincides with the coefficient of the same monomial in the product

$$\alpha^{q-1}\Big(\sum_{i,j,k< h} a_i b_j G_{k,h} - 2(n-3) \sum_{i,k< h} a_k b_i G_{k,h}\Big).$$

With further manipulation, we obtain that b_q is the coefficient of the above monomial in the expression

$$3\alpha^q b_{2q+1} + n\alpha^{q-1} \sum_{k < h} a_k G_{k,h} b_{2q+1}.$$

Using the computation in the proof of Lemma 4.4.9 we obtain

$$b_q = 3(-1)^q q! n^{q-1}(n-2q) + nq(-1)^{q-1}(q-1)! n^{q-2}(n-2q+2)$$

= 2(-1)^q q! n^{q-1}(n-2q-1).

The number b_q is non zero for n > 2q + 1.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.5. It is enough to prove that the Hodge polynomial of $B(n)^{SG_n}$ in the Grothendieck ring of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ is

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor} [\mathbb{V}_i] u^{2i} v^{3i} + \sum_{i=1}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} [\mathbb{V}_{i-1}] u^{2i+1} v^{3i+1}$$

Observe that $\operatorname{Im} d^{q,p} = 0$ for q > p+1 by Corollary 4.4.2. From Lemma 4.4.7 and Lemma 4.4.9 we have that the elements α^k for 2k < n generate as $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ -module a subspace of dimension at least k+1 in $H^{k,k}(\mathbb{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}, d)$. Analogously, from Lemma 4.4.8 and Lemma 4.4.10 the elements $\alpha^{k-1}\beta$ for 2k+1 < n generate as $\operatorname{SL}(\mathbb{Q})$ -module a subspace of dimension at least k in $H^{k,k+1}(\mathbb{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}, d)$. Since the Betti numbers of $\mathcal{C}_n(E)$ (Theorem 4.4.3) coincides with the above dimensions, we have that $H^{2k}(\mathbb{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}) \cong \mathbb{V}_k u^{2k} v^{3k}$ and $H^{2k+1}(\mathbb{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}) \cong \mathbb{V}_{k-1} u^{2k+1} v^{3k+1}$.

The cohomology ring and formality

In this subsection we determine the cup product structure in the cohomology of $C_n(E)$ and we prove the aforementioned formality result.

In the following we consider graded algebras with an action of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$. We will write $(x_i \mid i \in I)_{SL_2(\mathbb{Q})}$ for the ideal generated by the elements Mx_i for all $M \in SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ and all $i \in I$.

Theorem 4.4.11. The cohomology ring of $C_n(E)$ is isomorphic to

$$\wedge^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}_{1} \otimes {}^{\mathsf{S}^{\bullet}} \mathbb{V}_{1}[b] / (a^{\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \rfloor}, a^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}b, b^{2})_{\mathrm{SL}(\mathbb{Q})},$$

where a is a non-zero degree-one element in $V(1) \subset \mathbb{V}_1$ and b is an $SL_2(\mathbb{Q})$ invariant variable of degree 3.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

Proof. It is enough to prove that

$$H^{\bullet}(\mathbf{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}) \cong \mathbf{S}^{\bullet} \,\mathbb{V}_1[b]/(a^{\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \rfloor}, a^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}b, b^2)_{\mathrm{SL}(\mathbb{Q})}.$$

Define the morphism $\varphi \colon S^{\bullet} \mathbb{V}_1[b]/(a^{\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \rfloor}, a^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}b, b^2)_{\mathrm{SL}(\mathbb{Q})} \to H(\mathrm{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n})$ that sends a, b to α, β respectively. It is well defined because $H^k(\mathrm{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}) = 0$ for $k \geq n$ and $\beta^2 = 0$ since it has odd degree. The map φ is surjective since $H(\mathrm{B}(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n})$ is generated by α^i and $\alpha^i\beta$ as $\mathrm{SL}(\mathbb{Q})$ -module by Theorem 4.4.5. A dimensional reasoning shows the injectivity of the map φ .

Corollary 4.4.12. The cohomology $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(E))$ is generated as an algebra in degrees one, two and three.

Proof. A minimal set of generators is given by $\alpha, \overline{\alpha}, \beta, \gamma, \overline{\gamma}$.

Corollary 4.4.13. The space $C_n(E)$ is formal over the rationals.

Proof. We prove that $B(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is formal. Consider the subalgebra K of $B(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ generated by $\alpha, \overline{\alpha}, \beta$ endowed with the zero differential. It is concentrated in degrees (i, i) and (i, i+1) because $\beta^2 = 0$. Since $K \cap \text{Im } d = 0$ (Corollary 4.4.2), $K \hookrightarrow B(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is a quasi-isomorphism. The fact that $K \cong H(B(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n})$ implies that the algebra $B(n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is formal. As a consequence $A(E, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is formal. The space $\mathcal{C}_n(E)$ is formal since our model $A(E, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is equivalent to the Sullivan model. \Box

4.5 Models for $H(\mathcal{C}_n(X))$

We introduce a new and simple model for the cohomology of unordered configuration spaces. Furthermore, in the case of Riemann surfaces we describe a model uniform in the number of points.

Our first step consist in the simplification of the invariant part of the Križ model by taking a quotient $A(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}/I_n$ where I_n is the acyclic ideal introduced in Definition 4.5.6. In the case of surfaces Σ_g , the problem is further simplified thanks to the introduction of a new dga (U_g, d) , independent from n, that maps onto $(A(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}/I_n, d)$. The dga (U_g, d) is filtered (c.f. Definition 4.3.9) and this filtration $F_n U_g$ is multiplicative and strictly compatible with the differential. This filtration computes the cohomology of our configuration spaces, indeed $H^{\bullet}(F_n U_g) \simeq H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g))$ as module.

The Bezrukavnikov basis for $A(\Sigma_g, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$

The results exposed in this section are similar to the ones obtained in [FT05].

We fix an ordered basis $\{b_i\}_{i=1,...r}$ for the cohomology $H^{\bullet}(X;\mathbb{Q})$. We denote by $|b_i|$ the degree of $b_i \in H^{|b_i|}(X)$. In [Bez94] (see also [AAB14, Aza15]) a canonical Bezrukavnikov basis for A(X, n) was given. We need a such canonical basis for $A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$.

Definition 4.5.1. An *invariant monomial* is an element $m \in A(X, n)$ of the form

$$m = G_{1,2}(b_{i_1})_1 G_{3,4}(b_{i_2})_3 \dots G_{2l-1,2l}(b_{i_l})_{2l-1}(b_{j_1})_{2l+1} \dots (b_{j_k})_{2l+k}$$

where $I = (i_1, \ldots i_l)$, $J = (j_1, \ldots j_k)$ are non-decreasing sequences such that every integer r appears at most once in I if $|b_r|$ is even and at most once in J if $|b_r|$ is odd. Obviously, we also require $2l + k \leq n$.

We define the length of m as the natural number 2l + k. By definition we have that $m_1 = \sigma(m_2)$ implies $m_1 = m_2$. We define a binary operation between invariant monomials.

Definition 4.5.2. Let m_1 and m_2 be two invariant monomials with indexing I_1 , J_1 and I_2 , J_2 respectively. Let I (and J) be the list $I_1 \cup I_2$ increasingly ordered (respectively $J_1 \cup J_2$). If the lists I and J define an invariant monomial m, then we define $m_1 \circ m_2 := sm \in E(X, n)$, where $s \in \{\pm 1\}$ is the following sign. Let $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ be two permutations such that $\sigma_1(m_1)\sigma_2(m_2) = \pm m$, the sign does not depend on the choice of the permutations thus we call it s. Otherwise, we define $m_1 \circ m_2 := 0$.

Lemma 4.5.3. An additive basis for the invariants $A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is given by the elements $\frac{1}{(n-l(m))!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m)$ where m runs over all invariant monomials in A(X, n).

Proof. It is enough to prove that for each element x of the canonical Bezrukavnikov basis, the sum $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(x)$ is either zero or there exists a unique invariant monomial m such that

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(x) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m)$$

Let (λ, s) be the unique partition such that $x \in A(\lambda, s)$. If $\lambda_1 > 2$ then we have proven in Theorem 4.4.1 that $A(\lambda, s)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} = 0$, so $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(x) = 0$.

If x is of the form $(b)_i(b)_j y$ with |b| odd and y without indexes i, j, then

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(x) = \binom{n}{2} \left((b)_i (b)_j + (b)_j (b)_i \right) \sum_{\mu \in \mathfrak{S}_{n-2}} \mu(y) = 0.$$

If x is of the form $G_{i,j}(b)_i G_{k,l}(b)_k y$ with |b| even and y without indexes i, j, k, l, then

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(x) = \binom{n}{4} \sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_4} \tau(G_{i,j}(b)_i G_{k,l}(b)_k) \sum_{\mu \in \mathfrak{S}_{n-4}} \mu(y)$$
$$= \binom{n}{4} \sum_{\tau \in \mathfrak{S}_4 / \langle (i,k)(j,l) \rangle} \tau(G_{i,j}(b)_i G_{k,l}(b)_k + G_{k,l}(b)_k G_{i,j}(b)_i) \sum_{\mu \in \mathfrak{S}_{n-4}} \mu(y)$$
$$= 0.$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

133

Otherwise, x is equal to $\sigma(m)$ for some $\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n$ and some invariant monomial m. Since the indexing of an invariant monomial is non-decreasing, the monomial m is unique.

Recall from definition 4.3.9 the increasing filtration of $A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ given by

$$\mathbf{F}_{i} \mathbf{A}(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{n}} = \Big\langle \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{n}} \sigma(m) \ \Big| \ m \text{ invariant monomial with } 2l + k \leq i \Big\rangle.$$

Lemma 4.5.4. For all monomials m_1 and m_2 of length l_1 and l_2 we have

$$\frac{1}{(n-l_1)!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1) \frac{1}{(n-l_2)!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_2) = \frac{1}{(n-l_1+l_2)!} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1 \circ m_2) + x$$

for some $x \in F_{l_1+l_2-1} A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$. In particular, the filtration $F_i A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is multiplicative.

Proof. We compute the product of $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1)$ and $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_2)$ for two invariant monomials of length l_1 and l_2 , respectively. If $l_1 + l_2 > n$ then the product belongs to $F_{l_1+l_2} A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n} = A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$. We expand the product and obtain

$$\Big(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n}\sigma(m_1)\Big)\Big(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n}\sigma(m_2)\Big)=\sum_{\sigma,\tau\in\mathfrak{S}_n}\sigma\big(m_1\tau(m_2)\big).$$

There are two cases:

• if $\tau(\{1,\ldots,l_2\}) \cap \{1,\ldots,l_1\} \neq \emptyset$ then

$$\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1 \tau(m_2)) \in \mathcal{F}_{l_1+l_2-1} \mathcal{A}(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}.$$

• Otherwise, $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1 \tau(m_2)) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1 \circ m_2).$

The number of permutations τ such that $\tau(\{1,\ldots,l_2\}) \cap \{1,\ldots,l_1\} = \emptyset$ is equal to $\frac{(n-l_1)!(n-l_2)!}{(n-l_1-l_2)!}$. Thus we have:

$$\sum_{\sigma,\tau\in\mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1\tau(m_2)) = \frac{(n-l_1)!(n-l_2)!}{(n-l_1-l_2)!} \sum_{\sigma\in\mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(m_1\circ m_2) + x,$$

for some $x \in \mathcal{F}_{l_1+l_2-1} \mathcal{A}(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$.

Corollary 4.5.5. The algebra $\operatorname{gr}_{F} A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_{n}}$ is generated in degrees one and two.

Proof. Using Lemma 4.5.4, we deduce that $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} \mathrm{A}(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ is generated by the classes of $\sum_{i=1}^n (b)_i \in \operatorname{F}_1 \mathrm{A}(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ and of $\sum_{i \neq j} G_{i,j}(b)_i \in \operatorname{F}_2 \mathrm{A}(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ for b in the chosen basis of $H^{\bullet}(X)$.

The K(X, n) model

We present a simpler model for the cohomology of unordered configuration spaces in a compact orientable even dimensional manifold. Let I_n be the ideal of $A(X,n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}$ generated by the elements $y := \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(G_{1,2}[X]_1)$ and x^2 , where $x := \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma([X]_1)$.

Definition 4.5.6. Let K(X, n) be the quotient $A(X, n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}/I_n$.

Lemma 4.5.7. The quotient K(X, n) is a dga and the induced map

$$H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{A}(X,n)^{\mathfrak{S}_n}) \to H^{\bullet}(K(X,n))$$

is an isomorphism.

Proof. If n = 1 then $I_1 = 0$ and there is nothing to prove; assume n > 1. Let us check the containment $d(I_n) \subseteq I_n$ on the generators of the ideal I_n : we have $d((\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma([X]_1))^2) = 0$ since $d([X]_1) = 0$. Recall that $d(G_{1,2}) = \Delta_{1,2} = \sum (-1)^{|b|} b_1 b_2^*$, where b runs over the chosen basis of $H^{\bullet}(X)$ and b^* is the Poincaré dual of b. Thus we have

$$\mathbf{d}(y) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma(\mathbf{d}(G_{1,2})[X]_1) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_n} \sigma([X]_1[X]_2),$$

and since

$$x^{2} = \sum_{\sigma, \tau \in \mathfrak{S}_{n}} \sigma([X]_{1}\tau([X]_{1})) = (n-1)!(n-1)\sum_{\sigma \in \mathfrak{S}_{n}} \sigma([X]_{1}[X]_{2}),$$

we have proven that K(X, n) is a dga.

We claim that $H^{\bullet}(I, d) = 0$, the sought isomorphism will follow from the long exact sequence associated to $I \to A(X, n) \to K(X, n)$. Let $z = x^2a + yb$ be an element in I such that d(z) = 0. By Corollary 4.5.5 we can suppose $a, b \in F_{n-2} A(X, n)$. The relation

$$x^{2} d(a) + \frac{x^{2}b}{(n-1)!(n-1)} - y d(b) = 0$$

implies that $x^2(d(a) + \frac{b}{(n-1)!(n-1)})$ belongs to (y). The ideal (y) is generated as vector space by all the invariant monomials such that $i_l = [X]$. Because $d(a) \in F_{n-2} A(X, n)$, it follows that b = -(n-1)!(n-1) d(a) + cy. Finally, since $y^2 = 0$, we have z = (n-1)!(n-1) d(ya) and hence $H^{\bullet}(I, d) = 0$. \Box

The stable algebra of surfaces

We want to compute all the cohomology groups of all configuration spaces $C_n(\Sigma_g)$ simultaneously.

Fix a basis $\{b_i\}_i$ of the cohomology algebra $H^{\bullet}(X)$ and let $\{b_i^*\}_i$ be its dual basis. The cohomology class of the diagonal is $\Delta = \sum_i (-1)^{|b_i|} b_i \otimes b_i^*$, where $|b_i|$ is the degree of b_i .

Definition 4.5.8. The stable algebra U_g is the dga defined by

$$\mathbf{U}_g \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \wedge^{\bullet} (\tilde{H}^{\bullet}(\Sigma_g) \oplus H^{\leq 1}(\Sigma_g)[1]) / ([p_g]^2).$$

The generators in $H^p(X)[1]$ are of bidegree (p, p+1) and will be denoted by \tilde{b} for $b \in H^p(\Sigma_g)$. The ones in $\tilde{H}^p(\Sigma_g)$ are of bidegree (p, 0).

The differential d of bidegree (2, -1) is defined by:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{d}(\tilde{1}) &= [p_g] - \sum_{i=1}^{2g} b_i b_i^*, \\ \mathbf{d}(\tilde{b}) &= [p_g] b & \text{for } b \in H^1(\Sigma_g), \\ \mathbf{d}(b) &= 0 & \text{for } b \in H^{\bullet}(\Sigma_g). \end{aligned}$$

Define the increasing filtration $F_{\bullet} U_g$ of U_g by

$$\mathbf{F}_i \mathbf{U}_q = \langle x_1 x_2 \dots x_k \tilde{y}_1 \tilde{y}_2 \dots \tilde{y}_l \mid k + 2l \leq i \rangle.$$

We will omit the index g when the genus is unambiguous. Let $\lambda(n) = 2n - \chi(X)$ where χ is the Euler characteristic, from now on we will suppose $\lambda(n) \neq 0$. This assumption excludes only the case $C_1(\mathbb{CP}^1)$.

We define the morphism $\varphi_n \colon U_g \to K(\Sigma_g, n)$ given by:

$$\begin{split} \varphi_n(\tilde{1}) &= \sum_{i \neq j} G_{i,j} \\ \varphi_n(\tilde{x}) &= \frac{\lambda(n)}{2} \sum_{i \neq j} G_{i,j} x_i & \text{for } x \in H^1(\Sigma_g) \\ \varphi_n([p_g]) &= \lambda(n) \sum_{i=1}^n [p_g]_i \\ \varphi_n(x) &= \sum_{i=1}^n x_i & \text{for } x \in H^{\leq 1}(\Sigma_g). \end{split}$$

Lemma 4.5.9. If $\lambda(n) \neq 0$, the map φ_n induces an isomorphism of chain complexes $F_n U_g \xrightarrow{\sim} K(\Sigma_g, n)$.

Proof. Let us fix a basis $1, a^1, \ldots, a^g, b^1, \ldots, b^g, [p_g]$ of $H^{\bullet}(\Sigma_g)$ and its dual basis $[p_g], b^1, \ldots, b^g, -a^1, \ldots, -a^g, 1$. The morphism φ_n is well defined since $\varphi_n([p_g]^2) = \sum_{i,j} [p_g]_i [p_g]_j \in I_n$. It is a morphism of differential algebras be-

cause

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{d}(\varphi_n(\tilde{1})) &= \mathbf{d}\left(\sum_{i \neq j} G_{i,j}\right) \\ &= \sum_{i \neq j} \left([p_g]_i + [p_g]_j - \sum_{k=1}^g a_i^k b_j^k - b_i^k a_j^k \right) \\ &= 2(n-1+g) \sum_{i=1}^n [p_g]_i - \sum_{k=1}^g \left(\sum_{i=1}^n a_i^k\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n b_i^k\right) - \left(\sum_{i=1}^n b_i^k\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n a_i^k\right) \\ &= \varphi_n(\mathbf{d}(\tilde{1})). \end{aligned}$$

An analogous computation shows that $d(\varphi_n(\tilde{x})) = \varphi_n(d(\tilde{x}))$ for $x \in H^1(\Sigma_q)$.

By definition we have that $\varphi_n(F_i \cup_g) \subseteq F_i K(\Sigma_g, n)$. It is enough to prove that the induced map $\operatorname{gr}_F F_n \cup_g \to \operatorname{gr}_F K(\Sigma_g, n)$ is an isomorphism.

The basis for $\operatorname{gr}_F K(\Sigma_g, n)$ is given by the invariant monomials with $b_{i_l} \neq [p_g]$ and $b_{j_{k-1}} \neq [p_g]$, if k > 1. The surjectivity of φ_n follows from the multiplication law in $\operatorname{gr}_F K(\Sigma_g, n)$. Since $K(\Sigma_g, n)$ and $F_n \cup_g$ have the same dimension the map $\varphi_{n|F_nA}$ is an isomorphism.

4.6 Some facts of representation theory

We consider $\operatorname{gr}_{F_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(\Sigma_g; \mathbb{Q})$ as a representation of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ associated to the symplectic group. Call the fundamental weights of $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_g$. The cohomology of Σ_g in degree one is given by the standard representation, i.e. $H^1(\Sigma_g) = V_{\omega_1}$.

Let $a = \tilde{1}$, $b = [p_g]$ and $V = H^1(\Sigma_g)$. The algebra U_g is isomorphic to $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V[a, b]/(b^2)$ with gradation given by: deg $1 \otimes v = (1, 1)$, deg $v \otimes 1 = (1, 0)$, deg a = (0, 1) and deg b = (2, 0). The differential is given by $d(1 \otimes v) = b(v \otimes 1)$ and $d(a) = b + \omega$ where

$$\omega \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -2(\sum_{j=1}^g a_j \wedge b_j) \otimes 1,$$

while on the other generators the differential is zero.

Before computing the cohomology of (U_g, d) we need to know the cohomology of $(\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V, \tilde{d})$, where the differential \tilde{d} is defined by $\tilde{d}(1 \otimes v) = v \otimes 1$ and $\tilde{d}(v \otimes 1) = 0$. The standard action of $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$ on V induces an action on $(\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V, \tilde{d})$, since the differential \tilde{d} is $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$ -equivariant.

By an abuse of notation, we will call $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_{2g-1}$ the fundamental weights of $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$ and W_{λ} its irreducible representations associated to a dominant weight λ . Set $\omega_{2g} = 0$.

Lemma 4.6.1. The $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$ -representation $\wedge^j V \otimes S^i V$ decomposes, for $j \leq 2g$, as

$$\wedge^{j} V \otimes \mathbf{S}^{i} V = W_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j}} \oplus W_{(i-1)\omega_{1}+\omega_{j+1}}.$$

Proof. It is known that $S^i V_{\omega_1} = W_{i\omega_1}$ and $\wedge^j V_{\omega_1} = W_{\omega_j}$. Let $\sigma = (1, j + 1) \in \mathfrak{S}_{2g}$ be an element of the Weyl group of $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$. The element $i\omega_1 + \sigma(\omega_j) = (i-1)\omega_1 + \omega_{j+1}$ is a dominant weight for i > 0. By the Parthasarathy–Ranga-Rao–Varadarajan conjecture (see [Lit94, Kum88]) $W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j}$ and $W_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}}$ are contained in the tensor product $W_{i\omega_1} \otimes W_{\omega_j}$. Use the Weyl character formula to find

$$\dim W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} = \binom{i+j-1}{i} \binom{i+2g}{i+j}$$

The equality $\binom{i+j-1}{i}\binom{i+2g}{i+j} + \binom{i+j-1}{i-1}\binom{i+2g-1}{i+j} = \binom{2g}{j}\binom{i+2g-1}{i}$ completes the proof.

Lemma 4.6.2. The differential complex $(\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V, \tilde{d})$ is exact in positive degree.

Proof. The differential

$$d: W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} \oplus W_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}} \to W_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}} \oplus W_{(i-2)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}}$$

is a non-zero morphism of representations. Thus, we have $W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} = (\ker \tilde{d})^{j,i}$ and $W_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}} = (\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d})^{j+1,i-1}$ for $j \ge 0$. Obviously $(\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d})^{0,0} = 0$, so

$$H^{\bullet}(\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes \mathbf{S}^{\bullet} V, \tilde{\mathbf{d}}) = \mathbb{Q}.$$

Since the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$ does not act on U_g , we need to present a branching rule for $\mathfrak{sp}(2g) \subset \mathfrak{sl}(2g)$. For the sake of an uniform notation, we define $V_{\lambda} = 0$ if λ is not a dominant weight.

Lemma 4.6.3 (Branching rule). The $\mathfrak{sl}(2g)$ -module $W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j}$ decomposes as $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ -module in the following ways:

$$W_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j}} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{j-1}{2} \rfloor} V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j-2k}} \oplus \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{j-2}{2} \rfloor} V_{(i-1)\omega_{1}+\omega_{j-2k-1}} \quad \text{when } 2 \le j \le g,$$
$$W_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j}} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{2g-j-1}{2} \rfloor} V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{2g-j-2k}} \oplus \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{2g-j-2}{2} \rfloor} V_{(i-1)\omega_{1}+\omega_{2g-j-2k-1}} \quad \text{when } j \ge g.$$

Proof. We apply the result of [ST16, Theorem 1]. The diagram associated to $i\omega_1 + \omega_j$ has a hook shape with row of length i + 1 and column of length j. Fill each box with labels in the ordered set $\{1 < ... < g < \bar{g} < ... < \bar{1}\}$, such that it becomes a semi-standard Young tableaux (SSYT) i.e. the rows are non-decreasing and columns are increasing. The word w(T) – associated to a SSYT T – is the word obtained by reading the tableaux from right to left and from top to bottom. By convention, $e_{\bar{a}} = -e_a$. A word $w(T) = a_1a_2...a_k$

is admissible if for each $r \leq k$ the element $\sum_{s=1}^{r} e_{a_s}$ is a dominant weight for $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$. The decomposition of $W_{i\omega_1+\omega_i}$ into $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ -representations is given by

$$W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} = \bigoplus_{w(T) \text{ adimissible}} V_{\lambda(T)}$$

where $\lambda(T) = \sum_{s=1}^{|w(T)|} e_{a_s}$. Suppose w(T) is admissible, then the first row of T is labelled only by ones. For $j \leq g$, all possible labels of the first column of T, from top to bottom, are the followings:

- $1, 2, \ldots, j-k, \overline{j-k}, \overline{j-k-1}, \ldots, \overline{j-2k+1}$, where k is an integer such that 0 < 2k < j-1
- $1, 2, \ldots, j-k-1, \overline{j-k-1}, \ldots, \overline{j-2k}, \overline{1}$, where k is an integer such that $0 \le 2k \le j - 2$ and i > 0.

Our decomposition follows, the case j > g being analogous.

The differential d involves the multiplication by ω , thus we need to study the operator $\omega \colon \wedge^i V \otimes \mathrm{S}^j V \to \wedge^i V \otimes \mathrm{S}^{j+2} V$.

Lemma 4.6.4 ([FH91, Theorem 17.5]). The $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ -representation $\wedge^j V$ is isomorphic to $\wedge^{2g-j} V$ and decomposes, for $j \leq g$, as

$$\wedge^{j} V = W_{\omega_{j}} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{j}{2} \rfloor} V_{\omega_{j-2k}}.$$

Moreover, $(\ker \omega)^{2g-j} = V_{\omega_j} \subset \wedge^{2g-j} V$ and $(\operatorname{coker} \omega)^j = V_{\omega_j} \subset \wedge^j V$.

Lemma 4.6.5. For i > 0 and $1 \le j \le g$, we have

$$V_{\omega_j} \otimes \mathbf{S}^i V = V_{i\omega_1 + \omega_j} \oplus V_{(i-1)\omega_1 + \omega_{j+1}} \oplus V_{(i-1)\omega_1 + \omega_{j-1}} \oplus V_{(i-2)\omega_1 + \omega_j}.$$

Proof. We use Lemmas 4.6.1, 4.6.3 and 4.6.4:

$$V_{\omega_j} \otimes \mathbf{S}^i V = \wedge^j V \otimes \mathbf{S}^i V \ominus \wedge^{j-2} V \otimes \mathbf{S}^i V$$

= $W_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} \oplus W_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}} \ominus W_{i\omega_1+\omega_{j-2}} \ominus W_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j-1}}$
= $V_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} \oplus V_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j+1}} \oplus V_{(i-1)\omega_1+\omega_{j-1}} \oplus V_{(i-2)\omega_1+\omega_j}$. \Box

We denote by R_g the Grothendieck ring of $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$.

Definition 4.6.6. Let W be a bigraded representation of the group $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$. The Hilbert–Poincaré series of W is the formal power series

$$P_W(t,s) = \sum_{i,j} [W^{i,j}] t^i s^j \quad \in R_g[[t,s]].$$

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

139

Corollary 4.6.7. The Hilbert–Poincaré series of the representation $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes$ S[•]V is

$$P_{\wedge V \otimes S V}(t,s) = \frac{t^{2(g+1)} - 1}{t^2 - 1} + t^2 s \frac{t^{2g} - 1}{t^2 - 1} + (1+s)(1+t^2s) \sum_{\substack{1 \le j \le g \\ i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_1 + \omega_j}] \frac{t^{2(g-j+1)} - 1}{t^2 - 1} t^{i+j} s^i.$$

The Corollary follows from Lemmas 4.6.4 and 4.6.5.

Lemma 4.6.8. We have

$$\dim V_{i\omega_1+\omega_j} = \binom{2g+i+1}{i,j} \frac{2g+2-2j}{2g+2+i-j} \frac{j}{i+j},$$
(4.14)

Proof. Recall that the positive roots of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ are $e_k \pm e_h$ for $1 \leq k < h \leq g$ and $2e_k$ for $1 \leq k \leq g$. Moreover $\rho = \sum_{k=1}^{g} (g+1-k)e_k$. Apply the Weyl formula for the dimension of a representation:

$$\begin{split} &\prod_{k < h} \frac{\langle i\omega_1 + \omega_j + \rho, e_k - e_h \rangle}{\langle \rho, e_k - e_h \rangle} = \frac{(g+i)!}{i!(g-j)!(j-1)!(i+j)} \\ &\prod_{k < h} \frac{\langle i\omega_1 + \omega_j + \rho, e_k + e_h \rangle}{\langle \rho, e_k + e_h \rangle} = \frac{(2g+i+1)!(g+1-j)!(2g+2-2j)}{(2g+i+1)!(2g+1-j)!(2g+i+2-j)} \\ &\prod_{k=1}^g \frac{\langle i\omega_1 + \omega_j + \rho, 2e_k \rangle}{\langle \rho, 2e_k \rangle} = \frac{g+1+i}{g+1-j}. \end{split}$$

We obtain eq. (4.14) by multiplying the right hand sides of the previous equations. $\hfill \Box$

4.7 The cohomology of configuration spaces

The formula for the Betti numbers of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$ given in [DCK17] is different from ours (eq. (4.21)), which has no cancellations and a more geometric meaning.

The case of the sphere (g = 0) is essentially different from the case g > 0and our approach is useless since $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ is trivial for g = 0. We refer to [Sal04, Sch18] for the proof of the following theorem.

Theorem 4.7.1. The rational homology of $C_n(S^2)$ is:

$H^0(\mathcal{C}_n(S^2);\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}$	
$H^2(\mathcal{C}_2(S^2);\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}$	
$H^3(\mathcal{C}_n(S^2);\mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}$	for $n \geq 3$
$H^3(\mathcal{C}_n(S^2);\mathbb{Q}) = 0$	otherwise.

The case of genus one surfaces is studied in [Sch16, Mag16].

From now on we assume g > 0. The following lemma is the proof of Conjecture 4.3.10 only for the invariant sub-algebra.

Lemma 4.7.2. For g > 0 the filtration $F_n U_g$ is strictly compatible with the differential. Therefore, $gr_{F_{\bullet}} H^{\bullet}(U, d) \simeq H^{\bullet}(gr_{F_{\bullet}} U, gr_{F_{\bullet}} d)$.

The fact that the filtration $F_n U_g$ is strictly compatible with the differential d is related to the rational homological stability of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$ proven in [Chu12, RW13] in more generality.

Proof of Lemma 4.7.2. We need to prove that $\operatorname{Im} d \cap F_n U \subseteq d(F_n U)$ for all $n \geq 0$. Consider a generic element ax + aby + z + bw in $F_n U$ with $x \in F_{n-2} U$, $y \in F_{n-3} U$, $z \in F_n U$, and $w \in F_{n-1} U$. Suppose that $d(ax + aby + z + bw) \in F_{n-1} U$, then we have

$$d(ax + aby + z + bw) = bx + \omega x + ab\tilde{d}(x) + \omega by + b\tilde{d}(z).$$

It follows that $\tilde{d}(x) \in F_{n-4} U$, $\tilde{d}(z) + \omega y \in F_{n-2} U$ and $\omega x \in F_{n-1} U$. Since the filtration, restricted to $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V$, is induced by the total degree, we can suppose x, y, z being homogeneous of total degree n - 2, n - 3, and nrespectively. So we have $\tilde{d}(x) = 0$, $\tilde{d}(z) + \omega y = 0$, and $\omega x = 0$. We deduce from $\omega x = 0$ that $\deg(x) > 0$ and hence, from $\tilde{d}(x) = 0$, that $x = \tilde{d}(x')$ for some x' of total degree n - 1. It follows that d(ax + aby + z + bw) = d(x') for $x' \in F_{n-1} U$ and $\operatorname{Im} d \cap F_{n-1} U \subseteq d(F_{n-1} U)$.

From now on we will work in $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} U$ with the differential $\operatorname{gr}_{F} d$. The only difference between d and $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} d$ is that $(\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} d)(a) = \omega$. By abuse of notation we denote by d the differential of $\operatorname{gr}_{\mathrm{F}} U$.

Lemma 4.7.3. The kernel of the differential d is the direct sum of the following vector spaces:

- 1. $(\ker \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega)[0,1],$
- 2. $(\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega)[2, 2] \oplus \ker \tilde{d}[2, 1],$
- 3. ker d,
- 4. $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V[2,0].$

Proof. Consider a generic element abx+ay+bz+w with $x, y, z, w \in \wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V$: its differential is

$$d(ax + aby + z + bw) = \omega x + abd(x) + \omega by + bd(z).$$
(4.15)

Therefore d(ax + aby + z + bw) = 0 if and only if $\omega x = 0$, $\tilde{d}(x) = 0$ and $\omega y + \tilde{d}(z) = 0$. The equations $\omega x = 0$ and $\tilde{d}(x) = 0$, together with Lemma 4.6.2,

imply that there exists x' such that $\tilde{d}(x') = x$. The equation $\omega y + \tilde{d}(z) = 0$ is equivalent to $\tilde{d}(\omega y) = \omega \tilde{d}(y) = 0$, thus $y \in \ker \tilde{d} \oplus (\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega)[0, 1]$. Let z' be an element such that $\omega y = \tilde{d}(z')$: then z is of the form z' + z'' for some $z'' \in \ker \tilde{d}$ and w can be any element in $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes \operatorname{S}^{\bullet} V$. \Box

Lemma 4.7.4. The image of the differential d is the direct sum of the following vector spaces:

- 1. 0,
- 2. $\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d}[2,1]$,
- 3. $\omega \ker d$
- 4. Im $\omega[2,0] + \text{Im}\,\tilde{d}[2,0]$.

Proof. Eq. (4.15) implies that the image of d has trivial intersection with the submodule $a \wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V$. Consider x such that $\tilde{d}(x) \neq 0$, then the element $\omega x + ab\tilde{d}(x)$ gives the addendum Im $\tilde{d}[2, 1]$. Now suppose $\tilde{d}(x) = 0$ and $\omega x \neq 0$, then ωx is in the image and generates a submodule isomorphic to $\omega \ker \tilde{d}$.

Finally, $\operatorname{Im} d \cap b \wedge V \otimes S^{\bullet} V$ coincides with $\operatorname{Im} \omega[2,0] + \operatorname{Im} d[2,0]$ (in general this is not a direct sum).

The following lemma is a consequence of Lemmas 4.7.3 and 4.7.4.

Lemma 4.7.5. The cohomology $H^{\bullet}(U, d)$ is generated by:

1. ay - x if $y = \tilde{d}(x) \in \ker \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega$,

- (2.1) $ab + \overline{\omega}$,
- (2.2) $aby x \text{ if } \tilde{d}y \in \ker \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega \text{ and } \omega y = \tilde{d}x,$
 - (3) $y \text{ if } y \in \ker \tilde{d} / \omega \ker \tilde{d}$,
 - (4) by if $y \in \wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V / (\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d} + \operatorname{Im} \omega)$.

Lemma 4.7.6. The cohomologies of ker ω , Im ω , and coker ω with respect to the differential \tilde{d} are given by:

$$H^{0,0}(\operatorname{coker}\omega) = \langle 1 \rangle \tag{4.16}$$

$$H^{1,1}(\operatorname{coker}\omega) = \langle \overline{\omega} \rangle$$
 (4.17)

$$H^{2,0}(\operatorname{Im}\omega) = \langle \omega \rangle \tag{4.18}$$

$$H^{g,i}(\operatorname{coker} \omega) = H^{g+1,i-1}(\operatorname{Im} \omega) = H^{g,i-2}(\ker \omega) \simeq V_{(i-2)\omega_1 + \omega_g}$$
(4.19)

$$H^{j,i}(\operatorname{coker}\omega) = H^{j+1,i-1}(\operatorname{Im}\omega) = H^{j,i-2}(\ker\omega) = 0.$$
(4.20)

Proof. Consider the two short exact sequences

$$\begin{array}{l} 0 \to \ker \omega \to \wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes \mathrm{S}^{\bullet} V \to \mathrm{Im}\,\omega[2,0] \to 0 \\ 0 \to \mathrm{Im}\,\omega \to \wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes \mathrm{S}^{\bullet} V \to \mathrm{coker}\,\omega \to 0. \end{array}$$

By Lemma 4.6.2 we have $H^{j,i}(\operatorname{coker} \omega) \simeq H^{j+1,i-1}(\operatorname{Im} \omega)$ for $(j,i) \neq (0,0)$ and $H^{j,i}(\operatorname{Im} \omega) \simeq H^{j-1,i-1}(\ker \omega)$ for $(j,i) \neq (2,0)$. Eq. (4.16), (4.17) and (4.18) follow immediately from the long exact sequence in cohomology. Since $(\ker \omega)^{j,i} = 0$ for j < g and $(\operatorname{coker} \omega)^{j,i} = 0$ for j > g, we deduce eq. (4.20). The only representation that can appear in $H^{g,i}(\operatorname{coker} \omega) \simeq H^{g,i-2}(\ker \omega)$ is $V_{(i-2)\omega_1+\omega_g}$. It is easy to see that the subspace $V_{i\omega_1+\omega_g} \subset V_{\omega_g} \otimes S^i V$ is contained in $\ker \omega \cap \ker d$, but cannot lay in $d(\ker \omega)$ since $(\ker \omega)^{g-1,i+1} = 0$. Finally, we have proven eq. (4.19).

Lemma 4.7.7. The Hilbert–Poincaré series of ker $\tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega$ is

$$P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \cap \ker \omega}(t,s) = t^{2g} + (1+t^2s) \sum_{\substack{1 \le j \le g \\ i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_1+\omega_j}] t^{2g-j+i} s^i.$$

Proof. Notice that $\ker \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega = \ker(\tilde{d}_{|\ker \omega})$ and that

$$\begin{split} P_{\ker\omega}(t,s) &= \sum_{\substack{1 \le j < g \\ i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_1 + \omega_j}] t^{2g - j + i} s^i (1 + s) (1 + t^2 s) + \\ &+ t^{2g} + t^{2g} s + \sum_{i \ge 0} [V_{i\omega_1 + \omega_g}] t^{g + i} s^i (1 + t^2 s + t^2 s^2) \end{split}$$
$$P_{H(\ker\omega)}(t,s) &= \sum_{i \ge 0} [V_{i\omega_1 + \omega_g}] t^{g + i} s^i. \end{split}$$

Using the formula $(s + 1)P_{\ker(\tilde{d}_{|\ker\omega})}(t,s) = P_{\ker\omega}(t,s) + sP_{H(\ker\omega)}(t,s)$ we obtain the claimed equality. \Box

Lemma 4.7.8. The Hilbert–Poincaré series of ker d/ω ker d is

$$P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}}/\omega \ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}}}(t,s) = 1 + (1+t^2s) \sum_{\substack{1 \le j \le g\\i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_1+\omega_j}] t^{j+i} s^i.$$

Proof. Consider the exact sequence

$$0 \to \ker \tilde{d} \cap \ker \omega \to \ker \tilde{d} \xrightarrow{\omega} \ker \tilde{d} \to \frac{\ker \tilde{d}}{\omega} \ker \tilde{d} \to 0.$$

We have

$$P_{\ker \tilde{\mathrm{d}}/\omega \ker \tilde{\mathrm{d}}}(t,s) = (1-t^2)P_{\ker \tilde{\mathrm{d}}}(t,s) + t^2 P_{\ker \tilde{\mathrm{d}}\cap \ker \omega}(t,s)$$

and by Lemma 4.7.7 we obtain the claimed equality.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements 143

Lemma 4.7.9. The Hilbert–Poincaré series of $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V / \operatorname{Im} \omega + \operatorname{Im} \tilde{d}$ is

$$P_{\wedge V \otimes \mathrm{S} V/\operatorname{Im} \omega + \operatorname{Im} \tilde{\mathrm{d}}}(t,s) = (1+t^2s) \left(1 + s \sum_{\substack{1 \le j \le g \\ i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_1 + \omega_j}] t^{j+i} s^i\right).$$

Proof. Let K be the quotient $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V / \operatorname{Im} \omega + \operatorname{Im} \tilde{d}$. Consider the exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Im} \tilde{d} \cap \operatorname{Im} \omega \to \operatorname{Im} \tilde{d} \oplus \operatorname{Im} \omega \to \wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes \operatorname{S}^{\bullet} V \to K \to 0$$

and notice that $\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d} \cap \operatorname{Im} \omega = \ker \tilde{d} \cap \operatorname{Im} \omega = \ker(\tilde{d}_{|\operatorname{Im} \omega})$. We compute $P_{\ker(\tilde{d}_{|\operatorname{Im} \omega})}$ using the formula

$$(1+s)P_{\operatorname{ker}(\tilde{d}_{|\operatorname{Im}\omega})}(t,s) = P_{\operatorname{Im}\omega}(t,s) + sP_{H(\operatorname{Im}\omega)}(t,s)$$

relative to the bi-graded complex $(\operatorname{Im} \omega, \tilde{d}_{|\operatorname{Im} \omega})$. Notice that $P_{\wedge V \otimes S V}(t, s) = (1+s)P_{\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d}} + 1$ by Lemma 4.6.2, so we obtain

$$(1+s)P_{K} = (1+s)\left(P_{\wedge V \otimes S V} - P_{\operatorname{Im} \tilde{d}} - P_{\operatorname{Im} \omega} + P_{\operatorname{ker}(\tilde{d}_{|\operatorname{Im} \omega})}\right)$$
$$= sP_{\wedge V \otimes S V} + 1 - sP_{\operatorname{Im} \omega} + sP_{H(\operatorname{Im} \omega)}$$
$$= sP_{\operatorname{coker} \omega} + 1 + sP_{H(\operatorname{Im} \omega)}.$$

The equalities

$$P_{H(\operatorname{Im}\omega)}(t,s) = t^{2} + t^{2}s \sum_{i\geq 0} [V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{g}}]t^{g+i}s^{i}$$

$$P_{\operatorname{coker}\omega} = 1 + t^{2}s + (1+s)(1+t^{2}s) \sum_{\substack{1\leq j< g\\i\geq 0}} [V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j}}]t^{j+i}s^{i} + (1+s+t^{2}s^{2}) \sum_{i\geq 0} [V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{g}}]t^{g+i}$$

complete the proof.

Theorem 4.7.10. The Hilbert-Poincaré series $P_{H(U)}(t,s) \in R_g[[t,s]]$ of the cohomology $H(U_g,d)$ is

$$(1+t^{2}s)(1+t^{2}+t^{2g}s) + (1+t^{2}s)^{2} \sum_{\substack{1 \le j \le g \\ i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_{1}+\omega_{j}}]t^{j+i}s^{i}(1+t^{2(g-j)}s).$$

Proof. We use Lemma 4.7.5 and the computations of Lemmas 4.7.7 to 4.7.9:

$$P_{H(\mathbf{U})} = sP_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \cap \ker \omega} + t^2 s + t^2 s^2 P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \cap \ker \omega} + P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} / \omega \ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}}} + t^2 P_{\wedge V \otimes \mathcal{S} V / \operatorname{Im} \omega + \operatorname{Im} \tilde{\mathbf{d}}}.$$
Let us define the series $Q_g(t, s, u)$ in the Grothendieck ring of $\mathfrak{sp}(2g)$ as:

$$Q_g(t,s,u) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i,j,n} [\operatorname{gr}_{i+2j}^W H^{i+j}(\mathcal{C}_n(\Sigma_g))] t^i s^j u^n.$$
(4.21)

Theorem 4.7.11. If g > 0, the series $Q_g(t, s, u) \in R_g[[t, s, u]]$ is equal to

$$\begin{aligned} Q_g(t,s,u) &= \frac{1}{1-u} \Big((1+t^2 s u^3) (1+t^2 u) + (1+t^2 s u^2) t^{2g} s u^{2(g+1)} + \\ &+ (1+t^2 s u^2) (1+t^2 s u^3) \sum_{\substack{1 \le j \le g \\ i \ge 0}} [V_{i\omega_1+\omega_j}] t^{j+i} s^i u^{j+2i} (1+t^{2(g-j)} s u^{2(g-j+1)}) \Big). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. Use Lemma 4.7.2 and notice that $Q_K(t, s, u) = P_K(tu, su)$ for any sub-quotient K of $\wedge^{\bullet} V \otimes S^{\bullet} V$, thus:

$$\begin{split} (1-u)Q_g = & su^2 P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \cap \ker \omega} + t^2 su^3 + t^2 s^2 u^4 P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} \cap \ker \omega} + \\ & + P_{\ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}} / \omega \ker \tilde{\mathbf{d}}} + t^2 u P_{\wedge V \otimes \mathrm{S} \, V / \operatorname{Im} \omega + \operatorname{Im} \tilde{\mathbf{d}}}. \end{split}$$

From Theorem 4.7.11 and Lemma 4.6.8 we obtain a formula for the mixed Hodge numbers and for the Betti numbers of $C_n(\Sigma_g)$.

Using this techniques, we can perform analogous computation for nonorientable closed surfaces and for once-punctured orientable surfaces: this two cases are easier than the our one. The same techniques can be applied to compute the invariants of configuration spaces of algebraic surfaces with irregularity zero.

Bibliography

- [AAB14] Samia Ashraf, Haniya Azam, and Barbu Berceanu, Representation theory for the Križ model, Algebr. Geom. Topol. 14 (2014), no. 1, 57–90. MR 3158753
- [AC17] Marcelo Aguiar and Swee Hong Chan, Toric arrangements associated to graphs, Sém. Lothar. Combin. 78B (2017), Art. 84, 1–12.
- [ACH15] Federico Ardila, Federico Castillo, and Michael Henley, The arithmetic Tutte polynomials of the classical root systems, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2015 (2015), no. 12, 3830–3877. MR 3356740
- [Arn69] Vladimir I. Arnold, The cohomology ring of the group of dyed braids, Mat. Zametki 5 (1969), 227–231.
- [Arn70] _____, On some topological invariants of algebraic functions, In: Givental A., Khesin B., Varchenko A., Vassiliev V., Viro O. (eds) Vladimir I. Arnold – Collected Works, vol. 2, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1970, pp. 199–221.
- [Aza15] Haniya Azam, Cohomology groups of configuration spaces of Riemann surfaces, Bull. Math. Soc. Sci. Math. Roumanie (N.S.) 58(106) (2015), no. 1, 33–47. MR 3331058
- [BB16] Matthew Baker and Nathan Bowler, *Matroids over hyperfields*, ArXiv e-prints (2016), arXiv:1601.01204.
- [BC88] Carl-Friedrich Bödigheimer and Frederick R. Cohen, Rational cohomology of configuration spaces of surfaces, Algebraic topology and transformation groups (Göttingen, 1987), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1361, Springer, Berlin, 1988, pp. 7–13. MR 979504
- [BCT89] Carl-Friedrich Bödigheimer, Fred Cohen, and Larry Taylor, On the homology of configuration spaces, Topology 28 (1989), no. 1, 111–123. MR 991102

- [Ber19] Olof Bergvall, Cohomology of the toric arrangement associated with A_n , J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. **21** (2019), no. 1, Art. 15, 14. MR 3894596
- [Bez94] R. Bezrukavnikov, Koszul DG-algebras arising from configuration spaces, Geom. Funct. Anal. 4 (1994), no. 2, 119–135. MR 1262702
- [Bia19] Andrea Bianchi, Splitting of the homology of the punctured mapping class group, arXiv e-prints (2019), arXiv:1903.06065.
- [Bib16a] Christin Bibby, Cohomology of abelian arrangements, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society **144** (2016), 3093–3104.
- [Bib16b] _____, Representation stability for the cohomology of arrangements associated to root systems, ArXiv e-prints (2016), arXiv:1603.08131.
- [BLVS⁺99] Anders Björner, Michel Las Vergnas, Bernd Sturmfels, Neil White, and Günter M. Ziegler, Oriented matroids, second ed., Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 46, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999. MR 1744046
- [BM14] Petter Brändén and Luca Moci, *The multivariate arithmetic Tutte* polynomial, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **366** (2014), no. 10, 5523– 5540.
- [Bre97] Glen E. Bredon, Sheaf theory, 2 ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics 170, Springer-Verlag New York, 1997.
- [Bri73] Egbert Brieskorn, Sur les groupes de tresses (d'après V. I. Arnold), Séminaire Bourbaki, 24ème année (1971/1972), Exp. No. 401, Springer, Berlin, 1973, pp. 21–44. Lecture Notes in Math., **317**. MR 0422674
- [CD17] Filippo Callegaro and Emanuele Delucchi, The integer cohomology algebra of toric arrangements, Advances in Mathematics 313 (2017), 746 – 802.
- [CD19] Filippo Callegaro and Emanuele Delucchi, Erratum to: "The integer cohomology algebra of toric arrangements", 2019, to appear.
- [CDD⁺18] Filippo Callegaro, Michele D'Adderio, Emanuele Delucchi, Luca Migliorini, and Roberto Pagaria, Orlik-Solomon-type presentations for the cohomology algebra of toric arrangements, To appear in Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. (2018), arXiv:1806.02195.
- [Chu12] Thomas Church, Homological stability for configuration spaces of manifolds, Invent. Math. 188 (2012), no. 2, 465–504. MR 2909770

- [CLM76] Frederick R. Cohen, Thomas J. Lada, and J. Peter May, The homology of iterated loop spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 533, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976. MR 0436146
- [DCK17] Gabriel C. Drummond-Cole and Ben Knudsen, Betti numbers of configuration spaces of surfaces, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 96 (2017), no. 2, 367–393. MR 3708955
- [dD12] Giacomo d'Antonio and Emanuele Delucchi, A Salvetti complex for toric arrangements and its fundamental group, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2012), no. 15, 3535–3566.
- [dD15] _____, *Minimality of toric arrangements*, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) **17** (2015), no. 3, 483–521.
- [DD18] Alessio D'Alì and Emanuele Delucchi, Stanley-Reisner rings for symmetric simplicial complexes, G-semimatroids and Abelian arrangements, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1804.07366.
- [Del75] Pierre Deligne, Poids dans la cohomologie des variétés algébriques, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians (Vancouver, B. C., 1974), Vol. 1, Canad. Math. Congress, Montreal, Que., 1975, pp. 79–85. MR 0432648
- [DFM17] Clément Dupont, Alex Fink, and Luca Moci, Universal Tutte characters via combinatorial coalgebras, arXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1711.09028.
- [DG18a] Corrado De Concini and Giovanni Gaiffi, Cohomology rings of compactifications of toric arrangements, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1801.04383.
- [DG18b] Corrado De Concini and Giovanni Gaiffi, Projective wonderful models for toric arrangements, Adv. Math. 327 (2018), 390– 409. MR 3761997
- [DGP17] Emanuele Delucchi, Noriane Girard, and Giovanni Paolini, Shellability of posets of labeled partitions and arrangements defined by root systems, arXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1706.06360.
- [DM13] Michele D'Adderio and Luca Moci, Arithmetic matroids, the tutte polynomial and toric arrangements, Advances in Mathematics 232 (2013), no. 1, 335 – 367.
- [DM18] Emanuele Delucchi and Luca Moci, Products of arithmetic matroids and quasipolynomial invariants of CW-complexes, Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series A 157 (2018), 28 – 40.
- [DP95] Corrado De Concini and Claudio Procesi, Wonderful models of subspace arrangements, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 1 (1995), no. 3, 459–494. MR 1366622

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

[DP05]	, On the geometry of toric arrangements, Transformation Groups 10 (2005), no. 3, 387–422.
[DP11]	, Topics in hyperplane arrangements, polytopes and box- splines, Universitext, Springer, New York, 2011.
[DPR14]	J. Matthew Douglass, Götz Pfeiffer, and Gerhard Röhrle, Coho- mology of Coxeter arrangements and Solomon's descent alge- bra, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 366 (2014), no. 10, 5379–5407. MR 3240927
[DPV10]	Corrado De Concini, Claudio Procesi, and Michele Vergne, Vector partition functions and index of transversally elliptic operators, Transform. Groups 15 (2010), no. 4, 775–811.
[DR18]	Emanuele Delucchi and Sonja Riedel, Group actions on semima- troids, Adv. in Appl. Math. 95 (2018), 199–270.
[DSY17]	Graham Denham, Alexander I. Suciu, and Sergey Yuzvinsky, Abelian duality and propagation of resonance, Selecta Math. (N.S.) 23 (2017), no. 4, 2331–2367.
[Dup16a]	Clément Dupont, The Orlik-Solomon model for hypersurface arrangements, Annales de l'institut Fourier 65 (2016), no. 6, 2507–2545.
[Dup16b]	, Purity, formality, and arrangement complements, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2016), no. 13, 4132–4144. MR 3544631
[ES96]	David Eisenbud and Bernd Sturmfels, <i>Binomial ideals</i> , Duke Math. J. 84 (1996), no. 1, 1–45.
[FH91]	William Fulton and Joe Harris, <i>Representation theory</i>, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 129, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991, A first course, Readings in Mathematics. MR 1153249
[FL78]	Jon Folkman and Jim Lawrence, <i>Oriented matroids</i> , J. Combin. Theory Ser. B 25 (1978), no. 2, 199–236.
[FM94]	William Fulton and Robert MacPherson, A compactification of configuration spaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 139 (1994), no. 1, 183– 225. MR 1259368
[FM12]	Benson Farb and Dan Margalit, A primer on mapping class groups, Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 49, Princeton Uni- versity Press, Princeton, NJ, 2012. MR 2850125
[FM16]	Alex Fink and Luca Moci, <i>Matroids over a ring</i> , J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 18 (2016), no. 4, 681–731.
[FT00]	Yves Félix and Jean-Claude Thomas, <i>Rational Betti numbers of configuration spaces</i> , Topology Appl. 102 (2000), no. 2, 139–149.

[FT05]	Yves Félix and Daniel Tanré, The cohomology algebra of unordered
	configuration spaces, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 72 (2005) ,
	no. 2, 525–544. MR 2156668

- [GM88] Mark Goresky and Robert MacPherson, Stratified morse theory, 1 ed., Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete 14, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1988.
- [Gor17] Alexei G. Gorinov, A purity theorem for configuration spaces of smooth compact algebraic varieties, arXiv e-prints (2017), 1– 10.
- [Gro66] Alexander Grothendieck, On the de Rham cohomology of algebraic varieties, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. (1966), no. 29, 95–103.
- [GS96] Ira M. Gessel and Bruce E. Sagan, The Tutte polynomial of a graph, depth-first search, and simplicial complex partitions, Electron. J. Combin. 3 (1996), no. 2, Research Paper 9, approx. 36, The Foata Festschrift. MR 1392494
- [GW09] Roe Goodman and Nolan R. Wallach, Symmetry, representations, and invariants, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 255, Springer, Dordrecht, 2009. MR 2522486
- [GW11] Benedict H. Gross and Nolan R. Wallach, On the Hilbert polynomials and Hilbert series of homogeneous projective varieties, Arithmetic geometry and automorphic forms, Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), vol. 19, Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2011, pp. 253–263. MR 2906911
- [Hal15] Brian Hall, Lie groups, Lie algebras, and representations, second ed., Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 222, Springer, Cham, 2015, An elementary introduction. MR 3331229
- [Jae88] François Jaeger, *Tutte polynomials and link polynomials*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **103** (1988), no. 2, 647–654.
- [Kau89] Louis H. Kauffman, A Tutte polynomial for signed graphs, Discrete Appl. Math. 25 (1989), no. 1-2, 105–127, Combinatorics and complexity (Chicago, IL, 1987).
- [Kri94] Igor Križ, On the rational homotopy type of configuration spaces, Ann. of Math. (2) 139 (1994), no. 2, 227–237. MR 1274092
- [Kum88] Shrawan Kumar, Proof of the Parthasarathy-Ranga Rao-Varadarajan conjecture, Invent. Math. 93 (1988), no. 1, 117– 130. MR 943925
- [Law82] Jim Lawrence, Oriented matroids and multiply ordered sets, Linear Algebra Appl. 48 (1982), 1–12.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

[Law11]	, Enumeration in torus arrangements, European J. Com- bin. 32 (2011), no. 6, 870–881.
[Len17a]	Matthias Lenz, Computing the poset of layers of a toric arrange- ment, arXiv: 1708.06646 (2017), arXiv:1708.06646.
[Len17b]	, On powers of Plücker coordinates and representability of arithmetic matroids, arXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1703.10520.
[Len17c]	, Stanley-Reisner rings for quasi-arithmetic matroids, arXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1709.03834.
[Len19]	, Representations of weakly multiplicative arithmetic ma- troids are unique, Annals of Combinatorics 23 (2019), 335–346.
[Lit94]	Peter Littelmann, A Littlewood-Richardson rule for symmetrizable Kac-Moody algebras, Invent. Math. 116 (1994), no. 1-3, 329– 346. MR 1253196
[Loo93]	Eduard Looijenga, Cohomology of \mathcal{M}_3 and \mathcal{M}_3^1 , Mapping class groups and moduli spaces of Riemann surfaces (Göttingen, 1991/Seattle, WA, 1991), Contemporary Mathematics, vol. 150, Amererican Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1993, p. 205–228.
[LTY17]	Ye Liu, Tan Nhat Tran, and Masahiko Yoshinaga, <i>G-Tutte poly-</i> nomials and abelian Lie group arrangements, arXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1707.04551.
[Mag16]	Megan Maguire, Computing cohomology of configuration spaces, arXiv e-prints (2016), arXiv:1612.06314.
[Mar18]	Ivan Martino, Face module for realizable Z-matroids, Contrib. Discrete Math. 13 (2018), no. 2, 74–87. MR 3897225
[Mau73a]	Stephen B. Maurer, Matroid basis graphs. I, J. Combinatorial The- ory Ser. B 14 (1973), 216–240. MR 0317971
[Mau73b]	, <i>Matroid basis graphs. II</i> , J. Combinatorial Theory Ser. B 15 (1973), 121–145. MR 0369112
[Moc12a]	Luca Moci, A Tutte polynomial for toric arrangements, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 364 (2012), no. 2, 1067–1088. MR 2846363
[Moc12b]	, Wonderful models for toric arrangements, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN (2012), no. 1, 213–238.
[MP98]	Robert MacPherson and Claudio Procesi, <i>Making conical compactifications wonderful</i> , Selecta Math. (N.S.) 4 (1998), no. 1, 125–139.
[MS11]	Luca Moci and Simona Settepanella, <i>The homotopy type of toric</i> arrangements, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra 215 (2011), no. 8, 1980 – 1989.

153

[Nap03]	Fabien Napolitano, On the cohomology of configuration spaces on surfaces, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 68 (2003), no. 2, 477–492. MR 1994695
[OEI19]	OEIS Foundation Inc. (2019), The on-line encyclopedia of integer sequences, 2019.
[OS80]	Peter Orlik and Louis Solomon, Combinatorics and topology of complements of hyperplanes, Invent. Math. 56 (1980), no. 2, 167–189.
[OT92]	Peter Orlik and Hiroaki Terao, Arrangements of hyperplanes, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamen- tal Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 300, Springer- Verlag, Berlin, 1992. MR 1217488
[Oxl11]	James Oxley, Matroid theory, second ed., Oxford Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 21, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2011. MR 2849819
[Pag18a]	Roberto Pagaria, Orientable arithmetic matroids, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1805.11888.
[Pag18b]	, Poincaré polynomial of elliptic arrangements is not a specialization of the Tutte polynomial, To appear in Discrete Mathematics (2018), arXiv:1810.06248.
[Pag18c]	, The connection between combinatorics and cohomology of elliptic arrangements, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1805.04906.
[Pag19a]	, Cohomology of configuration spaces of surfaces, arXiv e- prints (2019), arXiv:1905.04724.
[Pag19b]	, Combinatorics of toric arrangements, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. 30 (2019), no. 2, 317–349.
[Pag19c]	, The cohomology rings of the unordered configuration spaces of the torus, arXiv e-prints (2019), arXiv:1901.01171.
[Pag19d]	, Two examples of toric arrangements, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 167 (2019), 389–402. MR 3954076
[Pak93]	<pre>Igor M. Pak, Computation of Tutte polynomials of complete graphs, Available at http://www.math.ucla.edu/~pak/ papers/Pak_Computation_Tutte_polynomial_complete_ graphs.pdf, 1993.</pre>
[Pao18]	Giovanni Paolini, Shellability of generalized Dowling posets, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1811.08403.
[PP19a]	Roberto Pagaria and Giovanni Paolini, Arithmat: Sage implemen- tation of arithmetic matroids and toric arrangements, https: //github.com/giove91/arithmat, 2019.

Cohomology and Combinatorics of Toric Arrangements

[PP19b]	, Representations of torsion-free arithmetic matroids, arXiv e-prints (2019), arXiv:1908.04137.
[Ran89]	Richard Randell, Lattice-isotopic arrangements are topologically isomorphic, Proceedings of the American Mathematical Soci- ety 107 (1989), no. 2, 555–559.
[RW13]	Oscar Randal-Williams, Homological stability for unordered con- figuration spaces, Q. J. Math. 64 (2013), no. 1, 303–326. MR 3032101
[Sal04]	Paolo Salvatore, Configuration spaces on the sphere and higher loop spaces, Math. Z. 248 (2004), no. 3, 527–540. MR 2097373
[Sch16]	Christoph Schiessl, Betti numbers of unordered configuration spaces of the torus, arXiv e-prints (2016), arXiv:1602.04748.
[Sch18]	, Integral cohomology of configuration spaces of the sphere, Homology, Homotopy and Applications 21 (2018), 283–302.
[ST16]	Bea Schumann and Jacinta Torres, A non-Levi branching rule in terms of Littelmann paths, arXiv e-prints (2016), arXiv:1607.08225.
[Sta91]	Richard P. Stanley, A zonotope associated with graphical degree sequences, Applied geometry and discrete mathematics, DI- MACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci., vol. 4, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991, pp. 555–570. MR 1116376
[The18]	The Sage Developers, SageMath, the Sage Mathematics Software System (Version 8.2), 2018.
[Thi87]	Morwen B. Thistlethwaite, A spanning tree expansion of the Jones polynomial, Topology 26 (1987), no. 3, 297–309.
[Tot96]	Burt Totaro, Configuration spaces of algebraic varieties, Topology 35 (1996), no. 4, 1057–1067. MR 1404924
[Tra18]	Tan Nhat Tran, An equivalent formulation of chromatic quasi- polynomials, arXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1803.08649.
[TY19]	Tan Nhat Tran and Masahiko Yoshinaga, Combinatorics of cer- tain abelian Lie group arrangements and chromatic quasi- polynomials, J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 165 (2019), 258–272. MR 3916005
[Voi07]	Claire Voisin, Hodge theory and complex algebraic geometry. I, english ed., Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 76, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007, Trans- lated from the French by Leila Schneps. MR 2451566
[Wan02]	Jeffrey H. Wang, On the braid groups for ℝP ² , J. Pure Appl. Algebra 166 (2002), no. 1-2, 203–227. MR 1868546

[Wey03]	Jerzy Weyman, Cohomology of vector bundles and syzygies, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 149, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003. MR 1988690
[Yuz01]	Sergey Yuzvinskiĭ, Orlik-Solomon algebras in algebra and topology, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 56 (2001), no. 2(338), 87–166.
[Zas77]	Thomas Zaslavsky, A combinatorial analysis of topological dissec- tions, Advances in Math. 25 (1977), no. 3, 267–285.

Acknowledgements

Nelle precedenti due tesi, triennale e magistrale, ho evitato di scrivere i ringraziamenti, un po' per non rischiare la banalità e un po' per pigrizia. Ora voglio ringraziare tutti, non solo chi mi è stato vicino negli ultimi tre anni, ma anche chi mi ha aiutato nei cinque anni precedenti. Quello che segue sarà tanto banale quanto sincero.

Voglio ringraziare i miei genitori, per avermi sempre supportato e lasciato libertà nelle mie scelte. Mio fratello per l'eterna amicizia che ci lega e i miei nonni orgogliosi di me. Ringrazio i miei zii e cugini ricordando i bei momenti passati assieme. Un pensiero speciale va ad Angela, che mi sopporta anche nei miei momenti peggiori e con cui vorrei dividere la mia vita. Inoltre, ringrazio la sua famiglia per avermi accolto.

Ringrazio molto il mio relatore Filippo per il costante aiuto fornitomi e per avermi guidato in questi tre anni. Grazie a tutti i professori che hanno creduto in me: il mio pensiero va a Andrea, Angelo, Giovanni, Luca, Luca, Emanuele, Tamás, Mario, Simona, Rita, Enrico e a tutti gli altri che mi hanno formato in questi anni pisani.

Non sarei stato bene a Pisa se non fosse stato per i miei amici, più o meno stretti. Vorrei ringraziare tutti i membri di questa realtà sociale e universitaria che mi ha cresciuto, realtà unica in Italia. L'Aula Studenti rimarrà sempre con me, in particolare i '92: Ivan, Agnese e Carlo, Alice e Filippo, la Flo e il Rosso, Maurizio, Clark, Filippo, Isabella, Stefano, Sara, Mariangela, Gianmichele, Greta, Vincenzo, Arianna e l'Ingegnere. Un pensiero va ai più anziani abitanti dell'Aula, alcuni ancora presenti per non farmi sentire vecchio: Jack, Carlo Metta, Spillo, Kirill, Sabino, il Monta, l'Ebrea e Mufasa, Riccardo, il Sergente, Tiago, Agnese, Sprinfield, Felice, e tanti altri. A pensarci bene l'Aula è sovraffollata ci sono anche i giovani: Papini, Viola, Filippo, Ada, Pietro, Ludovico e Sara, Michele, Filippo, Pietro, Matteo, Dario, Ciccisio e Francesca, Alex, Rinelli e Sara, Giuseppe, ... A tutti loro grazie, anche solo per avermi strappato un sorriso.

Grazie di cuore ai miei migliori amici matematici della Normale: Barba, Grillo, Sasha, Nirvana e Giove. Ai miei compagni d'anno Guido, Giulio, Giulio, Cucciolo, Andrea, Ugo, Polesel, Gabriele, Martino e Pig. Grazie a tutti i dottorandi per il piacevole ambiente creato nella fatiscente Canonica, in particolare a Michele, Andrea, Edoardo, Giulio, Giulio, Giorgio, Mattia, Danuso, Giovanni, Elia e Daniele. Inoltre, ho condiviso con i Letterati i collegi, la mensa, e soprattutto le piazze pisane. Grazie a Stani, al Ceglie, a Simone, ad Anna e Luciano, Elisa, Marianna, Nicola, Santini, Glauco, Vincenzo, Cannizzaro, Giorgio, Ludovico, Andrea, Marcello e Martina. Un ultimo pensiero va a tutti gli altri normalisti con cui ho diviso cinque anni della mia vita e che non rientrano nelle precedenti categorie. Grazie anche a Silvia per l'aiuto con gli assurdi iter burocratici della scuola.

Vorrei ringraziare tutti i miei amici conosciuti attraverso il Go a partire da Maurizio, Andrea, Luciano (grazie per il bellissimo disegno!), Luciano, Michele, Dionisio, Federico, Daniele, Daniele, Daniele, Francesco, Davide, Paolo, Isamu e Konstantin.

Grazie a tutti i miei amici sparsi per l'Italia e non solo: a Fefo, a K, Federico, Luigi, Silvia, Emilia, Giulio, Maurizio, Pietro, Andrea e Chiara.